

# University of South Florida Scholar Commons

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

1-1-2015

# Ikaros Deficiency Leads To An Imbalance in Effector and Regulatory T Cell Homeostasis in Murine Pancreatic Cancer

Nadine D. Nelson University of South Florida, nnelson85@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd Part of the <u>Cell Biology Commons</u>, and the <u>Medical Molecular Biology Commons</u>

### Scholar Commons Citation

Nelson, Nadine D., "Ikaros Deficiency Leads To An Imbalance in Effector and Regulatory T Cell Homeostasis in Murine Pancreatic Cancer" (2015). *Graduate Theses and Dissertations.* http://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd/5810

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact scholarcommons@usf.edu.



### Ikaros Deficiency Leads To An Imbalance in Effector and Regulatory T Cell

Homeostasis in Murine Pancreatic Cancer

by

Nadine D. Nelson

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Department of Molecular Medicine Morsani College of Medicine University of South Florida

Co-Major Professor: Tomar Ghansah, Ph.D. Co-Major Professor: Robert Deschenes, Ph.D. Xiaohong Zhang, Ph.D. Srikumar Chellapan, Ph.D.

> Date of Approval: December 17, 2014

Keywords: Transcription Factor, CK2, PP1, Ubiquitination, Apigenin

Copyright © 2014, Nadine D. Nelson



### DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to my grandmother, Waveney Nelson, and my parents, Hewley and Patricia Nelson. To my grandmother, thank you for being the perfect example of poise, strength and humility. To my parents, thank you for being an unwavering source of strength, encouragement and support, and for always believing in my dreams.



### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my mentor, Dr. Tomar Ghansah, for all of her support, guidance, encouragement and training over the past five years. I would also like to thank my co-major professor, Dr. Robert Deschenes, for always having an open door and for providing advice and guidance. I would also like to extend my appreciation to my committee members, Dr. Xiaohang Zhang and Dr. Srikumar Chellapan, for their support and guidance.

I would like to thank former laboratory members Dr. Maya Jerald, Kelsi Hurt and Sophonie Belval for all of their assistance and advice. Thank you to Dr. Shengyan (Kevin) Xiang and Danielle Gilvary for their training and assistance with *in vitro* and microscopy experiments. I would also like to thank Dr. Karoly Szekeres for his assistance and training in using the flow cytometer and Dr. Byeong Cha for his assistance and training with microscopy.

I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to the present and former members of Molecular Medicine staff including Kimberly Davis, Helen Chen-Duncan, Andrew Conniff, Dana Pettaway and Michael Ramsarooj, for always assisting and supporting me. I would also like to thank Bernard Batson and the National Science Foundation Bridge to the Doctorate Program and Charles Jackson and the Florida Education Fund McKnight Doctoral Completion Fellowship for the financial and career support during my graduate career.



I would also like to extend my heartfelt appreciation to my friends Ruan Cox, Kendra Williams, Steven Bradley, Kamisha Woolery, Vladimir Valdez and Lancia Darville for being my family away from home.

To Alan, thank you for your love, support and all the laughter over the years. Last but not least, I would like to thank my entire family for their unwavering support and encouragement.



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

iv
v
vii
1 1 3 5 7 7
8 9 11 13 14
15 18 19 19 20
21 22 25 27 30 31
32 34 35
74 74 75 76 77 78



i

CD3 <sup>+</sup> T Cell Enrichment	80
In vitro Assays	81
In vitro CK2 Kinase Assay	82
Immunfluorescence Microscopy	83
Flow Cyometry	84
T cell Activation and Intracellular Staining	85
Mixed Leukocyte Reaction (MLR)	86
Statistical Analysis	87
References	87
CHAPTER THREE: MURINE PANCREATIC ADENOCARCINOMA REDUCES	
IKAROS EXPRESSION AND DISPUPTS T CELL HOMEOSTASIS	89
Note to Reader	89
Keywords	89
Abstract	88
Introduction	
Results	
Reduced Ikaros expression in TB mice	
Murine Panc02 cells cause ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal	
degradation of Ikaros in vitro	94
Altered PP1 expression, CK2 activity and Ikaros nuclear staining	
pattern in TB mice	95
Altered T cell percentages in TB and TrM mice	97
Dysregulation of Ikaros, PP1 and CK2 in CD3 <sup>+</sup> enriched T cells	101
Discussion	103
References	109
CHAPTER FOUR: CK2 INHIBITION INCREASES IKAROS EXPRESSION AND	
RESTORES EFFECTOR AND REGULATORY T CELL IMMUNITY IN MURINE	
PANCREATIC CANCER	118
Keywords	118
	118
	119
Results	122
Apigenin prevents ikaros downregulation <i>in vitro</i>	122
Apigenin reduces tumor burden <i>in vivo</i>	125
Apigenini partially stabilizes ikaros expression <i>in vivo</i>	120
Apigenin partially restores T cell homeostacis and immune	120
responses in vivo	107
Discussion	120
References	135
	155
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION	144
Overview	144
Discussion of Data, Limitations and Future Studies	145



Considering CK2 Inhibitors as Therapeutic Agents for Pa Significance of this Study References	ancreatic Cancer 154 
APPENDIX IACUC Protocol Copyright Permissions	
ABOUT THE AUTHOR	END PAGE



# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Common	CK2 inhibitors	
------------------	----------------	--



## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	2014 Five-Year Relative Survival Rates of the Top Five Causes of Cancer Death	2
Figure 1.2	Genetic and histological changes of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC)	3
Figure 1.3	Immune Responses in PDAC	4
Figure 1.4	Hematopoiesis	6
Figure 1.5	A representation of the mechanisms by which regulatory T cells (Treg) suppress anti-tumor immune responses	13
Figure 1.6	A schematic of the Ikaros-1 (Ik-1) protein and its features	16
Figure 1.7	Ikaros PEST and phosphorylation regions	23
Figure 1.8	A representation of Ikaros' regulation by CK2 and PP1	24
Figure 1.9	Crystal structure of tetrameric CK2	26
Figure 1.10	The structure of apigenin (5,7-Dihydroxy-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)- 4H-1-benzopyran-4-one)	29
Figure 1.11	Representation of the single catalytic domain of PP1	30
Figure 1.12	Overview of the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System (UPS)	33
Figure 3.1	Reduced Ikaros expression in TB mice	94
Figure 3.2	Murine Panc02 cells cause ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation of Ikaros in vitro	96
Figure 3.3	Altered PP1 expression, CK2 activity and Ikaros nuclear staining pattern in TB mice	98
Figure 3.4	Altered T Cell Percentages in TB and TrM mice	100
Figure 3.5	Dysregulation of Ikaros, PP1 and CK2 in CD3 <sup>+</sup> enriched T cells	102



Figure 3.6	Proposed Model. Murine pancreatic cancer causes Ikaros degradation and alters T Cell Homeostasis	
Figure 4.1	Apigenin prevents Ikaros downregulation in vitro	124
Figure 4.2	Apigenin reduces tumor burden in vivo	125
Figure 4.3	Apigenin partially stabilizes Ikaros expression in vivo	126
Figure 4.4	Apigenin inhibits CK2 activity in vivo	128
Figure 4.5	Apigenin partially restores T cell homeostasis and immune responses <i>in vivo</i>	129
Figure 4.6	Proposed Model. A representation of Ikaros' regulation by CK2 and PP1	132



### ABSTRACT

Pancreatic cancer is one of the deadliest cancers with a five-year survival rate of 6%. Pancreatic cancer is resistant to conventional chemotherapy and is usually diagnosed at late stages. Current treatment options have minimal effects in extending patients' lives beyond 10 months. One significant limitation in developing treatments to combat pancreatic cancer is its immunosuppressive microenvironment. Pancreatic cancer secretes factors that activate immunosuppressive cells, such as regulatory T cells (Tregs). These Tregs suppress effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell anti-tumor immune responses. Therefore, novel treatment options to reduce Treg-mediated immune suppression and increase the numbers and functions of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are paramount to enhance anti-tumor immunity in pancreatic cancer tumor-bearing (TB) hosts.

The alternatively spliced transcription factor Ikaros is essential for lymphocyte development and is considered a tumor suppressor in T cells. Ikaros' protein stability and function are regulated by its phosphorylation and dephosphorylation by protein kinase CK2 and phosphatase 1 (PP1), respectively. Mutations and functional inactivation of Ikaros have mainly been investigated in T cell leukemias and lymphomas. In this dissertation, we investigated the role of Ikaros in regulating T cell homeostasis in murine pancreatic cancer.



vii

In this study, we report that Ikaros proteins are degraded by the ubiquitinproteasome pathway in response to factors produced by murine pancreatic cancer cells. Our results further suggest that an increase in CK2 activity leads to Ikaros' degradation and disrupts its localization to pericentromeric heterochromatin in our murine pancreatic TB model. This loss of Ikaros expression is accompanied by an imbalance in T cell homeostasis. More specifically, we observe a significant decrease in effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells but an increase in Treg percentages in TB and spontaneous pancreatic cancer models. T-cell specific defects in Ikaros protein expression were also observed in TB CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells. Apigenin, a natural plant flavonoid and CK2 inhibitor, restored expression of some Ikaros isoforms in our TB model. Apigenin also displayed immunological benefits evident by enhanced anti-tumor immunity in TB mice. These data provide mechanistic and functional evidence that pharmacological inhibition of CK2 can regulate Ikaros expression and identifies the possible involvement of Ikaros in regulating T cell immune responses in murine pancreatic cancer.



# CHAPTER ONE

### An Overview of Pancreatic Cancer

Pancreatic adenocarcinoma (PDAC) makes up approximately 85-95% of pancreatic cancer occurrences and is the fourth leading cause of cancer-related deaths. It is one of the most lethal cancers and is the only major cancer with a five-year relative survival rate in the single digits of approximately 6% (1-3) (Figure 1.1). Typically, patients are 60-80 years of age and PDAC is twice as prevalent in males than females (4, 5). Most PDAC is prevalent in the head of the pancreas, followed by the body and the tail (4, 6). In approximately 90% of cases, oncogenic mutations in Kras (G12D) drive PDAC initiation by causing the development of pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PanIN) lesions (8, 9). However, the minimal spontaneous progression of precursor lesions to invasive PDAC has suggested that additional genetic mutations are necessary for PDAC disease progression (8). In fact, studies have shown that cooperative inactivating mutations in the tumor suppressor genes Cdkn2a, Trp53, or Dpc4/Smad4 accelerate the development of PanINs and PDAC in Kras mouse models and in humans (8, 17, 18) (Figure 1.2). Currently, surgery is the only cure, and increases the survival rate to 20% (4, 5). Unfortunately, PDAC is unresectable in 75% of patients (20). Lack of early detection contributes to a high incidence of metastasis at



diagnosis in 80% of patients (21). Resistance to chemo- and radiation- therapies also contributes to the lethality of this disease (22, 23). The chemotherapeutic drug gemcitabine is the standard treatment for advanced pancreatic cancer which has minimal effects on survival rates (1). Immunotherapies, vaccines and other immunomodulatory drugs have shown limited success in treating PDAC (24).



# 2014 Five-Year Relative Survival Rates Top Five Causes of Cancer Death

**Figure 1.1. 2014 Five-Year Relative Survival Rates of the Top Five Causes of Cancer Death.** Pancreatic cancer is currently the only top-five cancer in terms of death, with a five-year survival rate in the single digits at 6 percent. *Note*. Reprinted from the Pancreatic Cancer Action Network; Source: American Cancer Society, Cancer Facts and Figures 2014. ©2014 Pancreatic Cancer Action Network. Reprinted with permission.





**Figure 1.2. Genetic and histological changes of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC).** Kras activation leads to the development of pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasias (PanINs). Subsequent inactivation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (Cdk2na), tumor protein 53 (TP53) and Smad4 further contribute to the progression of PanIN lesions and ultimately the development of PDAC and its invasion and metastasis. Green arrow – oncogene; red arrows- tumor suppressor genes. Percentages represent occurrence. *Note*. Reprinted from "KRAS: feeding pancreatic cancer proliferation" by Bryant et al., 2014,Trends Biochem Sci., 39, pg.91-100. Copyright © 2013 Elsevier Ltd. Reprinted with permission (7).

### Immune Responses in Pancreatic Cancer

Immune surveillance is the necessity of the immune system to detect and destroy tumors in a host (25). However, pancreatic cancer has employed a number of strategies to avoid and escape immune surveillance and is considered a 'nonimmunogenic' tumor (24). In particular, the absence of effective immune responses to pancreatic cancer is a major contributing factor to its poor prognosis. The immune cells in pancreatic cancer promote a local and systemic immunosuppressive microenvironment marred by the presence of inflammatory mediators, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), regulatory T cells (Tregs) and myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC) that inhibit innate and adaptive anti-tumor immune responses, especially that of T cells, leading to tumor progression (10, 26) (**Figure 1.3**).





**Figure 1.3. Immune Evasion in PDAC.** During the induction phase, mutations in ocogenes and tumor suppressor genes drive the development of PanIN lesions. In the inflammation stage, PanIN lesions secrete soluble factors that lead to the recruitment of inflammatory cells. This causes immunosuppression marked by the infiltration of tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), regulatory T cells (Treg) and myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC) that eventually suppress adaptive immune responses –NK cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells - through direct contact or the production of immunosuppressive cytokines. This ultimately leads to immune privilege and the progression to pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Note*. Reprinted from "Immunosurveillance of pancreatic adenocarcinoma: Insights from genetically engineered mouse models of cancer" by Clark et al., 2009, Cancer Lett., 279, pg.1-7. © 2008 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. Reprinted with permission (10).

In pancreatic cancer patients, elevated Treg numbers are present both in the circulation and tumor site (27, 28) while effector T cells are scarce and have diminished functions (10). More so, increased Treg numbers correlate with worse survival (29) and a reduction in effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers (28). Higher Treg:Teff ratios have been shown to indicate better prognosis in PDAC (30). Treg inhibitors, including cytotoxic T-



lympocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) and programmed death-1 (PD-1) receptor, which are effective in other cancers, have shown no activity in PDAC (31-33). Therefore, identifying novel mechanisms that can potentially restore T cell homeostasis, thereby increasing Treg:Teff ratios, is essential in overcoming defects in the immune system that promote pancreatic cancer tumor progression and impede the success of treatment strategies.

### Hematopoiesis and Lymphocyte Development

Hematopoiesis, which occurs during embryonic development and adulthood, refers to the collective process involving the formation, development and differentiation of blood and immune cells (34) from pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) (35). Hematopoeisis functions to replenish short-lived blood and immune cells and occurs mainly in the bone marrow (36). HSCs can either self-renew or go on to produce daughter cells that become either common myeloid progenitor (CMP) or common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) cells. These cells further differentiate into erytrhoid, lymphoid and myeloid lineages. More specifically, CMPs generate granulocyte/macrophage precursors (GMPs) that produce granulocytes, macrophages/monocytes (includes dendritic cells (DCs)) and osteoclasts and megakaryocyte/erythroid precursors (MEP) that produce megakaryocytes, platelets and erytrhoid cells. These cells of the myeloid lineage mainly form components of innate immunity (36). CLPs give rise to lymphoid cells including natural killer (NK) cells, B cells and T cells (35), responsible for the innate and adaptive immune response (36) (**Figure 1.4**). Therefore, studying the mechanisms



that govern hematopoiesis and thus, immune cell development and differentiation, may provide insight into the development of blood disorders and cancers (37).



**Figure 1.4. Hematopoiesis.** Representation of the process of hematopoiesis through which blood and immune cells develop. Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) can self-renew or differentiate into common myeloid progenitors (CMP) or common lymphoid progenitors (CLP). CMPs then become either megakaryocyte/erythroid precursors (MEP) or granulocyte/macrophage precursors, which can develop into erythrocytes and platelets and neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, monocytes/macrophages, respectively. CLPs differentiate into B cell precursors (BCP), NK cell precursors (NKP) and T cell precursors (TCP) giving rise to B cells, NK cells and T cells. Arrow – self renewal.



### **Antigen-Presenting Cells**

Antigen-Presenting Cells (APCs) are a population of immune cells that process and present antigens to stimulate the activation of mature T cells (38). Dendritic cells, macrophages and B cells are considered 'professional' APCs (39). Dendritic cells are the most potent APCs as they express high levels of major histocompatibility (MHC) and co-stimulatory molecules (40). APCs internalize and degrade proteins into peptides, load these peptides to MHC class I molecules for CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and MHC II for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. These peptides are recognized by T cell receptors (TCR) on T cells (41). APCs also express co-stimulatory molecules, which provide a second signal for T cell activation. Such co-stimulatory molecules include B7 that binds to CD28 on T cells (42). Therefore, defects in APC development and function can negatively impact T cell immunity (38).

### T cells

T cells are the main cellular players responsible for eliciting robust adaptive immune responses to foreign pathogens and regulating immune tolerance to self-antigens (43). T cells are divided into a number of subsets with distinctive properties and roles. The two major subsets of peripheral T cells are characterized by their expression of CD4 and CD8 coreceptor molecules (44). CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells develop in the thymus and originate from double-positive thymocytes expressing both CD4 and CD8 molecules (45). T cells express a T Cell Receptor (TCR) that recognizes antigens presented by antigen-presenting cells (APC). The TCR of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are MHC class II restricted while CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are MHC class I restricted. CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells become



activated through their TCR receptors and costimulatory molecules, specifically CD28, which leads to their proliferation, cytokine production, survival and function (41). CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are critical regulators of immunosurveillance (46) as they are capable of eliciting robust immune responses to eradicate various disease states (47). T cells are found in lymphoid tissues and circulate via the bloodstream to identify and destroy foreign, diseased cells. Therefore, T cells are important playes in cellular immunity against cancers (48). However, the tumor microenvironment utilizes a number of strategies that inhibit T cells (47). Therefore, mechanisms that can facilitate effective activation, development and function of T cells are essential for effective anti-tumor immune responses (49)

**CD4<sup>+</sup> T Cells.** CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells play a critical role in antibody-mediated immunity and activating and expanding CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells, characteristic of its "helper" cell phenotype (48). Historically, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were shown to activate CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells by the production of IL-2 (48) and the activation of dendritic cells to stimulate CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (50). More recently, studies also suggest that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells use CD40/CD45 binding to directly interact with CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (51). The number and cytotoxic function of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are significantly increased in the presence of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell depletion favors tumor progression and reduces survival of tumor-bearing hosts, highlighting its significance in maintaining CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell function (48, 52, 53). As a result, diminished CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell antitumor responses may be due to insufficient CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell activation. Apart from this "helper" role, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have also been shown to possess tumor-reactive abilities. These CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells develop cytotxic activity, which can cause



tumor rejection by recognizing MHC-II antigens on tumor cells (54, 55) facilitated by their production of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  (56, 57). CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells are further characterized into subsets whose generation, cytokine secretion, function and differentiation are regulated by specific "master" transcription factors (45). The three main helper T cell subsets are Th1, Th2 and Th17 cells. Regulatory T cells (Tregs) are another unique subset of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that maintain peripheral tolerance and cause immune suppression (58). Th1 cells fight intracellular pathogens. These cells express the transcription factor T-bet and immediate immune responses by producing IFN- $\gamma$ , which can activate macrophages (45). Th2 cells fight extracellular parasites and express the transcription factor GATA-3 that regulates its production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 (45). In addition, both of these cells have roles in antitumor immunity. Th1 cells prevent blood vessel formation and recruit CD8<sup>+</sup>T and NK cells, which both have the ability to kill tumors. Th2 cell production of IL-4 and IL-13 recruits eosinophils while IL-5 production promotes tumorigenesis (59). Th17 cells express the transcription factor ROR<sub>γ</sub> and produce the cytokines IL-17 and IL-21 (59). Th17 have inflammatory properties and play a role in autoimmune diseases. Limited production of IL-17 has been reported to aid in cancer progression (60).

**CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells**. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are critical for controlling and eliminating viral infections and tumor cells (61). CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells recognize and respond to these foreign antigens via MHC-I molecules expressed on infected cells or antigen presenting cells (APCs) (62). Apart from TCR and CD28 engagement, the production of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-12 and type I interferon, by immune cells, further facilitates CD8<sup>+</sup> T



cell accumulation and differentiation (62). Memory phenotype of CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells after exposure to antigen stimulation results in host protection to future exposure (63).

In instances of autoimmunity, self-reactive lymphocytes cause destruction of normal tissues. These autoreactive T cells are usually deleted during negative selection in the thymus but sometimes evade this process (64-69), This is where peripheral tolerance is crucial in restricting these autoimmune responses. However, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell self-tolerance can also lead to defective anti-tumor immune responses as many tumor cells express self-antigens (70).

The ability of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to destroy and eliminate infected or tumor cells is referred to as their cytotoxic ability. CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) kill target cells by inducing apoptosis or cell death mediated by calcium-dependent release of granules in response to antigen recognition of the target cell. These granules contain two types of cytotoxic proteins stored in an active form but do not become functional until their release. Perforin is one of these cytotoxic proteins that polymerizes, forming pores in the membranes of target cells, allowing salt and water to end and leading to cell death. The other cytotoxic protein, granzyme, consists of three serine proteases that activate apoptosis in the cytoplasm of the target cell by caspase cleavage (71). CTLs can also induce apoptosis using perforn-independent mechanisms that involve the expression of Fas ligand (also expressed on Th1 cells) that can bind Fas in the target cell membrane. CTLs also produce IFN- $\gamma$ , which can increase MHC-I expression on target cells and activate macrophages in conjunction with TNF- $\alpha$  and TNF- $\beta$ . Cells undergoing programmed cell death or apoptosis have exposed phosphatidylserine on their cell membranes which allow their recognition and ingestion by phagocytes ((71). Current



research is extensively focused on therapeutic techniques to eradicate tumor cells. These mainly involve using the host's immune system, especially targeting T cells to increase their cytotoxic abilities, survival and migration to tumor sites (47, 63).

**Regulatory T Cells.** Regulatory T cells (Tregs) are characterized as a T cell population that can functionally suppress an immune response by influencing the activity of another cell type. Treg percentages are increased in the peripheral blood and tumor microenvironment of cancer patients including patients with pancreatic adenocarcinomas (72). Tregs are primarily involved in inducing and maintaining peripheral T cell tolerance to self-antigens (73). In tumors, activation of Tregs is considered one of the main tumor escape mechanisms (74). Tregs dampen T cell immunity to tumor-associated antigens and therefore, serve as the main obstacle to successful immunotherapy and active vaccination in tumor- bearing hosts (75, 76). Tregs can negatively affect CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers and function (63, 77, 78). Therefore, Treg-mediated suppression of immune responses leads to immune tolerance of tumor cells. Therefore, the ability to control Tregs is crucial to the development of effective immunotherapy strategies for treating cancer patients (79).

Classical Tregs are thymus-derived CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> T cells. However, there are several phenotypically distinct subsets of Tregs including natural (nTregs) and induced Tregs (iTregs). The classical Tregs are mainly nTregs that originate in the thymus and suppress via cell-cell contact mechanisms (90). Alternatively, iTregs consist of type I regulatory T cells (TR1) (CD4<sup>+</sup>IL-10<sup>+</sup>FoxP3-), which originate in the periphery and suppress through the production of IL-10 (91). T helper types 3 (TH3) (CD4<sup>+</sup>TGF-



 $\beta^+$ ) Tregs are another subset of iTregs that suppress though TGF- $\beta$ -dependent mechanisms (92). TGF- $\beta$  induces FoxP3 expression in CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25- T cells, which leads to the accumulation of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> T cells with Treg suppressive functions (93).

FoxP3 is a transcription factor that serves not only as a key intracellular marker of Tregs but is also critical for their development and function (80, 81). The suppressive function of Tregs is mediated by FoxP3 transcriptional regulation of a number of important Treg genes including the activation of CTLA-4 and glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor (GITR) and the repression of T effector cytokine genes, IL-2 and IFN-y (74, 82-84). Tregs suppress anti-tumor immune responses via a variety of mechanisms. Treqs may indirectly inhibit the activation of effector T cells by inhibiting the maturation and function of dendritic cells via co-stimulatory molecule CTLA-4 and lymphocyte-activation gene 3 (LAG-3) binding to CD80/86 and MHC II on DCs, respectively. This results in DC production of immunosuppressive indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase (IDO) (85, 86). Tregs can also directly inhibit CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells via cell-to-cell contact and the production of inhibitory cytokines including interluekin-10 (IL-10) and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) (87, 88). In addition, Tregs can also induce cytolysis of effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells by producing perform and granzymes that induce apoptosis (89). Tregs have also been shown to directly suppress effector T cells by transferring the inhibitory second messenger cyclic AMP (cAMP) into these cells using membrane gap junctions (90). In turn, effector T cell production of IL-2 can contribute to Treg suppressive function (91) and IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  can induce Tregs (92, 93) (Figure 1.5).





**Figure 1.5 A representation of the mechanisms by which regulatory T cells (Treg) suppress anti-tumor immune responses.** Tregs cause the inactivation of antigen presenting cells (APC), especially dendritic cells (DC), causing them to produce indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO). IDO inhibits the proliferation of effector CD4/CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Tregs can also directly inhibit CD4/CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells via cell-to-cell contact, the production of IL-10 and TGF-β, the cooperative activities of perforin and granzymes and cyclic AMP (cAMP) transfer. Overall, this results in the inability of CD4/CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to generate effective immune responses against tumors via the production of IFN-γ by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to activate CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells as well as by perforin and granzyme production by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to cause apoptosis of tumor cells. *Note*. Modified from "Advances in Immune Regulation in Transplantation by Aldopgan, 2013, Discovery Medicine, 15, pg.150-159. Copyright 2014 Discovery Medicine (16).

### **Transcription Factors and Hematopoiesis**

Transcription factors are regulators of gene expression and can include oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes (94). Transcription factors play a key role in



regulating hematopoetic cell fate decisions by regulating lineage-specific genes (95). In addition, master transcription factors also determine the fate of terminally differentiated or mature cells (96). These transcription factors work in concert with each other, epigenetic regulators and other regulatory elements within the genome to form "gene regulatory networks". Dysregulation of these gene regulatory networks by transcription factor overexpression, mutations, deletion or oncogenic fusions may therefore lead to malignant phenotypes (95).

### An Overview of the Ikaros Family

The Ikaros family consists of five transcription factors – Ikaros, Helios, Aiolos, Pegasus and Eos – that are important regulators of hematopoiesis, especially lymphoid differentiation, proliferation and function (35, 97-99). These transcription factors interact with a complex network of gene-regulatory elements, other family members and a number of transcriptional regulators to control gene expression primarily via the recruitment of chromatin remodeling complexes (35). All family members share a similar Kruppel-type zinc-finger protein structure with four amino-terminal zinc fingers and two carboxy-terminal zinc finger motifs (35, 100-102). The carboxy-terminal zinc finger motifs encode the DNA binding domain (DBD) while those at the amino-terminal form the dimerization domain allowing interactions with self, family members and transcriptional regulators (35). Ikaros family proteins also have a bipartite activation domain adjacent to the carboxy-terminal zinc fingers, which stimulates basal transcriptional activation of target genes (103-105) (Figure 1.6). Ikaros, Aiolos, Helios and Eos contain four amino-terminal zinc finger motifs and all recognize the canonical



sequence "GGAAA" (35, 106), while Pegasus, which only contains three amino-terminal zinc finger motifs recognizes a "GNNNGNNG" sequence (107). Alternative splicing produces various isoforms of Ikaros family members with varying number of amino-terminal zinc finger mofits, which allow for functional differences in their DNA binding affinities (35). Isoforms containing less than three amino-terminal zinc finger domains in the DBD do not bind DNA and are considered dominant negative (DN) isoforms that are defective and can inhibit the activity of functional isoforms (101). Ikaros and Aiolos are the most highly conserved family members and are typically expressed in lymphoid tissues along with Helios. As a result, deregulated expression of these family members has been implicated in leukemias and lymphomas. Ikaros expressed but its function has not been fully investigated. Pegasus, the most divergent family member, is also widely expressed with unknown functions (35).

### An Overview of Ikaros

Dr. Katia Georgopoulous' group first isolated the Ikaros gene in 1992 during studies aimed at identifying transcription factors that control commitment to the T cell lineage (108). The Ikaros contains eight exons, an untranslated exon 1 seven translated exons (exon 2 to 8). Alternative splicing of the Ikaros gene gives rise to eight isoforms (Ik1-Ik8). Ikaros protein contains four zinc finger N-terminus DNA binding motifs and two C-terminus zinc fingers important for dimerization with an activation/repression domain (Figure 1.6).





**Figure 1.6. A schematic of the Ikaros-1 (Ik-1) protein and its features**. Ikaros' 8 exons, including the untranslated exon 1 are depicted. Bars represent zinc fingers, F. Ik-1 has a DNA-binding domain (DBD) at its N-terminus characterized by the presence of four zinc finger motives. Ik-1 also has a bipartite activation/repression domain in exon 7. At the C-terminus, Ik-1 contains two zinc finger motifs that form its dimzerization domain. *Note.* Modified with permission from "Ikaros transcription factors: flying between stress and inflammation" by Chrousos et al, 2005, JCI,115, pg.844-848. Copyright © 2005, American Society for Clinical Investigation (14).

Ik1, Ik2 and Ik3 contain at least three N-terminal zinc fingers in the DBD and therefore bind DNA at the "GGAAA" motif. Ik-4 only contains two N-terminal zinc fingers binds tandem recognition sites that include this sequence. Ik5, Ik6, Ik7 and Ik8 contain one or no N-terminal zinc fingers and therefore do not bind DNA Facilitation of homo– and heterodimer complexes through the conserved c-terminal zinc finger motifs allow for interactions of various Ikaros isoforms. The formation of such complexes between functional isoforms with N-terminal DNA-binding capabilities (i.e., Ik1, Ik2 and Ik3) increases their DNA affinities and transcriptional activities. Opposingly, complexes consisting of DN isoforms with these functional isoforms cannot bind DNA and are transcriptionally inactive (109). Functional Ik-1 and Ik-2 are the most highly expressed isoforms throughout development (106, 110). Subsequent mouse studies showed that



Ikaros is in fact required for lymphocyte development. Ikaros knockout mice (deletion of C-terminal resulting in functional inactive proteins that are rapidly degraded) lack B cells and their precursors as well as fetal T cells but their T cells develop normally after birth with increased CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells detected in the thymus (111). These Ikaros knockout mice also display defects in NK cells and dendritic cells (112-115). Mice expressing a DN form of Ikaros that is still able to dimerize with other Ikaros family members, exhibit more severe defects including the absence of T cells after birth which results in severe infections and death (105). Additionally, mice with one disrupted and one functional copy of Ikaros (<sup>+</sup>/-) dislplay hyperproliferative T cells responses and develop T cell malignancies (116). The less marked phenyotypes observed in the Ikaros family members as the presence of other family members may compensate for the lack of Ikaros (35, 111). On the contrary, the DN Ikaoros mutants produce functional proteins that may inactivate Ikaros itself and other family members (35, 105).

Studies by Schjerven et al aimed at identifying the role of individual zinc finger motifs of the Ikaros protein in regulating its transcriptional activity in lymphopoiesis and leukemogenesis (117). They found that Ikaros zinc fingers 2 and 3 mediate its DNA binding activity to its core consensus sequence while zinc fingers 1 and 4 bind to other specific sites (106, 118, 119). They generated mice lacking exons encoding Ikaros zinc fingers 1, which lacked full-length Ikaros protein, only expressing an alternatively spliced Ikaros isoform. They also generated mice lacking Ikaros zinc finger 4 which expressed mutant forms of both isoforms. These studies revealed that these zinc finger regions have distinct biological functions. Zinc finger 1 was found to be important for B cell



development while zinc finger 4 was mainly important for natural killer cell, dendritic and T cell development. Mice lacking zinc finger 4 developed thymic lymphomas, which, suggest that this motif is responsible for lkaros' tumor suppressor activity. Overall, their studies show that zinc fingers 1 and 4 help lkaros to recognize different DNA sequences but that the genes that are differentially targeted in the absence of either of these zinc finger motifs are few, suggesting that effects of lkaros are mediated by its regulation of a small number of target genes (106, 118, 119).

**Ikaros Expression.** Ikaros expression was found to be primarily restricted to embryonic, fetal and adult hematopoietic cells. Ikaros mRNA is expressed in the developing embryo especially in the blood islands of the E8 yolk sac, mesodermal cells in the embryo proper and the fetal liver at E9.5 (97, 109). Ikaros is also expressed in the fetail thymus from E10.5, which coincides with the presence of fetal lymphoid precursors (97, 109). Within the bone marrow, Ikaros expression is first detected in pluripotent, self-renewing hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) and then in precursor myeloid and lymphoid cells (110, 120, 121). Subsequently, Ikaros expression is downregulated in mature monocytes, macrophages and erythrocytes but its expression is still detectable in granulocytes (121). On the contrary, Ikaros expression is upregulated in thymocyte precursors and is maintained at high levels in mature T cells in both fetuses and adults. Ikaros upregulation is also observed during B-cell differentation (110). Overall, Ikaros expression is highest in double positive thymocytes and is highly expressed in mature T and B-lymphocytes as well as natural killer (NK) cells (108).



Therefore, it is apparent that Ikaros is especially critical for proper development, differentiation and homeostasis of lymphoid cells (122).

**Ikaros and Hematological Malignancies.** In humans, mutations in the IKZF1 gene encoding Ikaros and overexpression of DN isoforms often occur in many different types of leukemias such as acute lymphoblastic leukemias (ALLs), acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) (123-126). These findings suggest that Ikaros may function as a tumor suppressor in human leukemias. Ikaros variants are also overexpressed in lymphomas such as histiocytic lymphoma, Burkitt lymphoma, anaplastic large cell lymphoma and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (127-129). Orozoco et al (2013), showed that in cases of overexpression of Ikaros DN isoforms, there is also reduced expression of functional isoforms, suggesting that the overexpression of DN isoforms is not directly responsible for malignant phenotypes but moreso, the imbalance of the various isoforms, especially since DN isoforms are expressed in healthy individuals (130).

**Ikaros and Solid Cancers.** Little is known about the involvement of Ikaros in tumor development in solid cancers. Using microarray analyses, one study in particular has shown that Ikaros is widely expressed in solid tumors such as bladder, blood, breast, colorectal, gliomas, head and neck, lung, ovarian and skin cancers. Moreover, this study reported a correlation between Ikaros expression and the prognoses of 13 cancers including breast, lung, ovarian and skin cancers (131). In addition, Ikaros has been implicated in regulating the expression of genes that control the epithelial to



mesenchymal (EMT) transition process in ovarian cancer cells (132). Ikaros has also been shown to regulate the migration and invasion of lung cancer cells (133). Overall, a detailed understanding of the function of Ikaros in solid tumors is yet to be defined.

**Ikaros and Gene Regulation.** Ikaros can both activate and repress gene expression, primarily via chromatin remodeling mechanisms (100, 101, 134). In resting lymphocytes, lkaros is localized to the nucleus in what is described as a diffuse, dot-like pattern. However, as it becomes activated, lkaros takes on a ring-shaped tortoid structure near pericentromeric heterchromatin (135, 136). In lymphocytes, lkaros forms a 2-MDa complex that contains 10–12 lkaros molecules and other proteins (137). In T cells, Ikaros forms complexes with Mi-2b (an ATP-dependent chromatin remodeler) and histone deacetylases (HDACs) 1 and 2. These are all components of the nucleosome remodeling and deacetylation (NURD) complex. This Ikaros/NURD complex is involved in chromatin remodeling in vitro and histone deacetylation (137). Additionally, in mature lymphocytes, a small amount of lkaros is also associated with the SWI-SNF remodeling complex as well as with the co-repressors Sin3, C-terminal binding protein (CtBP) and CtBP-interacting protein (CtIP) (138). Based on these findings, it has been proposed that Ikaros can regulate transcription via 1) the recruitment of chromatin remodeling complexes, which facilitate nucleosome remodeling and the binding of transcriptional activators or repressors 2) histone modifications mediated by the Ikaros/NuRd or Ikaros/Sin3 complexes that contain HDACs 1 and 2, therefore causing histone deacetlyation and transcriptional silencing and 3) CtBP and CtIP-mediated suppression, independent of HDAC activity (139). Ikaros' regulation of gene expression via these



various mechanisms can therefore influence the development and function of immune cells.

**Ikaros and T Cells.** Defects in T cells and their resulting malignancies in Ikaros deficient mice pointed to its critical role in T cell development. In particular, Ikaros plays an important role in thymocyte differentiation and the development of mature T cells. Ikaros controls the differentiation of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> (double positive) thymocytes towards and CD8 T cell fates as seen in Ikaros null mice (140. CD4 141). Terminaldeoxytransferase (TdT) is repressed by Ikaros at the early stages of thymocyte development (142). Ikaros also modules Cd4 gene expression using chromatin remodeling complexes (143) and activates the CD8a gene (144). Ikaros controls CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> proliferation in response to TCR signaling as T cells with reduced Ikaros activity require less engagement of their TCR for activation, proliferate abundantly in response to IL-2 and are less sensitive to inhibition of both TCR and IL-2 signaling (145). Ikaros also regulates key genes involved in T cell activation, anergy and tolerance such as CD3 delta activation (108), IL-2 in CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (146-148), IL-10in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (149), IFN-y production in Th2 differentiation (150), IL-22 in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (151) and has recently been suggested to be involved in the differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells (152). Ikaros regulates the expression of several transcription factors involved in T cell differentiation including Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 4 (STAT4) (153) and T-bet (150, 154). Ikaros also regulates some Notch target genes that are critical for normal T cell development (155, 156).



Post-Translational Modifications of Ikaros. Studies have revealed that Ikaros undergoes a number of post-translational modifications. The most well-studied posttranslational modification of the Ikaros protein is phosphorylation. Phosphorylation of Ikaros was first identified in studies aimed at understanding how Ikaros is regulated cell cycle progression based on its role in lymphocyte development and proliferation (157). It was found that Ikaros was mainly phosphorylated at two major sites: a serine/threoninerich region within amino acids 385 to 394 of exon 8 and S63 in the alternatively splicted exon 4, which affect its ability to negatively regulate the G1/s transition of the cell cycle (157) (Figure 1.7). Mutations that prevented phosphorylation in exon 8 led to increased ability of Ikaros to inhibit cell cycle progression and its DNA binding affinity (157). Protein kinase CK2 (formerly Casein Kinase II) was found to be mainly responsible for this observation (157). Subsequently, four novel CK2 phosphorylation sites at amino acids 13,23,101 and 294 in Ikaros were discovered (Figure 1.7). Mutations of amino acid 13 and 294 decreased lkaros ability to bind DNA probes, altered its pericentromeric localization and prevented its regulation of its target gene, TdT, involved in thymocyte differentiation (158). These findings provided evidence that CK2 activity and/or hyperphosphorylation of lkaros play a role in T cell differentiation (159). Dephosphorylation of Ikaros in its c-terminus is mediated by protein phosphatase 1 (PP1). PP1 dephosphorylation of lkaros is necessary for its DNA binding activity, ability to localize to pericentromeric heterochromatic and protein stability. Increased CK2mediated phosphorylation of lkaros versus PP1 dephosphorylatioon at proline (P), glutamic acid (E), serine (S), and threonine (T) (PEST) regions leads to increased protein degradation of lkaros via the ubiquitin/proteasome pathway (15) (Figure 1.7).





Β.



**Figure 1.7 Ikaros PEST and phosphorylation regions. A**. Schematic representation of two PEST regions in the Ikaros protein. **B**. Schematic representation of CK2 phosphorylation sites and PP1 binding site in Ikaros protein. **A**. *Note*. Reprinted from "Ikaros Stability and Pericentromeric Localization Are Regulated by Protein Phosphatase 1" by Popescu et al., 2009, J Biol Chem. 284, pg.13869-13880. Copyright © 2009, The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Inc. Reprinted with permission (15). **B**. *Note*. Reprinted from Protein Phosphatase 1 (PP1) and Casein Kinase II (CK2) regulate Ikaros-mediated repression of TdT in thymocytes and T-cell leukemia" by Wang et al., 2014, Pediatric Blood and Cancer. 61, pg. 2230-2235. © 2014 Wiley Periodicals, Inc. (19).

Overall, insight into the regulation of Ikaros showed that a balance between CK2 and PP1 is needed for normal Ikaros expression and function in regulating transcription, stability, cell cycle progression, T cell differentiation and the prevention of malignant transformation such as leukemias (15) **(Figure 1.8)**. Both Spleen tyrosine kinase (syk) and bruton's tyrosine kinase (btk) have also recently been found to phosphorylate


Ikaros leading to nuclear localization of Ikaros, DNA binding activity and transcription factor function (160, 161).



**Figure 1.8 A representation of Ikaros' regulation by CK2 and PP1.** PP1 dephosphorylates Ikaros maintaining its protein stability. However, CK2 hyperphosphorylates Ikaros, which facilitates its polyubiquitination and eventual protein degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome system. *Note.* Reprinted from "Ikaros Stability and Pericentromeric Localization Are Regulated by Protein Phosphatase 1" by Popescu et al., 2009, J Biol Chem. 284, pg.13869-13880. Copyright © 2009, The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Inc. Reprinted with permission (15).

Recent studies have shown that pharmacological agents can regulate Ikaros protein stability. The immunomodulatory agents lenalidomide and pomalidomide are used to treat a number of blood cancers. These drugs cause proteasomal degradation of Ikaros and Aiolos in T cells, altering T cell function, via their effects on a ubiquitin ligase (162). Similar effects of these drugs on Ikaros protein degradation have also been discovered in multiple myeloma cells (163, 164).



Ikaros is also posttranslationally modified by SUMOylation (165). SUMOylation involves the conjugation of the small ubiquitin-related modifier (SUMO) protein via an enzymatic pathway similar to ubiquitination but instead being capable of maintaining protein stability. Ikaros SUMOylation occurs with the N-terminal repression domain at K58 and K240 negatively affecting its repressor functions by disrupting its interactions with HDAC-dependent and –independent chromatin remodeling complexes (165).

## Protein Kinase CK2

Since its discovery in 1954 by Burnett and Kennedy (166), protein kinase CK2 has been a widely studied protein of interest in a number of pathological events (167). Protein kinase CK2 (~130 kDa) is a ubiquitously expressed, second messenger-independent, constitutively activated serine/threonine kinase (168, 169). CK2 forms a holoenzyme typically composed of two  $\alpha$  or  $\alpha$ ' catalytic subunits (~42 and 28 kDa) linked by two molecules of the  $\beta$  regulatory subunit (~28 kDa) to form either a hetero- or homotetramer, depending on the cell type (168, 170-172) (**Figure 1.9**)

In most cases, the CK2 $\beta$  subunit has been shown to confer the enzyme's substrate specificity as well as its activity and stability (173, 174). However, studies have also revealed that the individual subunits also exist and function outside of the confines of the holoenzyme complex (168, 175). The requirement for protein kinase CK2 as a critical regulator of development and cellular proliferation/survival is evident based on studies, which showed embryonic lethality in CK2 $\beta$  knockout mice while CK2 $\alpha$ ' knockout mice are viable but produce sterile offspring, ndicating its role in spermatogenesis (176-178).





**Figure 1.9. Crystal structure of tetrameric CK2.** Ribbon representation of CK2 holoenzyme and subunits (PBD no. 1JWH) bound with non-hydrolysable ATP analogue adenylyl imidodiphosphate (AMPPNP). The catalytic  $\alpha$  subunits are presented in purple and yellow; the regulatory  $\beta$  subunits are in red and green. Gray circles represent Zn<sup>2+</sup>. *Note.* Reprinted from "Casein Kinase II" by Turowec et al., 2012, Encyclopedia of Signaling Molecules, pg.234-242. © Springer, Part of Springer Science+Business Media. Reprinted with permission (11).

CK2 exhibits its effect through phosphrylation of its substrates at residues Nterminal to clusters of acidic residues with the minimal consensus sequence S/T-X-X-D/E (179), using either ATP or GTP as its phosphate donor (168, 180). The diversity of its numerous substrates is attributed to the fact that CK2 is ubiquitously expressed in mammalian cells and tissues (181, 182). CK2 shuttles between the cytoplasmic and nuclear compartments under various conditions, such as in response to growth stimuli (183, 184). However, its functionality, as it relates to cell growth and apoptosis, appears to primarily occur in the nucleus (185). As a result, the large repertoire of potential CK2 substrates found in various cellular compartments, are mainly transcription factors and genes, involved in cellular proliferation and play key roles in oncogenic signaling (170,



172, 186). CK2 substrates that contribute to cellular advantages in cancer cells have been extensively studied and described. It is well understood that CK2 regulates and interacts with a number of oncogenes and tumor suppressor and other important genes involved in transcription and chromatin remodeling, cell cycle arrest, cell proliferation and survival, apoptosis and metastasis and invasion, signal transduction pathways that are often dysregulated in cancers (171, 187).

CK2 is expressed in both normal and cancer cells and was therefore initially thought to be a marker of cellular proliferation (187, 188). However, studies subsequently proved that elevated levels of CK2 in the nucleus and its suppression of apoptosis and induction of dysplasia were specific to cancer cells (189-193). In fact, CK2 protein expression is upregulated in all cancers examined thus far (171, 172, 187), emphasizing its role in tumorigenesis. CK2 $\alpha$  in transgenic mice leads to the development of T cell leukemia and lymphoma ((194-197), similar to that observed in mice with impaired lkaros function (145, 198-200).

# CK2 Inhibitors

With studies providing evidence that CK2 plays a critical role in cellular processes that lead to tumorigenesis(185), it is no surprise that emerging research has extensively focused on creating specific inhibitors of CK2 (13) (Summarized in **Table 1.1**).



Inhibitor Family	Name	No. of PKs inhibited/No. of PKs tested	PKs inhibited
Benzoimidazole derivative	DRB	1/1	CK2
Benzoimidazole derivative	ТВІ	11/76	CK2, PKD1 ,CDK2 DYRK1a, DYRK2, DYRK3, PIM1, PIM2, PIM3, HIPK2, HIPK
Benzoimidazole derivative	DMAT	11/76	CK2, PKD1, CDK2, DYRK1a, DYRK2, DYRK3, PIM1, PIM2, PIM3, HIPK2 HIPK3
Benzoimidazole derivative	ТВВ	8/76	CK2, DYRK1a, DYRK2, DYRK3, PIM1, PIM2, PIM3, HIPK2
Carboxyl acid derivative	IQA	1/44	CK2
Anthraquinone	Emodin	4/33	CK2, SGK, GSK3β, DYRK1a
Natural derivative - flavonoid	Apigenin	12/33	CK2, MSK1, AMPK, GSK3b, S6K1, CHK1, PHK, SGK, CDK2, LCK, c-FCR, DYRK1a
ATP-Competitive Inhibitor	CX-4945	8/238	CK2, DAPK3, FLT3, HIPK3, TBK1, , CLK3, PIM1, CDK1

**Table 1.1 Common CK2 inhibitors.** CK2 inhibitors by inhibitor family, selectivity and protein kinases (PKs) inhibited. Selectivity is represented as the ratio between the total number of PKs inhibited by the molecule (with comparable or better efficacy than CK2; 500-fold greater than the IC50 of CK2 for CX-4945) and the total number of PKs on which the activity has been tested. *Note.* Modified with permission from "How druggable is protein kinase CK2?" by Cozza et al., 2010, Med Res Rev, 30, pg.419-462. © 2009 Wiley Periodicals, Inc. (13).

CK2's ATP binding site contains unique bulky residues that favor the design of ATP-competitive inhibitors (201, 202). DRB (5,6-di- chloro-1-(b-D-ribofuranosyl)benzimida- zole) is one of the first identified CK2 inhibitors (203). Natural compounds, specifically flavonoids a group of substances found in fruit, vegetables, wine and tea, have also been found to inhibit CK2 activity. These include, apigenin and quercetin, which are more potent inhibitors of CK2 activity than DRB but are also not very specific (202). Apigenin, (4',5,7-trihydroxyflavone,5,7-dihydroxy-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-4H-1benzopyran-4-one) (**Figure 1.10**), is present in plants and in high levels in fruits, vegetables, herbs and spices especially, chamomile and parsley (204). Apigenin is characterized as a selective CK2 inhibitor with a K<sub>i</sub> near 1uM in cell culture (205) and an



IC50 = 0.80  $\mu$ M (206). Apigenin is an ATP-competitive CK2 inhibitor (207). Apigenin displays pro-apoptotic, anti-inflammatory, anti-cancer and chemopreventative effects, which are thought to depend on its effects on CK2 (204).



# Figure 1.10. The structure of apigenin (5,7-Dihydroxy-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-4H-1-benzopyran-4-one).

Another natural product shown to inhibit CK2 and other kinases is emodin (1,3,8trihydroxy-6-methyl-antraqui- none). However, its specificity is quite broad (208). Currently, the most commercially available CK2 inhibitors are TBB (4,5,6,7-tetrabromo-1H- benzotriazole) and DMAT (2-dimethylamino-4,5,6,7-tetrabromo- 1H-benzimidazole). Analyses showed that these two inhibitors are fairly specific to CK2 (209, 210). TBB is a derivative of DRB (209) while DMAT is a derivative of TBB's analogue, TBI (tetrabromo-benzimidazole) (211). IQA (5-oxo-5,6-dihydro-indolo(1,2-a)quinazolin-7yl]acetic acid) another CK2 inhibitor, shows enhanced selectivity and efficacy in vitro and in vivo compared to TBB, emodin and apigenin (202). More recently, Cylene Pharmaceuticals developed the first orally bioavailable CK2 inhibitor called CX-4945 (Silmitasertib). This potent and highly selective, small molecule inhibitor, inhibits both



CK2α and CK2α' and demonstrates causes cell cycle arrest, inhibition of cellular proliferation pathways and promotes apoptosis (212, 213). CX-4945 advanced to clinical trials in patients with solid tumors and was well-tolerated with minimal side effects, inhibited CK2 and AKT pathways and stabilized disease in some patients (214).

# Protein Phosphatase 1 (PP1)

PP1 (~38.5 kDa) is one of the major eukaryotic serine/threonine phosphastases belonging to the PP1 family, which includes PP1, PP2A, PP4, PP6, PP2B/calcineurin, PP5 and PP7 (12, 215). PP1 and PP2A are the most abundantly expressed with PP1 being expressed in all cells. The PP1 catalytic subunit (PP1c) can complex with over 200 regulatory subunits, converting PP1c into various holoenzymes (216) (**Figure 1.11**) with discrete substrates, subcellular localizations and regulatory mechanisms. On the contrary, PP1 inhibitory proteins bind to its active site containing metal ions that are necessary for its activity (216).



**Figure 1.11. Representation of the single catalytic domain of PP1. (PP1c – gray; pink - metal ions) from PDB 3EGG.** PP1c can bind to a plethora of regulatory (R) subunits (blue), which converts it to specific holoenzymes with different activities and substrate specificities. Note. Reprinted from "Structural basis for protein phosphatase 1 regulation and specificity" by Peti et al., 2012, FEBS Journal, 280, pg. 596-611 Copyright © 1999-2014 John Wiley & Sons, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Reprinted with permission (12).



As a result, PP1 plays roles in a number of cellular processes by regulating signaling cascades via independent mechanisms (217). In all eukaryotes, multiple genes encode PP1c, except in yeast (218). Four mammalian PP1c products were initially designated PP1 $\alpha$ , PP1 $\beta$  (also known as PP1 $\delta$ ), as well as PP1 $\gamma_1$  and PP1 $\gamma_2$ , which are alternative splice variants (217). PP1 $\alpha$ , PP1 $\beta$ / $\delta$  and PP1 $\gamma$ 1 are ubiquitously expressed, while PP1 $\gamma$ 2 is testis-specific. Studies have identified over 200 PP1 regulatory subunits (12, 216) that bind PP1c and target it to particular subcellular compartments or substrates, enhancing its substrate specificity (217). On the contrary, inhibitory proteins can bind and block PP1c's active site that contains two metal ions (12, 219, 220). The primary PP1 binding motif, the RVxF motif, where x is any residue other than Phe, Ile, Met, Tyr, Asp or Pro, allows for binding of PP1 regulatory proteins and some PP1 substrates to PP1 but does not influence its activity (12, 221, 222). PP1 regulates cellular processes including cell cycle progression, protein synthesis, muscle contraction, carbohydrate metabolism, transcription and neuronal signaling (217).

#### An Overview of Proteolysis

Turn over of all intracellular and some extracellular proteins is a common occurrence resulting in protein hydrolysis to their amino acids components and new protein synthesis. Therefore, this process is important in maintaining protein homeostasis (223). Original studies pointed at the lysosome, where proteins and organelles are targeted by microautophagy and macroautophagy, respectively, and degraded by proteases, as the machinery primarily responsible for intracellular proteolysis. However, subsequent evidence suggested non-lysosomal mechanisms of



protein degradation of most intracellular proteins pointing to the ubiquitin-proteasome system (223).

# Protein Degradation and the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System

The ubiquitin-proteasome system plays an essential role in degradation of intracellular eurkaryotic proteins. This irreversible process can lead to deregulation of pathways leading to cellular changes. This requires adaptation to new conditions that can cause various diseases (224). The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway consists of a series of enzymes that cooperatively add chains of ubiquitin (Ub;a small 76 residue, protein), a polypeptide co-factor, to proteins, to mark them for degradation (Glickman (225, 226). The polyubiquitination of a protein is an ATP-dependent, multi-step cascade carried out by three enzymes. E1 is the Ub-activating enzyme, E2 is the Ub-carrier or conjugating enzyme and E3 is the Ub-ligase, which is the key enzyme that recognizes proteins and catalyzes Ub transfer (224). E1 activates Ub at its C-terminus forming a linkage to itself. Next, the Ub Is transferred to E2 enzymes, which are then conjugated with E3 enzymes that recognize proteins to be ubiquitinated (224). Ubiquitinated proteins are recognized by the 26S proteasome, a large multicatalytic protease that degrades them to small peptides (227). The 26S proteasome consists of two complexes, the 20S core particle, which contains the catalytic activity, and a 19S regulatory particle. The 20S unit is a barrel-shaped structure containing two outer  $\alpha$ rings and two identical inner  $\beta$ -rings, which house the catalytic sites. The 20S subunit is also capped on one or both ends by the 19S regulatory particle, which recognizes polyubiquitinated (at least 5 Ubs) proteins, cleave the Ub chain and linearizes the





**Figure 1.12 Overview of the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System (UPS).** Ubiquitinaiton of proteins is carried out in three steps: 1) Activation – Ubiquitin (Ub) binds to E1 activating enzyme by using one ATP to AMP 2) Conjugation – Ub is transferred to the E2 conjugation enzyme 3) E2 transfers Ub to a substrate bound to the E3 ligase. Polyubiquitylation occurs extending the ubiquitin chain on the substrate. The substrate then enters the 26S proteasome and is subject to degradation and the ubiquitin molecules are released by deubiquitylation enzymes.

proteins facilitating its entry into the 20S subunit where they are digested into peptides and Ub is recycled (223, 224) (**Figure 1.12**).

The Ub-proteasome pathways also influences gene transcription. For example, many transcription factors are subject to proteasomal degradation (228). This often involves the overlap of transcriptional activation domains and ubiquitination signals (224). Degradation of regulators of transcription factors can also contribute to altered gene expression and localization (229, 230) and may thus contribute to oncogenesis.



## **Content of the Dissertation and Central Hypothesis**

Ikaros is defined as a tumor suppressor in T cells and has been extensively studied in hematological studies. However, its possible involvement in the regulation of T cells in solid cancers has not been fully investigated. This dissertation focuses on the regulation of lkaros and its role in the maintenance of T cell homeostasis in murine pancreatic cancer. We hypothesize that in the pancreatic tumor microenvironment, there is an upregulation of protein kinase CK2 activity vs PP1 activity, which abrogates Ikaros' expression, thus leading to an imbalance in effector CD4/CD8<sup>+</sup> and regulatory T percentages and function. First, we show that Ikaros is downregulated at the protein but not mRNA level in splenocytes from our pancreatic tumor-bearing (TB) mice. Results suggest that downregulation may be attributed to its ubiguitin-mediated proteasomal degradation in response to factors produced by pancreatic cancer cells. Moreover, our results suggest that alternations in the balance of protein kinase CK2 and PP1, favoring increased CK2 activity may be the mechanisms involved. We also show that loss of Ikaros expression in T cells may lead to a disruption in the balance of effector CD4/CD8 T cells and regulatory T cells, needed for effective anti-tumor immunity. To further delineate the mechanism(s) by which Ikaros may be regulated and its involvement in T cell responses in our pancreatic cancer model, we evaluated the effects of apigenin, a natural plant flavonoid and selective CK2 inhibitor. We show that apigenin stabilizes Ikaros expression in vitro and in vivo while maintaining T cell homeostasis and immune function. Overall, these data suggest a previously undefined role for lkaros in regulating effector and regulatory T cell development in murine pancreatic cancer thereby possibly making it a potential target for enhancing anti-tumor immune responses. Therefore,



phamacrological inhibition of CK2 may be a potential adjuvant therapy for treating murine pancreatic cancer.

# References

 Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61(2):69-90. Epub 2011/02/08. doi: 10.3322/caac.20107. PubMed PMID: 21296855.

2. Siegel R, Ma J, Zou Z, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2014. CA Cancer J Clin. 2014;64(1):9-29. doi: 10.3322/caac.21208. PubMed PMID: 24399786.

3. (PANCAN) PCAN. 2014 Five-Year Relative Survival Rates Top Five Causes of Cancer Deat. In: Funding-Survival-Charts-June-2014-2-1.pdf, editor. Source: American Cancer Society Cancer Facts and Figures, 2014: PANCAN; 2014. p. 2014 Five-Year Relative Survival Rates Top Five Causes of Cancer Death. Source: American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts and Figures, . Atlanta: American Cancer Society, .

4. Low G, Panu A, Millo N, Leen E. Multimodality imaging of neoplastic and nonneoplastic solid lesions of the pancreas. Radiographics. 2011;31(4):993-1015. doi: 10.1148/rg.314105731. PubMed PMID: 21768235.

5. Ros PR, Mortele KJ. Imaging features of pancreatic neoplasms. Jbr-btr. 2001;84(6):239-49. Epub 2002/01/31. PubMed PMID: 11817475.



6. Brennan DD, Zamboni GA, Raptopoulos VD, Kruskal JB. Comprehensive preoperative assessment of pancreatic adenocarcinoma with 64-section volumetric CT. Radiographics. 2007;27(6):1653-66. Epub 2007/11/21. doi: 10.1148/rg.276075034. PubMed PMID: 18025509.

 Bryant KL, Mancias JD, Kimmelman AC, Der CJ. KRAS: feeding pancreatic cancer proliferation. Trends Biochem Sci. 2014;39(2):91-100. Epub 2014/01/07. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2013.12.004. PubMed PMID: 24388967; PMCID: Pmc3955735.

8. Morris JPt, Wang SC, Hebrok M. KRAS, Hedgehog, Wnt and the twisted developmental biology of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Nat Rev Cancer. 2010;10(10):683-95. Epub 2010/09/04. doi: 10.1038/nrc2899. PubMed PMID: 20814421; PMCID: Pmc4085546.

9. Kanda M, Matthaei H, Wu J, Hong SM, Yu J, Borges M, Hruban RH, Maitra A, Kinzler K, Vogelstein B, Goggins M. Presence of somatic mutations in most early-stage pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia. Gastroenterology. 2012;142(4):730-3.e9. Epub 2012/01/10. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.12.042. PubMed PMID: 22226782; PMCID: Pmc3321090.

10. Clark CE, Beatty GL, Vonderheide RH. Immunosurveillance of pancreatic adenocarcinoma: insights from genetically engineered mouse models of cancer. Cancer Lett. 2009;279(1):1-7. Epub 2008/11/18. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2008.09.037. PubMed PMID: 19013709.

11. Turowec J, St. Denis N, Litchfield D. Casein Kinase II.



12. Peti W, Nairn AC, Page R. Structural basis for protein phosphatase 1 regulation and specificity. FEBS J. 2013;280(2):596-611. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012.08509.x. PubMed PMID: 22284538; PMCID: PMC3350600.

13. Cozza G, Bortolato A, Moro S. How druggable is protein kinase CK2? Med Res Rev. 2010;30(3):419-62. doi: 10.1002/med.20164. PubMed PMID: 19526464.

14. Chrousos GP, Kino T. Ikaros transcription factors: flying between stress and inflammation. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(4):844-8. doi: 10.1172/JCI24886. PubMed PMID: 15841175; PMCID: PMC1070441.

15. Popescu M, Gurel Z, Ronni T, Song C, Hung KY, Payne KJ, Dovat S. Ikaros stability and pericentromeric localization are regulated by protein phosphatase 1. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(20):13869-80. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M900209200. PubMed PMID: 19282287; PMCID: PMC2679487.

16. Alpdogan O. Advances in immune regulation in transplantation. Discov Med. 2013;15(82):150-9. Epub 2013/04/03. PubMed PMID: 23545043.

17. Jones S, Zhang X, Parsons DW, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, Mankoo P, Carter H, Kamiyama H, Jimeno A, Hong SM, Fu B, Lin MT, Calhoun ES, Kamiyama M, Walter K, Nikolskaya T, Nikolsky Y, Hartigan J, Smith DR, Hidalgo M, Leach SD, Klein AP, Jaffee EM, Goggins M, Maitra A, Iacobuzio-Donahue C, Eshleman JR, Kern SE, Hruban RH, Karchin R, Papadopoulos N, Parmigiani G, Vogelstein B, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW. Core signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancers revealed by global genomic analyses. Science. 2008;321(5897):1801-6. Epub 2008/09/06. doi: 10.1126/science.1164368. PubMed PMID: 18772397; PMCID: Pmc2848990.



18. Biankin AV, Waddell N, Kassahn KS, Gingras MC, Muthuswamy LB, Johns AL, Miller DK, Wilson PJ, Patch AM, Wu J, Chang DK, Cowley MJ, Gardiner BB, Song S, Harliwong I, Idrisoglu S, Nourse C, Nourbakhsh E, Manning S, Wani S, Gongora M, Pajic M, Scarlett CJ, Gill AJ, Pinho AV, Rooman I, Anderson M, Holmes O, Leonard C, Taylor D, Wood S, Xu Q, Nones K, Fink JL, Christ A, Bruxner T, Cloonan N, Kolle G, Newell F, Pinese M, Mead RS, Humphris JL, Kaplan W, Jones MD, Colvin EK, Nagrial AM, Humphrey ES, Chou A, Chin VT, Chantrill LA, Mawson A, Samra JS, Kench JG, Lovell JA, Daly RJ, Merrett ND, Toon C, Epari K, Nguyen NQ, Barbour A, Zeps N, Kakkar N, Zhao F, Wu YQ, Wang M, Muzny DM, Fisher WE, Brunicardi FC, Hodges SE, Reid JG, Drummond J, Chang K, Han Y, Lewis LR, Dinh H, Buhay CJ, Beck T, Timms L, Sam M, Begley K, Brown A, Pai D, Panchal A, Buchner N, De Borja R, Denroche RE, Yung CK, Serra S, Onetto N, Mukhopadhyay D, Tsao MS, Shaw PA, Petersen GM, Gallinger S, Hruban RH, Maitra A, Iacobuzio-Donahue CA, Schulick RD, Wolfgang CL, Morgan RA, Lawlor RT, Capelli P, Corbo V, Scardoni M, Tortora G, Tempero MA, Mann KM, Jenkins NA, Perez-Mancera PA, Adams DJ, Largaespada DA, Wessels LF, Rust AG, Stein LD, Tuveson DA, Copeland NG, Musgrove EA, Scarpa A, Eshleman JR, Hudson TJ, Sutherland RL, Wheeler DA, Pearson JV, McPherson JD, Gibbs RA, Grimmond SM. Pancreatic cancer genomes reveal aberrations in axon guidance pathway genes. Nature. 2012;491(7424):399-405. Epub 2012/10/30. doi: 10.1038/nature11547. PubMed PMID: 23103869; PMCID: Pmc3530898.



19. Wang H, Song C, Gurel Z, Song N, Ma J, Ouyang H, Lai L, Payne KJ, Dovat S. Protein Phosphatase 1 (PP1) and Casein Kinase II (CK2) regulate Ikaros-mediated repression of TdT in thymocytes and T-cell leukemia. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2014;61(12):2230-5. doi: 10.1002/pbc.25221. PubMed PMID: 25214003; PMCID: PMC4205270.

20. de la Santa LG, Retortillo JA, Miguel AC, Klein LM. Radiology of pancreatic neoplasms: An update. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2014;6(9):330-43. Epub 2014/09/19. doi: 10.4251/wjgo.v6.i9.330. PubMed PMID: 25232458; PMCID: Pmc4163731.

21. Stathis A, Moore MJ. Advanced pancreatic carcinoma: current treatment and future challenges. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2010;7(3):163-72. Epub 2010/01/27. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2009.236. PubMed PMID: 20101258.

22. Hackert T, Buchler MW. Pancreatic cancer: advances in treatment, results and limitations. Dig Dis. 2013;31(1):51-6. Epub 2013/06/26. doi: 10.1159/000347178. PubMed PMID: 23797123.

23. Paulson AS, Tran Cao HS, Tempero MA, Lowy AM. Therapeutic advances in pancreatic cancer. Gastroenterology. 2013;144(6):1316-26. Epub 2013/04/30. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.01.078. PubMed PMID: 23622141.



24. Lutz ER, Wu AA, Bigelow E, Sharma R, Mo G, Soares K, Solt S, Dorman A, Wamwea A, Yager A, Laheru D, Wolfgang CL, Wang J, Hruban RH, Anders RA, Jaffee EM, Zheng L. Immunotherapy converts nonimmunogenic pancreatic tumors into immunogenic foci of immune regulation. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(7):616-31. Epub 2014/06/20. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.cir-14-0027. PubMed PMID: 24942756; PMCID: Pmc4082460.

25. Topfer K, Kempe S, Muller N, Schmitz M, Bachmann M, Cartellieri M, Schackert G, Temme A. Tumor evasion from T cell surveillance. J Biomed Biotechnol. 2011;2011:918471. Epub 2011/12/23. doi: 10.1155/2011/918471. PubMed PMID: 22190859; PMCID: Pmc3228689.

26. Sideras K, Braat H, Kwekkeboom J, van Eijck CH, Peppelenbosch MP, Sleijfer S, Bruno M. Role of the immune system in pancreatic cancer progression and immune modulating treatment strategies. Cancer Treat Rev. 2014;40(4):513-22. Epub 2013/12/10. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2013.11.005. PubMed PMID: 24315741.

 Ikemoto T, Yamaguchi T, Morine Y, Imura S, Soejima Y, Fujii M, Maekawa Y, Yasutomo K, Shimada M. Clinical roles of increased populations of Foxp3+CD4+ T cells in peripheral blood from advanced pancreatic cancer patients. Pancreas.
 2006;33(4):386-90. Epub 2006/11/03. doi: 10.1097/01.mpa.0000240275.68279.13.
 PubMed PMID: 17079944.

28. Hiraoka N, Onozato K, Kosuge T, Hirohashi S. Prevalence of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells increases during the progression of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma and its premalignant lesions. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(18):5423-34. Epub 2006/09/27. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-06-0369. PubMed PMID: 17000676.



Yamamoto T, Yanagimoto H, Satoi S, Toyokawa H, Hirooka S, Yamaki S, Yui R,
Yamao J, Kim S, Kwon AH. Circulating CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with
pancreatic cancer. Pancreas. 2012;41(3):409-15. doi:
10.1097/MPA.0b013e3182373a66. PubMed PMID: 22158072.

30. Shen Z, Zhou S, Wang Y, Li RL, Zhong C, Liang C, Sun Y. Higher intratumoral infiltrated Foxp3+ Treg numbers and Foxp3+/CD8+ ratio are associated with adverse prognosis in resectable gastric cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2010;136(10):1585-95. Epub 2010/03/12. doi: 10.1007/s00432-010-0816-9. PubMed PMID: 20221835.

31. Brahmer JR, Drake CG, Wollner I, Powderly JD, Picus J, Sharfman WH, Stankevich E, Pons A, Salay TM, McMiller TL, Gilson MM, Wang C, Selby M, Taube JM, Anders R, Chen L, Korman AJ, Pardoll DM, Lowy I, Topalian SL. Phase I study of single-agent anti-programmed death-1 (MDX-1106) in refractory solid tumors: safety, clinical activity, pharmacodynamics, and immunologic correlates. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(19):3167-75. Epub 2010/06/03. doi: 10.1200/jco.2009.26.7609. PubMed PMID: 20516446.

32. Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, Drake CG, Camacho LH, Kauh J, Odunsi K, Pitot HC, Hamid O, Bhatia S, Martins R, Eaton K, Chen S, Salay TM, Alaparthy S, Grosso JF, Korman AJ, Parker SM, Agrawal S, Goldberg SM, Pardoll DM, Gupta A, Wigginton JM. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2455-65. Epub 2012/06/05. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200694. PubMed PMID: 22658128; PMCID: Pmc3563263.



33. Royal RE, Levy C, Turner K, Mathur A, Hughes M, Kammula US, Sherry RM,
Topalian SL, Yang JC, Lowy I, Rosenberg SA. Phase 2 trial of single agent Ipilimumab
(anti-CTLA-4) for locally advanced or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J
Immunother. 2010;33(8):828-33. Epub 2010/09/16. doi:
10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181eec14c. PubMed PMID: 20842054.

34. Undi RB, Kandi R, Gutti RK. MicroRNAs as Haematopoiesis Regulators. Adv Hematol. 2013;2013:695754. Epub 2014/01/24. doi: 10.1155/2013/695754. PubMed PMID: 24454381; PMCID: Pmc3884629.

35. John LB, Ward AC. The Ikaros gene family: transcriptional regulators of hematopoiesis and immunity. Mol Immunol. 2011;48(9-10):1272-8. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2011.03.006. PubMed PMID: 21477865.

36. Fiedler KF, Brunner C. Hematology - Science and Practice. Mechanisms controlling hematopoiesis: InTech; 2012. p. 3-46.

Jagannathan-Bogdan M, Zon LI. Hematopoiesis. Development.
 2013;140(12):2463-7. Epub 2013/05/30. doi: 10.1242/dev.083147. PubMed PMID:
 23715539; PMCID: Pmc3666375.

38. Sprent J. Antigen-presenting cells. Professionals and amateurs. Curr Biol. 1995;5(10):1095-7. PubMed PMID: 8548275.

39. Kambayashi T, Laufer TM. Atypical MHC class II-expressing antigen-presenting cells: can anything replace a dendritic cell? Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(11):719-30. doi: 10.1038/nri3754. PubMed PMID: 25324123.

40. Mellman I, Turley SJ, Steinman RM. Antigen processing for amateurs and professionals. Trends Cell Biol. 1998;8(6):231-7. PubMed PMID: 9695847.



41. Smith-Garvin JE, Koretzky GA, Jordan MS. T cell activation. Annu Rev Immunol.
2009;27:591-619. Epub 2009/01/10. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132706.
PubMed PMID: 19132916; PMCID: Pmc2740335.

42. Perica K, De León Medero A, Durai M, Chiu YL, Bieler JG, Sibener L, Niemöller M, Assenmacher M, Richter A, Edidin M, Oelke M, Schneck J. Nanoscale artificial antigen presenting cells for T cell immunotherapy. Nanomedicine. 2014;10(1):119-29. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2013.06.015. PubMed PMID: 23891987; PMCID: PMC4114774.

43. Li S, Symonds AL, Miao T, Sanderson I, Wang P. Modulation of antigen-specific T-cells as immune therapy for chronic infectious diseases and cancer. Front Immunol. 2014;5:293. Epub 2014/07/06. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00293. PubMed PMID: 24987395; PMCID: Pmc4060297.

44. Ellmeier W, Sawada S, Littman DR. The regulation of CD4 and CD8 coreceptor gene expression during T cell development. Annu Rev Immunol. 1999;17:523-54. Epub 1999/06/08. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.523. PubMed PMID: 10358767.

45. Geginat J, Paroni M, Facciotti F, Gruarin P, Kastirr I, Caprioli F, Pagani M, Abrignani S. The CD4-centered universe of human T cell subsets. Semin Immunol. 2013;25(4):252-62. Epub 2013/11/05. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2013.10.012. PubMed PMID: 24183700.

46. Koebel CM, Vermi W, Swann JB, Zerafa N, Rodig SJ, Old LJ, Smyth MJ, Schreiber RD. Adaptive immunity maintains occult cancer in an equilibrium state. Nature. 2007;450(7171):903-7. Epub 2007/11/21. doi: 10.1038/nature06309. PubMed PMID: 18026089.



47. Kershaw MH, Westwood JA, Darcy PK. Gene-engineered T cells for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13(8):525-41. Epub 2013/07/25. doi: 10.1038/nrc3565. PubMed PMID: 23880905.

48. Lai Y-P, Jeng C-J, Chen S-C. The Roles of CD4+ T Cells in Tumor Immunity. Immunology2011. p. 6 pages.

49. Wieczorek A, Uharek L. Genetically modified T cells for the treatment of malignant disease. Transfus Med Hemother. 2013;40(6):388-402. Epub 2014/01/30. doi: 10.1159/000357163. PubMed PMID: 24474888; PMCID: Pmc3901623.

50. Smith E, Sigvardsson M. The roles of transcription factors in B lymphocyte commitment, development, and transformation. J Leukoc Biol. 2004;75(6):973-81. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1103554. PubMed PMID: 14982952.

51. Bourgeois C, Veiga-Fernandes H, Joret AM, Rocha B, Tanchot C. CD8 lethargy in the absence of CD4 help. Eur J Immunol. 2002;32(8):2199-207. Epub 2002/09/05. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200208)32:8<2199::aid-immu2199>3.0.co;2-I. PubMed PMID: 12209632.

52. Marzo AL, Kinnear BF, Lake RA, Frelinger JJ, Collins EJ, Robinson BW, Scott B. Tumor-specific CD4+ T cells have a major "post-licensing" role in CTL mediated antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 2000;165(11):6047-55. Epub 2000/11/22. PubMed PMID: 11086036.

53. Ossendorp F, Mengede E, Camps M, Filius R, Melief CJ. Specific T helper cell requirement for optimal induction of cytotoxic T lymphocytes against major histocompatibility complex class II negative tumors. J Exp Med. 1998;187(5):693-702. Epub 1998/03/28. PubMed PMID: 9480979; PMCID: Pmc2212165.



54. Quezada SA, Simpson TR, Peggs KS, Merghoub T, Vider J, Fan X, Blasberg R, Yagita H, Muranski P, Antony PA, Restifo NP, Allison JP. Tumor-reactive CD4(+) T cells develop cytotoxic activity and eradicate large established melanoma after transfer into lymphopenic hosts. J Exp Med. 2010;207(3):637-50. Epub 2010/02/17. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091918. PubMed PMID: 20156971; PMCID: Pmc2839156.

55. Brown DM. Cytolytic CD4 cells: Direct mediators in infectious disease and malignancy. Cell Immunol. 2010;262(2):89-95. Epub 2010/03/20. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2010.02.008. PubMed PMID: 20236628; PMCID: Pmc2874968.

56. Qin Z, Blankenstein T. CD4+ T cell--mediated tumor rejection involves inhibition of angiogenesis that is dependent on IFN gamma receptor expression by nonhematopoietic cells. Immunity. 2000;12(6):677-86. Epub 2000/07/14. PubMed PMID: 10894167.

57. Fransen L, Van der Heyden J, Ruysschaert R, Fiers W. Recombinant tumor necrosis factor: its effect and its synergism with interferon-gamma on a variety of normal and transformed human cell lines. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol. 1986;22(4):419-26. Epub 1986/04/01. PubMed PMID: 3089802.

58. Shevach EM. CD4+ CD25+ suppressor T cells: more questions than answers. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002;2(6):389-400. Epub 2002/07/03. doi: 10.1038/nri821. PubMed PMID: 12093005.

59. Kim HJ, Cantor H. CD4 T-cell subsets and tumor immunity: the helpful and the not-so-helpful. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(2):91-8. Epub 2014/04/30. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.cir-13-0216. PubMed PMID: 24778273.



60. Korn T, Bettelli E, Gao W, Awasthi A, Jager A, Strom TB, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory T(H)17 cells. Nature. 2007;448(7152):484-7. Epub 2007/06/22. doi: 10.1038/nature05970. PubMed PMID: 17581588; PMCID: Pmc3805028.

 Comber JD, Philip R. MHC class I antigen presentation and implications for developing a new generation of therapeutic vaccines. Ther Adv Vaccines. 2014;2(3):77-89. Epub 2014/05/03. doi: 10.1177/2051013614525375. PubMed PMID: 24790732; PMCID: Pmc3991156.

Haring JS, Badovinac VP, Harty JT. Inflaming the CD8+ T cell response.
 Immunity. 2006;25(1):19-29. Epub 2006/07/25. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2006.07.001.
 PubMed PMID: 16860754.

Klebanoff CA, Gattinoni L, Restifo NP. CD8+ T-cell memory in tumor immunology and immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2006;211:214-24. Epub 2006/07/11. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00391.x. PubMed PMID: 16824130; PMCID: Pmc1501075.

64. Danke NA, Koelle DM, Yee C, Beheray S, Kwok WW. Autoreactive T cells in healthy individuals. J Immunol. 2004;172(10):5967-72. Epub 2004/05/07. PubMed PMID: 15128778.

 Huseby ES, Liggitt D, Brabb T, Schnabel B, Ohlen C, Goverman J. A pathogenic role for myelin-specific CD8(+) T cells in a model for multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med.
 2001;194(5):669-76. Epub 2001/09/06. PubMed PMID: 11535634; PMCID: Pmc2195947.



66. Lo D, Burkly LC, Widera G, Cowing C, Flavell RA, Palmiter RD, Brinster RL. Diabetes and tolerance in transgenic mice expressing class II MHC molecules in pancreatic beta cells. Cell. 1988;53(1):159-68. Epub 1988/04/08. PubMed PMID: 2964908.

67. Morahan G, Allison J, Miller JF. Tolerance of class I histocompatibility antigens expressed extrathymically. Nature. 1989;339(6226):622-4. Epub 1989/06/22. doi: 10.1038/339622a0. PubMed PMID: 2786608.

68. Ohlen C, Kalos M, Cheng LE, Shur AC, Hong DJ, Carson BD, Kokot NC, Lerner CG, Sather BD, Huseby ES, Greenberg PD. CD8(+) T cell tolerance to a tumorassociated antigen is maintained at the level of expansion rather than effector function. J Exp Med. 2002;195(11):1407-18. Epub 2002/06/05. PubMed PMID: 12045239; PMCID: Pmc2193546.

69. Steinman L. Myelin-specific CD8 T cells in the pathogenesis of experimental allergic encephalitis and multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med. 2001;194(5):F27-30. Epub 2001/09/06. PubMed PMID: 11535639; PMCID: Pmc2195937.

70. Pardoll D. Does the immune system see tumors as foreign or self? Annu Rev
Immunol. 2003;21:807-39. Epub 2003/03/05. doi:
10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141135. PubMed PMID: 12615893.

71. Jr JC, P T, Walport M ea. Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease. 5th ed. New York: Garland Science; 2001.; 2001.



72. Liyanage UK, Moore TT, Joo HG, Tanaka Y, Herrmann V, Doherty G, Drebin JA, Strasberg SM, Eberlein TJ, Goedegebuure PS, Linehan DC. Prevalence of regulatory T cells is increased in peripheral blood and tumor microenvironment of patients with pancreas or breast adenocarcinoma. J Immunol. 2002;169(5):2756-61. Epub 2002/08/24. PubMed PMID: 12193750.

73. Shevach EM. Biological functions of regulatory T cells. Adv Immunol.
2011;112:137-76. Epub 2011/11/29. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-387827-4.00004-8.
PubMed PMID: 22118408.

74. Wu Y, Borde M, Heissmeyer V, Feuerer M, Lapan AD, Stroud JC, Bates DL, Guo L, Han A, Ziegler SF, Mathis D, Benoist C, Chen L, Rao A. FOXP3 controls regulatory T cell function through cooperation with NFAT. Cell. 2006;126(2):375-87. Epub 2006/07/29. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.042. PubMed PMID: 16873067.

75. Wang HY, Lee DA, Peng G, Guo Z, Li Y, Kiniwa Y, Shevach EM, Wang RF. Tumor-specific human CD4+ regulatory T cells and their ligands: implications for immunotherapy. Immunity. 2004;20(1):107-18. Epub 2004/01/24. PubMed PMID: 14738769.

76. Zou W. Regulatory T cells, tumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(4):295-307. Epub 2006/03/25. doi: 10.1038/nri1806. PubMed PMID: 16557261.

77. Murakami M, Sakamoto A, Bender J, Kappler J, Marrack P. CD25+CD4+ T cells contribute to the control of memory CD8+ T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(13):8832-7. Epub 2002/06/27. doi: 10.1073/pnas.132254399. PubMed PMID: 12084927; PMCID: Pmc124384.



78. Suvas S, Kumaraguru U, Pack CD, Lee S, Rouse BT. CD4+CD25+ T cells regulate virus-specific primary and memory CD8+ T cell responses. J Exp Med. 2003;198(6):889-901. Epub 2003/09/17. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030171. PubMed PMID: 12975455; PMCID: Pmc2194203.

79. Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda M. Immunologic selftolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. J Immunol. 1995;155(3):1151-64. Epub 1995/08/01. PubMed PMID: 7636184. 80. Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2003;4(4):330-6. Epub 2003/03/04. doi: 10.1038/ni904. PubMed PMID: 12612578.

81. Hori S, Takahashi T, Sakaguchi S. Control of autoimmunity by naturally arising regulatory CD4+ T cells. Adv Immunol. 2003;81:331-71. Epub 2004/01/09. PubMed PMID: 14711059.

82. Hill JA, Feuerer M, Tash K, Haxhinasto S, Perez J, Melamed R, Mathis D, Benoist C. Foxp3 transcription-factor-dependent and -independent regulation of the regulatory T cell transcriptional signature. Immunity. 2007;27(5):786-800. Epub 2007/11/21. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.09.010. PubMed PMID: 18024188.

83. Zheng Y, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 in control of the regulatory T cell lineage. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(5):457-62. Epub 2007/04/19. doi: 10.1038/ni1455. PubMed PMID: 17440451.



84. Marson A, Kretschmer K, Frampton GM, Jacobsen ES, Polansky JK, MacIsaac KD, Levine SS, Fraenkel E, von Boehmer H, Young RA. Foxp3 occupancy and regulation of key target genes during T-cell stimulation. Nature. 2007;445(7130):931-5. Epub 2007/01/24. doi: 10.1038/nature05478. PubMed PMID: 17237765; PMCID: Pmc3008159.

85. Fallarino F, Grohmann U, Hwang KW, Orabona C, Vacca C, Bianchi R, Belladonna ML, Fioretti MC, Alegre ML, Puccetti P. Modulation of tryptophan catabolism by regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2003;4(12):1206-12. Epub 2003/10/28. doi: 10.1038/ni1003. PubMed PMID: 14578884.

Mellor AL, Munn DH. IDO expression by dendritic cells: tolerance and tryptophan catabolism. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(10):762-74. Epub 2004/10/02. doi: 10.1038/nri1457. PubMed PMID: 15459668.

87. Hawrylowicz CM, O'Garra A. Potential role of interleukin-10-secreting regulatory
T cells in allergy and asthma. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5(4):271-83. Epub 2005/03/19.
doi: 10.1038/nri1589. PubMed PMID: 15775993.

88. Annacker O, Asseman C, Read S, Powrie F. Interleukin-10 in the regulation of T cell-induced colitis. J Autoimmun. 2003;20(4):277-9. Epub 2003/06/07. PubMed PMID: 12791312.

89. Cao X, Cai SF, Fehniger TA, Song J, Collins LI, Piwnica-Worms DR, Ley TJ. Granzyme B and perforin are important for regulatory T cell-mediated suppression of tumor clearance. Immunity. 2007;27(4):635-46. Epub 2007/10/09. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.08.014. PubMed PMID: 17919943.



90. Bopp T, Becker C, Klein M, Klein-Hessling S, Palmetshofer A, Serfling E, Heib V, Becker M, Kubach J, Schmitt S, Stoll S, Schild H, Staege MS, Stassen M, Jonuleit H, Schmitt E. Cyclic adenosine monophosphate is a key component of regulatory T cellmediated suppression. J Exp Med. 2007;204(6):1303-10. Epub 2007/05/16. doi: 10.1084/jem.20062129. PubMed PMID: 17502663; PMCID: Pmc2118605.

91. Thornton AM, Donovan EE, Piccirillo CA, Shevach EM. Cutting edge: IL-2 is critically required for the in vitro activation of CD4+CD25+ T cell suppressor function. J Immunol. 2004;172(11):6519-23. Epub 2004/05/22. PubMed PMID: 15153463.

92. Horwitz DA, Zheng SG, Gray JD. The role of the combination of IL-2 and TGFbeta or IL-10 in the generation and function of CD4+ CD25+ and CD8+ regulatory T cell subsets. J Leukoc Biol. 2003;74(4):471-8. Epub 2003/10/02. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0503228. PubMed PMID: 14519757.

93. Kawakami Y, Yaguchi T, Sumimoto H, Kudo-Saito C, Iwata-Kajihara T, Nakamura S, Tsujikawa T, Park JH, Popivanova BK, Miyazaki J, Kawamura N. Improvement of cancer immunotherapy by combining molecular targeted therapy. Front Oncol. 2013;3:136. Epub 2013/06/12. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2013.00136. PubMed PMID: 23755373; PMCID: Pmc3664832.

94. Zheng R, Blobel GA. GATA Transcription Factors and Cancer. Genes Cancer.
2010;1(12):1178-88. Epub 2011/07/23. doi: 10.1177/1947601911404223. PubMed
PMID: 21779441; PMCID: Pmc3092280.

95. Sive JI, Gottgens B. Transcriptional network control of normal and leukaemic haematopoiesis. Exp Cell Res. 2014. Epub 2014/07/12. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.06.021. PubMed PMID: 25014893.



96. Fiedler K, Brunner C. Mechanisms Controlling Hematopoiesis. Hematology -Science and Practice: InTech; 2012. 3-46 p.

97. Georgopoulos K. Transcription factors required for lymphoid lineage commitment. Curr Opin Immunol. 1997;9(2):222-7. PubMed PMID: 9099800.

98. Westman BJ, Mackay JP, Gell D. Ikaros: a key regulator of haematopoiesis. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2002;34(10):1304-7. PubMed PMID: 12127581.

99. John LB, Yoong S, Ward AC. Evolution of the Ikaros gene family: implications for the origins of adaptive immunity. J Immunol. 2009;182(8):4792-9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0802372. PubMed PMID: 19342657.

100. Molnár A, Wu P, Largespada DA, Vortkamp A, Scherer S, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Bruns G, Georgopoulos K. The Ikaros gene encodes a family of lymphocyterestricted zinc finger DNA binding proteins, highly conserved in human and mouse. J Immunol. 1996;156(2):585-92. PubMed PMID: 8543809.

101. Rebollo A, Schmitt C. Ikaros, Aiolos and Helios: transcription regulators and lymphoid malignancies. Immunol Cell Biol. 2003;81(3):171-5. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1711.2003.01159.x. PubMed PMID: 12752680.

102. Papatriantafyllou M. Two versions of the Ikaros tale. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(11):772-3. doi: 10.1038/nri3550. PubMed PMID: 24096335.

103. Payne KJ, Dovat S. Ikaros and tumor suppression in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Crit Rev Oncog. 2011;16(1-2):3-12. PubMed PMID: 22150303; PMCID: PMC3243972.



104. Sun L, Liu A, Georgopoulos K. Zinc finger-mediated protein interactions modulate lkaros activity, a molecular control of lymphocyte development. EMBO J. 1996;15(19):5358-69. PubMed PMID: 8895580; PMCID: PMC452279.

105. Georgopoulos K, Bigby M, Wang JH, Molnar A, Wu P, Winandy S, Sharpe A. The Ikaros gene is required for the development of all lymphoid lineages. Cell. 1994;79(1):143-56. PubMed PMID: 7923373.

106. Molnár A, Georgopoulos K. The Ikaros gene encodes a family of functionally diverse zinc finger DNA-binding proteins. Mol Cell Biol. 1994;14(12):8292-303. PubMed PMID: 7969165; PMCID: PMC359368.

107. Perdomo J, Holmes M, Chong B, Crossley M. Eos and pegasus, two members of the Ikaros family of proteins with distinct DNA binding activities. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(49):38347-54. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M005457200. PubMed PMID: 10978333.

108. Georgopoulos K, Moore DD, Derfler B. Ikaros, an early lymphoid-specific transcription factor and a putative mediator for T cell commitment. Science. 1992;258(5083):808-12. PubMed PMID: 1439790.

109. Georgopoulos K, Winandy S, Avitahl N. The role of the Ikaros gene in lymphocyte development and homeostasis. Annu Rev Immunol. 1997;15:155-76. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.15.1.155. PubMed PMID: 9143685.

110. Morgan B, Sun L, Avitahl N, Andrikopoulos K, Ikeda T, Gonzales E, Wu P, Neben S, Georgopoulos K. Aiolos, a lymphoid restricted transcription factor that interacts with Ikaros to regulate lymphocyte differentiation. EMBO J. 1997;16(8):2004-13. doi: 10.1093/emboj/16.8.2004. PubMed PMID: 9155026; PMCID: PMC1169803.



111. Wang JH, Nichogiannopoulou A, Wu L, Sun L, Sharpe AH, Bigby M, Georgopoulos K. Selective defects in the development of the fetal and adult lymphoid system in mice with an Ikaros null mutation. Immunity. 1996;5(6):537-49. PubMed PMID: 8986714.

112. Nichogiannopoulou A, Trevisan M, Friedrich C, Georgopoulos K. Ikaros in hemopoietic lineage determination and homeostasis. Semin Immunol. 1998;10(2):119-25. doi: 10.1006/smim.1998.0113. PubMed PMID: 9618757.

113. Kirstetter P, Thomas M, Dierich A, Kastner P, Chan S. Ikaros is critical for B cell differentiation and function. Eur J Immunol. 2002;32(3):720-30. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200203)32:3<720::AID-IMMU720>3.0.CO;2-P. PubMed PMID: 11870616.

114. Schmitt C, Tonnelle C, Dalloul A, Chabannon C, Debré P, Rebollo A. Aiolos and Ikaros: regulators of lymphocyte development, homeostasis and lymphoproliferation. Apoptosis. 2002;7(3):277-84. PubMed PMID: 11997672.

115. Tonnelle C, Calmels B, Maroc C, Gabert J, Chabannon C. Ikaros gene expression and leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2002;43(1):29-35. doi: 10.1080/10428190210186. PubMed PMID: 11908734.

116. Winandy S, Wu P, Georgopoulos K. A dominant mutation in the Ikaros gene leads to rapid development of leukemia and lymphoma. Cell. 1995;83(2):289-99. PubMed PMID: 7585946.



117. Schjerven H, McLaughlin J, Arenzana TL, Frietze S, Cheng D, Wadsworth SE, Lawson GW, Bensinger SJ, Farnham PJ, Witte ON, Smale ST. Selective regulation of lymphopoiesis and leukemogenesis by individual zinc fingers of lkaros. Nat Immunol. 2013;14(10):1073-83. doi: 10.1038/ni.2707. PubMed PMID: 24013668; PMCID: PMC3800053.

118. Cobb BS, Morales-Alcelay S, Kleiger G, Brown KE, Fisher AG, Smale ST. Targeting of Ikaros to pericentromeric heterochromatin by direct DNA binding. Genes Dev. 2000;14(17):2146-60. PubMed PMID: 10970879; PMCID: PMC316893.

119. Koipally J, Georgopoulos K. A molecular dissection of the repression circuitry of Ikaros. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(31):27697-705. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M201694200. PubMed PMID: 12015313.

120. Kelley CM, Ikeda T, Koipally J, Avitahl N, Wu L, Georgopoulos K, Morgan BA. Helios, a novel dimerization partner of Ikaros expressed in the earliest hematopoietic progenitors. Curr Biol. 1998;8(9):508-15. PubMed PMID: 9560339.

121. Klug CA, Morrison SJ, Masek M, Hahm K, Smale ST, Weissman IL. Hematopoietic stem cells and lymphoid progenitors express different lkaros isoforms, and lkaros is localized to heterochromatin in immature lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(2):657-62. PubMed PMID: 9435248; PMCID: PMC18476.

122. Kaufmann C, Yoshida T, Perotti EA, Landhuis E, Wu P, Georgopoulos K. A complex network of regulatory elements in Ikaros and their activity during hemolymphopoiesis. EMBO J. 2003;22(9):2211-23. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg186. PubMed PMID: 12727887; PMCID: PMC156063.



123. Qazi S, Ma H, Uckun FM. Absence of Genomic Ikaros/IKZF1 Deletions in Pediatric B-Precursor Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Int J Mol Med Sci. 2013;3(9):72-82. doi: 10.5376/ijmms.2013.03.0009. PubMed PMID: 24478816; PMCID: PMC3902699.

124. Qazi S, Uckun FM. Incidence and biological significance of IKZF1/Ikaros gene deletions in pediatric Philadelphia chromosome negative and Philadelphia chromosome positive B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2013;98(12):e151-2. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2013.091140. PubMed PMID: 24323986; PMCID: PMC3856976.

125. Zhou F, Xu Y, Qiu Y, Wu X, Zhang Z, Jin R. Ik6 expression provides a new strategy for the therapy of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Oncol Rep. 2014;31(3):1373-9. doi: 10.3892/or.2014.2969. PubMed PMID: 24402122.

126. Clappier E, Auclerc MF, Rapion J, Bakkus M, Caye A, Khemiri A, Giroux C, Hernandez L, Kabongo E, Savola S, Leblanc T, Yakouben K, Plat G, Costa V, Ferster A, Girard S, Fenneteau O, Cayuela JM, Sigaux F, Dastugue N, Suciu S, Benoit Y, Bertrand Y, Soulier J, Cavé H. An intragenic ERG deletion is a marker of an oncogenic subtype of B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia with a favorable outcome despite frequent IKZF1 deletions. Leukemia. 2014;28(1):70-7. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.277. PubMed PMID: 24064621.



127. Nakayama H, Ishimaru F, Avitahl N, Sezaki N, Fujii N, Nakase K, Ninomiya Y, Harashima A, Minowada J, Tsuchiyama J, Imajoh K, Tsubota T, Fukuda S, Sezaki T, Kojima K, Hara M, Takimoto H, Yorimitsu S, Takahashi I, Miyata A, Taniguchi S, Tokunaga Y, Gondo H, Niho Y, Harada M. Decreases in Ikaros activity correlate with blast crisis in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia. Cancer Res. 1999;59(16):3931-4. PubMed PMID: 10463586.

128. Nakase K, Ishimaru F, Avitahl N, Dansako H, Matsuo K, Fujii K, Sezaki N, Nakayama H, Yano T, Fukuda S, Imajoh K, Takeuchi M, Miyata A, Hara M, Yasukawa M, Takahashi I, Taguchi H, Matsue K, Nakao S, Niho Y, Takenaka K, Shinagawa K, Ikeda K, Niiya K, Harada M. Dominant negative isoform of the Ikaros gene in patients with adult B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer Res. 2000;60(15):4062-5. PubMed PMID: 10945610.

129. Antica M, Cicin-Sain L, Sain LC, Kapitanovic S, Matulic M, Dzebro S, Dominis M. Aberrant Ikaros, Aiolos, and Helios expression in Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood. 2008;111(6):3296-7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-12-125682. PubMed PMID: 18332232.

130. Orozco CA, Acevedo A, Cortina L, Cuellar GE, Duarte M, Martín L, Mesa NM, Muñoz J, Portilla CA, Quijano SM, Quintero G, Rodriguez M, Saavedra CE, Groot H, Torres MM, López-Segura V. The combined expression patterns of Ikaros isoforms characterize different hematological tumor subtypes. PLoS One. 2013;8(12):e82411. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082411. PubMed PMID: 24324784; PMCID: PMC3855751.



131. Yang L, Luo Y, Wei J. Integrative genomic analyses on Ikaros and its expression related to solid cancer prognosis. Oncol Rep. 2010;24(2):571-7. PubMed PMID: 20596648.

132. Frisch SM, Schaller MD. The wind god promotes lung cancer. Cancer Cell. 2014;25(5):551-2. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.04.022. PubMed PMID: 24823631.

133. Zhang Z, Xu Z, Wang X, Wang H, Yao Z, Mu Y, Ma Z, Liu Z. Ectopic Ikaros expression positively correlates with lung cancer progression. Anat Rec (Hoboken). 2013;296(6):907-13. doi: 10.1002/ar.22700. PubMed PMID: 23580163.

134. Ng SY, Yoshida T, Georgopoulos K. Ikaros and chromatin regulation in early hematopoiesis. Curr Opin Immunol. 2007;19(2):116-22. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2007.02.014. PubMed PMID: 17307348.

135. Brown KE, Guest SS, Smale ST, Hahm K, Merkenschlager M, Fisher AG. Association of transcriptionally silent genes with Ikaros complexes at centromeric heterochromatin. Cell. 1997;91(6):845-54. PubMed PMID: 9413993.

136. Hahm K, Cobb BS, McCarty AS, Brown KE, Klug CA, Lee R, Akashi K, Weissman IL, Fisher AG, Smale ST. Helios, a T cell-restricted Ikaros family member that quantitatively associates with Ikaros at centromeric heterochromatin. Genes Dev. 1998;12(6):782-96. PubMed PMID: 9512513; PMCID: PMC316626.

137. Kim J, Sif S, Jones B, Jackson A, Koipally J, Heller E, Winandy S, Viel A, Sawyer A, Ikeda T, Kingston R, Georgopoulos K. Ikaros DNA-binding proteins direct formation of chromatin remodeling complexes in lymphocytes. Immunity. 1999;10(3):345-55. PubMed PMID: 10204490.



138. Koipally J, Georgopoulos K. Ikaros-CtIP interactions do not require C-terminal binding protein and participate in a deacetylase-independent mode of repression. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(26):23143-9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M202079200. PubMed PMID: 11959865.

139. Gómez-del Arco P, Naito T, Seavitt J, Yoshida T, Williams C, Georgopoulos K. The Role of the Ikaros Gene Family in Lymphocyte Development. In: Iuchi S, Kuldell N, editors. Zinc Finger Proteins: Springer US; 2005. p. 200-6.

140. Urban JA, Winandy S. Ikaros null mice display defects in T cell selection and CD4 versus CD8 lineage decisions. J Immunol. 2004;173(7):4470-8. PubMed PMID: 15383578.

141. Urban JA, Brugmann W, Winandy S. Cutting Edge: Ikaros null thymocytes mature into the CD4 lineage with reduced TCR signal: A study using CD3{zeta} immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif transgenic mice. J Immunol. 2009;182(7):3955-9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0802869. PubMed PMID: 19299690; PMCID: PMC2777666.

142. Trinh LA, Ferrini R, Cobb BS, Weinmann AS, Hahm K, Ernst P, Garraway IP, Merkenschlager M, Smale ST. Down-regulation of TDT transcription in CD4(+)CD8(+) thymocytes by Ikaros proteins in direct competition with an Ets activator. Genes Dev. 2001;15(14):1817-32. doi: 10.1101/gad.905601. PubMed PMID: 11459831; PMCID: PMC312741.


143. Naito T, Gómez-Del Arco P, Williams CJ, Georgopoulos K. Antagonistic interactions between Ikaros and the chromatin remodeler Mi-2beta determine silencer activity and Cd4 gene expression. Immunity. 2007;27(5):723-34. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.09.008. PubMed PMID: 17980631.

144. Harker N, Naito T, Cortes M, Hostert A, Hirschberg S, Tolaini M, Roderick K, Georgopoulos K, Kioussis D. The CD8alpha gene locus is regulated by the Ikaros family of proteins. Mol Cell. 2002;10(6):1403-15. PubMed PMID: 12504015.

145. Avitahl N, Winandy S, Friedrich C, Jones B, Ge Y, Georgopoulos K. Ikaros sets thresholds for T cell activation and regulates chromosome propagation. Immunity. 1999;10(3):333-43. PubMed PMID: 10204489.

146. Bandyopadhyay S, Duré M, Paroder M, Soto-Nieves N, Puga I, Macián F. Interleukin 2 gene transcription is regulated by Ikaros-induced changes in histone acetylation in anergic T cells. Blood. 2007;109(7):2878-86. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-037754. PubMed PMID: 17148585; PMCID: PMC1852212.

147. Thomas RM, Chunder N, Chen C, Umetsu SE, Winandy S, Wells AD. Ikaros enforces the costimulatory requirement for IL2 gene expression and is required for anergy induction in CD4+ T lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2007;179(11):7305-15. PubMed PMID: 18025173.

148. O'Brien S, Thomas RM, Wertheim GB, Zhang F, Shen H, Wells AD. Ikaros imposes a barrier to CD8+ T cell differentiation by restricting autocrine IL-2 production. J Immunol. 2014;192(11):5118-29. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301992. PubMed PMID: 24778448; PMCID: PMC4042307.



149. Umetsu SE, Winandy S. Ikaros is a regulator of II10 expression in CD4+ T cells.
J Immunol. 2009;183(9):5518-25. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901284. PubMed PMID: 19828627; PMCID: PMC2778601.

150. Thomas RM, Chen C, Chunder N, Ma L, Taylor J, Pearce EJ, Wells AD. Ikaros silences T-bet expression and interferon-gamma production during T helper 2 differentiation. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(4):2545-53. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.038794. PubMed PMID: 19923223; PMCID: PMC2807311.

151. Heller JJ, Schjerven H, Li S, Lee A, Qiu J, Chen ZM, Smale ST, Zhou L. Restriction of IL-22-producing T cell responses and differential regulation of regulatory T cell compartments by zinc finger transcription factor Ikaros. J Immunol. 2014;193(8):3934-46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401234. PubMed PMID: 25194055; PMCID: PMC4185244.

152. Wong LY, Hatfield JK, Brown MA. Ikaros sets the potential for Th17 lineage gene expression through effects on chromatin state in early T cell development. J Biol Chem. 2013;288(49):35170-9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.481440. PubMed PMID: 24145030; PMCID: PMC3853268.

153. Yap WH, Yeoh E, Tay A, Brenner S, Venkatesh B. STAT4 is a target of the hematopoietic zinc-finger transcription factor lkaros in T cells. FEBS Lett. 2005;579(20):4470-8. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.07.018. PubMed PMID: 16081070.
154. Quirion MR, Gregory GD, Umetsu SE, Winandy S, Brown MA. Cutting edge: lkaros is a regulator of Th2 cell differentiation. J Immunol. 2009;182(2):741-5. PubMed PMID: 19124715; PMCID: PMC2718557.



155. Chari S, Winandy S. Ikaros regulates Notch target gene expression in developing thymocytes. J Immunol. 2008;181(9):6265-74. PubMed PMID: 18941217; PMCID: PMC2778602.

156. Geimer Le Lay AS, Oravecz A, Mastio J, Jung C, Marchal P, Ebel C, Dembélé D, Jost B, Le Gras S, Thibault C, Borggrefe T, Kastner P, Chan S. The tumor suppressor ikaros shapes the repertoire of notch target genes in T cells. Sci Signal. 2014;7(317):ra28. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004545. PubMed PMID: 24643801.

157. Gómez-del Arco P, Maki K, Georgopoulos K. Phosphorylation controls Ikaros's ability to negatively regulate the G(1)-S transition. Mol Cell Biol. 2004;24(7):2797-807. PubMed PMID: 15024069; PMCID: PMC371126.

158. Gurel Z, Ronni T, Ho S, Kuchar J, Payne KJ, Turk CW, Dovat S. Recruitment of ikaros to pericentromeric heterochromatin is regulated by phosphorylation. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(13):8291-300. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M707906200. PubMed PMID: 18223295; PMCID: PMC2276389.

159. Dovat S, Song C, Payne KJ, Li Z. Ikaros, CK2 kinase, and the road to leukemia. Mol Cell Biochem. 2011;356(1-2):201-7. doi: 10.1007/s11010-011-0964-5. PubMed PMID: 21750978; PMCID: PMC3665334.

160. Uckun FM, Ma H, Zhang J, Ozer Z, Dovat S, Mao C, Ishkhanian R, Goodman P, Qazi S. Serine phosphorylation by SYK is critical for nuclear localization and transcription factor function of Ikaros. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(44):18072-7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1209828109. PubMed PMID: 23071339; PMCID: PMC3497833.



161. Ma H, Qazi S, Ozer Z, Zhang J, Ishkhanian R, Uckun FM. Regulatory phosphorylation of Ikaros by Bruton's tyrosine kinase. PLoS One. 2013;8(8):e71302. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071302. PubMed PMID: 23977012; PMCID: PMC3747153. 162. Gandhi AK, Kang J, Havens CG, Conklin T, Ning Y, Wu L, Ito T, Ando H, Waldman MF, Thakurta A, Klippel A, Handa H, Daniel TO, Schafer PH, Chopra R. Immunomodulatory agents lenalidomide and pomalidomide co-stimulate T cells by inducing degradation of T cell repressors Ikaros and Aiolos via modulation of the E3 ubiquitin ligase complex CRL4(CRBN.). Br J Haematol. 2014;164(6):811-21. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12708. PubMed PMID: 24328678.

163. Krönke J, Udeshi ND, Narla A, Grauman P, Hurst SN, McConkey M, Svinkina T, Heckl D, Comer E, Li X, Ciarlo C, Hartman E, Munshi N, Schenone M, Schreiber SL, Carr SA, Ebert BL. Lenalidomide causes selective degradation of IKZF1 and IKZF3 in multiple myeloma cells. Science. 2014;343(6168):301-5. doi: 10.1126/science.1244851. PubMed PMID: 24292625.

164. Lu G, Middleton RE, Sun H, Naniong M, Ott CJ, Mitsiades CS, Wong KK, Bradner JE, Kaelin WG. The myeloma drug lenalidomide promotes the cereblondependent destruction of Ikaros proteins. Science. 2014;343(6168):305-9. doi: 10.1126/science.1244917. PubMed PMID: 24292623.

165. Gómez-del Arco P, Koipally J, Georgopoulos K. Ikaros SUMOylation: switching out of repression. Mol Cell Biol. 2005;25(7):2688-97. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.7.2688-2697.2005. PubMed PMID: 15767674; PMCID: PMC1061640.

166. Burnett G, Kennedy EP. The enzymatic phosphorylation of proteins. J Biol Chem. 1954;211(2):969-80. Epub 1954/12/01. PubMed PMID: 13221602.



167. Pinna LA, Allende JE. Protein kinase CK2 in health and disease: Protein kinase CK2: an ugly duckling in the kinome pond. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2009;66(11-12):1795-9. doi: 10.1007/s00018-009-9148-9. PubMed PMID: 19387554.

168. Litchfield DW. Protein kinase CK2: structure, regulation and role in cellular decisions of life and death. Biochem J. 2003;369(Pt 1):1-15. doi: 10.1042/BJ20021469. PubMed PMID: 12396231; PMCID: PMC1223072.

169. Allende JE, Allende CC. Protein kinases. 4. Protein kinase CK2: an enzyme with multiple substrates and a puzzling regulation. FASEB J. 1995;9(5):313-23. PubMed PMID: 7896000.

170. Pinna LA. Protein kinase CK2: a challenge to canons. J Cell Sci. 2002;115(Pt 20):3873-8. PubMed PMID: 12244125.

171. Guerra B, Issinger OG. Protein kinase CK2 in human diseases. Curr Med Chem. 2008;15(19):1870-86. PubMed PMID: 18691045.

172. Tawfic S, Yu S, Wang H, Faust R, Davis A, Ahmed K. Protein kinase CK2 signal in neoplasia. Histol Histopathol. 2001;16(2):573-82. PubMed PMID: 11332713.

173. Graham KC, Litchfield DW. The regulatory beta subunit of protein kinase CK2 mediates formation of tetrameric CK2 complexes. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(7):5003-10. PubMed PMID: 10671540.

174. Canton DA, Zhang C, Litchfield DW. Assembly of protein kinase CK2: investigation of complex formation between catalytic and regulatory subunits using a zinc-finger-deficient mutant of CK2beta. Biochem J. 2001;358(Pt 1):87-94. PubMed PMID: 11485555; PMCID: PMC1222035.



175. Bibby AC, Litchfield DW. The multiple personalities of the regulatory subunit of protein kinase CK2: CK2 dependent and CK2 independent roles reveal a secret identity for CK2beta. Int J Biol Sci. 2005;1(2):67-79. PubMed PMID: 15951851; PMCID: PMC1142214.

176. Lou DY, Dominguez I, Toselli P, Landesman-Bollag E, O'Brien C, Seldin DC. The alpha catalytic subunit of protein kinase CK2 is required for mouse embryonic development. Mol Cell Biol. 2008;28(1):131-9. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01119-07. PubMed PMID: 17954558; PMCID: PMC2223292.

177. Buchou T, Vernet M, Blond O, Jensen HH, Pointu H, Olsen BB, Cochet C, Issinger OG, Boldyreff B. Disruption of the regulatory beta subunit of protein kinase CK2 in mice leads to a cell-autonomous defect and early embryonic lethality. Mol Cell Biol. 2003;23(3):908-15. PubMed PMID: 12529396; PMCID: PMC140710.

178. Xu X, Toselli PA, Russell LD, Seldin DC. Globozoospermia in mice lacking the casein kinase II alpha' catalytic subunit. Nat Genet. 1999;23(1):118-21. doi: 10.1038/12729. PubMed PMID: 10471512.

179. Olsten ME, Litchfield DW. Order or chaos? An evaluation of the regulation of protein kinase CK2. Biochem Cell Biol. 2004;82(6):681-93. doi: 10.1139/o04-116. PubMed PMID: 15674436.

180. Meggio F, Pinna LA. One-thousand-and-one substrates of protein kinase CK2? FASEB J. 2003;17(3):349-68. doi: 10.1096/fj.02-0473rev. PubMed PMID: 12631575.

181. Singh NN, Ramji DP. Protein kinase CK2, an important regulator of the inflammatory response? J Mol Med (Berl). 2008;86(8):887-97. doi: 10.1007/s00109-008-0352-0. PubMed PMID: 18437331.



182. Ahmad KA, Wang G, Unger G, Slaton J, Ahmed K. Protein kinase CK2--a key suppressor of apoptosis. Adv Enzyme Regul. 2008;48:179-87. doi: 10.1016/j.advenzreg.2008.04.002. PubMed PMID: 18492491; PMCID: PMC2593134.

183. Ahmed K, Davis AT, Wang H, Faust RA, Yu S, Tawfic S. Significance of protein kinase CK2 nuclear signaling in neoplasia. J Cell Biochem Suppl. 2000;Suppl 35:130-5. PubMed PMID: 11389542.

184. Ahmed K, Gerber DA, Cochet C. Joining the cell survival squad: an emerging role for protein kinase CK2. Trends Cell Biol. 2002;12(5):226-30. PubMed PMID: 12062170.

185. Ahmad KA, Wang G, Slaton J, Unger G, Ahmed K. Targeting CK2 for cancer therapy. Anticancer Drugs. 2005;16(10):1037-43. PubMed PMID: 16222144.

186. Guerra B, Issinger OG. Protein kinase CK2 and its role in cellular proliferation, development and pathology. Electrophoresis. 1999;20(2):391-408. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1522-2683(19990201)20:2<391::AID-ELPS391>3.0.CO;2-N. PubMed PMID: 10197447.

187. Trembley JH, Wang G, Unger G, Slaton J, Ahmed K. Protein kinase CK2 in health and disease: CK2: a key player in cancer biology. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2009;66(11-12):1858-67. doi: 10.1007/s00018-009-9154-y. PubMed PMID: 19387548.

188. Litchfield DW, Lüscher B. Casein kinase II in signal transduction and cell cycle regulation. Mol Cell Biochem. 1993;127-128:187-99. PubMed PMID: 7935350.

189. Ahmed K. Special issue on protein kinase CK2 in health and disease. Preface.Mol Cell Biochem. 2008;316(1-2):1-3. doi: 10.1007/s11010-008-9829-y. PubMed PMID: 18553056.



190. Tawfic S, Faust RA, Gapany M, Ahmed K. Nuclear matrix as an anchor for protein kinase CK2 nuclear signalling. J Cell Biochem. 1996;62(2):165-71. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4644(199608)62:2<165::AID-JCB4>3.0.CO;2-Q. PubMed PMID: 8844396.

191. Guo C, Yu S, Davis AT, Ahmed K. Nuclear matrix targeting of the protein kinase CK2 signal as a common downstream response to androgen or growth factor stimulation of prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res. 1999;59(5):1146-51. PubMed PMID: 10070976.

192. Yu S, Wang H, Davis A, Ahmed K. Consequences of CK2 signaling to the nuclear matrix. Mol Cell Biochem. 2001;227(1-2):67-71. PubMed PMID: 11827176.

193. Zou J, Luo H, Zeng Q, Dong Z, Wu D, Liu L. Protein kinase CK2α is overexpressed in colorectal cancer and modulates cell proliferation and invasion via regulating EMT-related genes. J Transl Med. 2011;9:97. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-9-97. PubMed PMID: 21702981; PMCID: PMC3132712.

194. Channavajhala P, Seldin DC. Functional interaction of protein kinase CK2 and cMyc in lymphomagenesis. Oncogene. 2002;21(34):5280-8. doi:
10.1038/sj.onc.1205640. PubMed PMID: 12149649.

195. Kelliher MA, Seldin DC, Leder P. Tal-1 induces T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia accelerated by casein kinase Ilalpha. EMBO J. 1996;15(19):5160-6. PubMed PMID: 8895560; PMCID: PMC452259.

196. Seldin DC, Leder P. Casein kinase II alpha transgene-induced murine lymphoma: relation to theileriosis in cattle. Science. 1995;267(5199):894-7. PubMed PMID: 7846532.



197. Landesman-Bollag E, Channavajhala PL, Cardiff RD, Seldin DC. p53 deficiency and misexpression of protein kinase CK2alpha collaborate in the development of thymic lymphomas in mice. Oncogene. 1998;16(23):2965-74. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1201854. PubMed PMID: 9662328.

198. Kuiper RP, Schoenmakers EF, van Reijmersdal SV, Hehir-Kwa JY, van Kessel AG, van Leeuwen FN, Hoogerbrugge PM. High-resolution genomic profiling of childhood ALL reveals novel recurrent genetic lesions affecting pathways involved in lymphocyte differentiation and cell cycle progression. Leukemia. 2007;21(6):1258-66. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404691. PubMed PMID: 17443227.

199. Kathrein KL, Lorenz R, Innes AM, Griffiths E, Winandy S. Ikaros induces quiescence and T-cell differentiation in a leukemia cell line. Mol Cell Biol. 2005;25(5):1645-54. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.5.1645-1654.2005. PubMed PMID: 15713624; PMCID: PMC549358.

200. Wojcik H, Griffiths E, Staggs S, Hagman J, Winandy S. Expression of a non-DNA-binding lkaros isoform exclusively in B cells leads to autoimmunity but not leukemogenesis. Eur J Immunol. 2007;37(4):1022-32. doi: 10.1002/eji.200637026. PubMed PMID: 17357110.

201. Pagano MA, Bain J, Kazimierczuk Z, Sarno S, Ruzzene M, Di Maira G, Elliott M, Orzeszko A, Cozza G, Meggio F, Pinna LA. The selectivity of inhibitors of protein kinase CK2: an update. Biochem J. 2008;415(3):353-65. doi: 10.1042/BJ20080309. PubMed PMID: 18588507.



202. Sarno S, de Moliner E, Ruzzene M, Pagano MA, Battistutta R, Bain J, Fabbro D, Schoepfer J, Elliott M, Furet P, Meggio F, Zanotti G, Pinna LA. Biochemical and threedimensional-structural study of the specific inhibition of protein kinase CK2 by [5-oxo-5,6-dihydroindolo-(1,2-a)quinazolin-7-yl]acetic acid (IQA). Biochem J. 2003;374(Pt 3):639-46. doi: 10.1042/BJ20030674. PubMed PMID: 12816539; PMCID: PMC1223641.

203. Zandomeni R, Zandomeni MC, Shugar D, Weinmann R. Casein kinase type II is involved in the inhibition by 5,6-dichloro-1-beta-D-ribofuranosylbenzimidazole of specific RNA polymerase II transcription. J Biol Chem. 1986;261(7):3414-9. PubMed PMID: 3456346.

204. Zhao M, Ma J, Zhu HY, Zhang XH, Du ZY, Xu YJ, Yu XD. Apigenin inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in human multiple myeloma cells through targeting the trinity of CK2, Cdc37 and Hsp90. Mol Cancer. 2011;10:104. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-10-104. PubMed PMID: 21871133; PMCID: PMC3170639.

205. Song DH, Sussman DJ, Seldin DC. Endogenous protein kinase CK2 participates in Wnt signaling in mammary epithelial cells. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(31):23790-7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M909107199. PubMed PMID: 10806215.

206. Lolli G, Pinna LA, Battistutta R. Structural determinants of protein kinase CK2 regulation by autoinhibitory polymerization. ACS Chem Biol. 2012;7(7):1158-63. doi: 10.1021/cb300054n. PubMed PMID: 22506723.



207. Lolli G, Cozza G, Mazzorana M, Tibaldi E, Cesaro L, Donella-Deana A, Meggio F, Venerando A, Franchin C, Sarno S, Battistutta R, Pinna LA. Inhibition of protein kinase CK2 by flavonoids and tyrphostins. A structural insight. Biochemistry. 2012;51(31):6097-107. doi: 10.1021/bi300531c. PubMed PMID: 22794353.

208. Yim H, Lee YH, Lee CH, Lee SK. Emodin, an anthraquinone derivative isolated from the rhizomes of Rheum palmatum, selectively inhibits the activity of casein kinase II as a competitive inhibitor. Planta Med. 1999;65(1):9-13. doi: 10.1055/s-1999-13953. PubMed PMID: 10083837.

209. Sarno S, Reddy H, Meggio F, Ruzzene M, Davies SP, Donella-Deana A, Shugar D, Pinna LA. Selectivity of 4,5,6,7-tetrabromobenzotriazole, an ATP site-directed inhibitor of protein kinase CK2 ('casein kinase-2'). FEBS Lett. 2001;496(1):44-8. PubMed PMID: 11343704.

210. Pagano MA, Meggio F, Ruzzene M, Andrzejewska M, Kazimierczuk Z, Pinna LA. 2-Dimethylamino-4,5,6,7-tetrabromo-1H-benzimidazole: a novel powerful and selective inhibitor of protein kinase CK2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2004;321(4):1040-4. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.07.067. PubMed PMID: 15358133.

211. Mishra S, Pertz V, Zhang B, Kaur P, Shimada H, Groffen J, Kazimierczuk Z, Pinna LA, Heisterkamp N. Treatment of P190 Bcr/Abl lymphoblastic leukemia cells with inhibitors of the serine/threonine kinase CK2. Leukemia. 2007;21(1):178-80. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404460. PubMed PMID: 17082777.



212. Siddiqui-Jain A, Drygin D, Streiner N, Chua P, Pierre F, O'Brien SE, Bliesath J, Omori M, Huser N, Ho C, Proffitt C, Schwaebe MK, Ryckman DM, Rice WG, Anderes K. CX-4945, an orally bioavailable selective inhibitor of protein kinase CK2, inhibits prosurvival and angiogenic signaling and exhibits antitumor efficacy. Cancer Res. 2010;70(24):10288-98. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1893. PubMed PMID: 21159648.

213. Ferguson AD, Sheth PR, Basso AD, Paliwal S, Gray K, Fischmann TO, Le HV. Structural basis of CX-4945 binding to human protein kinase CK2. FEBS Lett. 2011;585(1):104-10. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2010.11.019. PubMed PMID: 21093442.

214. Pierre F, Chua PC, O'Brien SE, Siddiqui-Jain A, Bourbon P, Haddach M, Michaux J, Nagasawa J, Schwaebe MK, Stefan E, Vialettes A, Whitten JP, Chen TK, Darjania L, Stansfield R, Bliesath J, Drygin D, Ho C, Omori M, Proffitt C, Streiner N, Rice WG, Ryckman DM, Anderes K. Pre-clinical characterization of CX-4945, a potent and selective small molecule inhibitor of CK2 for the treatment of cancer. Mol Cell Biochem. 2011;356(1-2):37-43. doi: 10.1007/s11010-011-0956-5. PubMed PMID: 21755459.

215. Armstrong CG, Browne GJ, Cohen P, Cohen PT. PPP1R6, a novel member of the family of glycogen-targetting subunits of protein phosphatase 1. FEBS Lett. 1997;418(1-2):210-4. PubMed PMID: 9414128.

216. Peti W, Nairn AC, Page R. Folding of Intrinsically Disordered Protein Phosphatase 1 Regulatory Proteins. Curr Phys Chem. 2012;2(1):107-14. PubMed PMID: 22866172; PMCID: PMC3409662.



217. Cohen PT. Protein phosphatase 1--targeted in many directions. J Cell Sci. 2002;115(Pt 2):241-56. PubMed PMID: 11839776.

218. Stark MJ. Yeast protein serine/threonine phosphatases: multiple roles and diverse regulation. Yeast. 1996;12(16):1647-75. Epub 1996/12/01. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0061(199612)12:16<1647::AID-YEA71&gt;3.0.CO;2-Q. PubMed PMID: 9123967.

219. Dancheck B, Ragusa MJ, Allaire M, Nairn AC, Page R, Peti W. Molecular investigations of the structure and function of the protein phosphatase 1-spinophilininhibitor 2 heterotrimeric complex. Biochemistry. 2011;50(7):1238-46. doi: 10.1021/bi101774g. PubMed PMID: 21218781; PMCID: PMC3040262.

220. Kelker MS, Page R, Peti W. Crystal structures of protein phosphatase-1 bound to nodularin-R and tautomycin: a novel scaffold for structure-based drug design of serine/threonine phosphatase inhibitors. J Mol Biol. 2009;385(1):11-21. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.10.053. PubMed PMID: 18992256; PMCID: PMC2652124.

221. Wakula P, Beullens M, Ceulemans H, Stalmans W, Bollen M. Degeneracy and function of the ubiquitous RVXF motif that mediates binding to protein phosphatase-1. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(21):18817-23. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300175200. PubMed PMID: 12657641.

222. Meiselbach H, Sticht H, Enz R. Structural analysis of the protein phosphatase 1 docking motif: molecular description of binding specificities identifies interacting proteins. Chem Biol. 2006;13(1):49-59. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2005.10.009. PubMed PMID: 16426971.



223. Ciechanover A. Proteolysis: from the lysosome to ubiquitin and the proteasome. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2005;6(1):79-87. doi: 10.1038/nrm1552. PubMed PMID: 15688069.

224. Lecker SH, Goldberg AL, Mitch WE. Protein degradation by the ubiquitinproteasome pathway in normal and disease states. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006;17(7):1807-19. Epub 2006/06/02. doi: 10.1681/asn.2006010083. PubMed PMID: 16738015.

225. Glickman MH, Maytal V. Regulating the 26S proteasome. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2002;268:43-72. PubMed PMID: 12083008.

226. Pickart CM. Back to the future with ubiquitin. Cell. 2004;116(2):181-90. PubMed PMID: 14744430.

227. Baumeister W, Walz J, Zühl F, Seemüller E. The proteasome: paradigm of a selfcompartmentalizing protease. Cell. 1998;92(3):367-80. PubMed PMID: 9476896.

228. Muratani M, Tansey WP. How the ubiquitin-proteasome system controls transcription. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2003;4(3):192-201. Epub 2003/03/04. doi: 10.1038/nrm1049. PubMed PMID: 12612638.

229. Lipford JR, Smith GT, Chi Y, Deshaies RJ. A putative stimulatory role for activator turnover in gene expression. Nature. 2005;438(7064):113-6. Epub 2005/11/04. doi: 10.1038/nature04098. PubMed PMID: 16267558.

230. Karin M, Ben-Neriah Y. Phosphorylation meets ubiquitination: the control of NF-[kappa]B activity. Annu Rev Immunol. 2000;18:621-63. Epub 2000/06/03. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.18.1.621. PubMed PMID: 10837071.



# CHAPTER TWO MATERIALS AND METHODS

# Cell Culture

The murine pancreatic adenocarcinoma Panc02 cell line was established by Corbett et al. (1984) (1). This cell line was maintained in RPMI 1640 (Gibco) medium, supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), (HyClone), 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100µg/ml streptomycin (Gibco) (known as Complete Media). Cells were harvested from frozen stock (provided by Dr. Nasreen Vohra), thawed in a water bath and suspended in complete growth media in a 15ml conical tube. The cells were centrifuged at 1200rpm for 5 minutes; the supernatant was discarded and the cells were resuspended in 15ml of complete growth media and transferred to a vented T-175 flask (BD Falcon). The flask was placed in an incubator at 37°C with 5%CO2. Cells were subcultured every 2 days using 0.025% trypsin-EDTA, at approximately 80% confluency. Media was removed from the flask and the cells were washed with 1X Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffered Saline (no calcium or magnesium) (Life Technologies) (1XDPBS herein referred to as PBS). The PBS was removed and 5ml of 0.025% trypsin-EDTA (Life Technologies) was added to the flask. The flask was placed in the incubator for 5 minutes. When the cells were dislodged, complete media was added to the flask, and the cells were split into a new T-175 flask and returned to the incubator



(2). Cells were similarly harvested with trypsin for all experiments. Panc02 cells at passage (P) <10 were used for all *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments.

#### Mice

Female C57BL/6 mice aged 6 to 8 weeks were purchased from Harlan Laboratories (Indianapolis). The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of South Florida approved protocol R4152, in compliance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. The mice were maintained in a pathogen-free animal facility with 4 to 5 mice per cage. All mice were left undisturbed 1 week prior to commencing the experiments. Panc02 cells were harvested as previously described, resuspended in PBS and counted, using a 0.4% trypan blue (Thermo Scientific), a hemacytometer and an inverted microscope. The total number of cells was determined and the volume of PBS needed to resuspend the cells at a concentration of 7.5x10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml was calculated. Cells were then centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes, the supernatant was discarded and the pellet was resuspended in the calculated volume of PBS. Mice were randomly assigned into tumor-bearing (TB), control (ctrl) and apigenin (TB-API) groups, as needed. At week 7, all TB mice were subcutaneously (s.c.) injected with 100µl of the 7.5x10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml (1.5×10<sup>5</sup>) murine Panc02 cells while ctrl mice received 100µl PBS via subcutaneous (s.c.) injection, both administered on the lower, left, ventral abdomen using a 25 5/8-gauge needle. A cohort of TB mice was treated with 25mg/kg apigenin via intraperitoneal injection (i.p.) on the lower, right ventral abdomen, every three days, after the appearance of palpable tumors. Every three days, the mice were also weighed using a scale and tumors were measured using a digital caliper (2).



Approximately 28 days post Panc02 injection, mice were sacrificed by CO<sub>2</sub> asphyxiation and cervical dislocation. Animals were dissected using sterile instruments; the spleens were harvested and stored in PBS for processing. Spleens from spontaneous transgenic LSL-Kras<sup>G12D/+;</sup>LSL-Trp53<sup>R172H/+</sup>;Pdx-1-Cre mice, known as triple mutant (TrM) mice, were similarly harvested and used in this study (3). Spleens from 11 to 12week-old female BALB/c mice were harvested and used for allogeneic mixed leukocyte reactions (MLR) (4). For *in vitro* experiments, spleens from female naïve (no injection) C57BL/6N aged 6 to 8 weeks were used.

#### Single Cell Suspension of Spleens

Spleens from all mice were collected in PBS and made into single cell suspensions using a cell dissociation sieve and tissue grinder kit (Sigma). The single cell suspension was strained into a 50ml conical tube using a 70µm cell strainer (BD Biosciences). The single cell suspension was centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes and the supernatant was discarded. The cell pellet was resuspended in 5ml of 1X red blood cell (RBC) lysis buffer (eBioscience), per spleen, and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature, with pipetting. The reaction was stopped by adding 20ml of PBS. Furthermore, the cells were centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes, the supernatant was discarded and the resulting splenocytes (leukocytes) were resuspended in PBS. Cells were diluted 1:10 in 0.4% trypan blue (Thermo Scientific), and counted for downstream experiments using a hemacytometer and inverted microscope.



www.manaraa.com

#### Western Blotting

Protein lysates were prepared from splenocytes of control, TB, TrM mice and in vitro treated naïve splenocytes. Splenocytes were resuspended in modified radioimmunoprecipitation (RIPA) Buffer (Millipore), supplemented with Na<sub>3</sub>OV<sub>4</sub> (Sigma-Aldrich) and protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich) then rocked for 45 minutes at 4°C. Cells were centrifuged at 14000 rpm for 15 minutes and protein lysate supernatants were transferred to new tubes and stored at -20°C. Protein concentrations were determined using the BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and protein lysates diluted at a ratio of 1:10. A maximum of 40 µg cell protein lysates diluted in 4x NuPAGE® LDS Sample Buffer or 2x Laemmli Buffer were loaded and resolved using NuPAGE® 4-12% Bis-Tris pre-cast polyacrylamide Gels (Invitrogen) or 12% hand-cast gels, respectively, for 45 minutes at 200V by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis. Proteins were then transferred from the gels to nitrocellulose membranes (Whatman) at 25V for 2.5 hours. The membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat milk in 0.1% Tween-20/PBS for 1hr at room temperature and washed three times, using 0.1% Tween-20/PBS for 5 minutes each. The following antibodies were diluted in 3% bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma-Aldrich) and 2% non-fat milk in 0.1% Tween-20 (Fisher Scientific)/PBS: anti-Ikaros (Cell Signaling), at a dilution of 1:1000, anti-p53 (Santa Cruz), anti-CK2α (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), and anti-PP1 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) at a dilution of 1:200. The blots were incubated with these antibodies overnight at 4°C and then washed three times using 0.1% Tween-20/PBS for 5 minutes each. Primary antibodies were detected using their respective secondary IgG, HRP-conjugated antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch), at a dilution of 1:10000 in 3% BSA and 2% non-



fat milk in 0.1% Tween-20/PBS and incubated for 1hr at room temperature. The blots were washed three times using 0.1% Tween-20/PBS for 5 minutes each. Secondary antibodies were identified using Super Signal West Pico and Femto Chemiluminescent Substrates (Thermo Fisher Scientific). As an internal control for equal protein loading, all blots were stripped and re-probed with anti-β-actin (Sigma-Aldrich) at a dilution of 1:20,000 or anti-GAPDH (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) diluted 1:200 in 3% BSA, 2% non-fat milk in 0.1% Tween-20/PBS, for 90 minutes at room temperature; the blots were later identified using Super Signal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Membranes were either exposed to x-ray films (Phoenix) and developed using a Kodak M35-X OMAT Processor or imaged using a ChemiDoc XRS Imaging System (Bio-Rad). Band intensities were quantified using Quantity One 1-D densitometry and Image Lab softwares (Bio-Rad) (2).

#### Quantitative Real-Rime Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR)

Total RNA was extracted from single-cell suspensions of control and TB whole splenocytes using TRI Reagent (Molecular Research Center). 5-10 x 10<sup>6</sup> Splenocytes were resuspended and lysed in 1ml TRI reagent and stored at -80°C, until needed. Phase lock gel heavy tubes (5 Prime) were pelleted at 1500g for 30 seconds. Lysates were thawed at room temperature and transferred to phase lock gel heavy tubes. Phase separation was carried out by adding chloroform to the samples and vigorously shaken for 15 seconds. Tubes were centrifuged at 1200g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The resulting aqueous phase was transferred to newly labeled tubes, precipitated using isopropanol, and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Samples were centrifuged at



12000g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the pellets were washed twice with 75% ethanol, vortexed and centrifuged at 12000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. Supernatants were discarded, pellets were air-dried for 5 minutes at room temperature and dissolved in RNase free water (Life Technologies). In order to degrade DNA impurities from the obtained RNA sample, DNase treatment was performed using the Ambion TURBO DNA-free™ Kit (Life Technologies), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Resulting RNA was then quantitated using a Nanodrop 2000 Spectrophotometer (ThermoScientifi). If deemed necessary, RNA clean-up was performed using the NucleoSpin® RNA Clean-up (Macherey-Nagel), according to the manufacturer's protocol and requantitated using the Nanodrop 2000. cDNA was then synthesized with the High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems) using up to 2µg of RNA diluted in RNase-free water, as stated per the manufacturer's instructions. As a negative control, reactions were prepared without the Multiscribe<sup>™</sup> reverse transcriptase kit component. Reverse transcription was performed using a thermal cycler (Biometra) under the following conditions: Step 1- at 25°C for 10 minutes; Step 2 - at 37°C for 120 minutes; Step 3- at 85°C for 5 minutes and Step 4-, hold. cDNA was either stored at -20°C for long-term storage or 4°C with EDTA at a final concentration of 1mM up to 24 hours. qPCR was performed using 1µl of cDNA, the SYBR Green JumpStart Tag Ready Mix (Sigma-Aldrich) and an ABI StepOne Plus Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). No template controls (NTCs) reactions were prepared without cDNA templates. The following conditions were used: 95°C for 10 min followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 sec and 60°C for 1 min, and primers: forward, 5'-CAT AAA GAG CGA TGC CAC AA-3', reverse, 5'-CAG GAC AAG GGA



CCT CTC TG-3' (5). Each sample was assayed in triplicate. GAPDH was amplified as the internal control and reference gene. Normalization to GAPDH was used to determine relative mRNA frequency using the Comparative CT method (2).

# **CD3<sup>+</sup> T Cell Enrichment**

Whole splenocytes from control, TB and naïve mice were processed into singlecell suspensions, as previously described. CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells were purified (~90% purity) from whole splenocytes by positive selection using either anti-CD3-1-PE (eBioscience) and anti-PE-magnetic microbeads (Miltenvi) on an automated magnetic activated cell sorting (AutoMACS) Pro Separator (Miltenvi) (6) or the EasySep Mouse T Cell Enrichment kit (Stem Cell Technologies), according to the manufacturer's protocol. For automated magnetic activated cell sorting, single-cell suspensions of splenocytes were resuspended at 2x10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml in 0.5% BSA/PBS, centrifuged and the supernatant was discarded. Pellets were resuspended in 45µl of 0.5% BSA/PBS. 5µl of anti-CD3-PE (eBioscience) per for 10<sup>7</sup> cells was added; the cells were incubated for 10 minutes in the refrigerator. Cells were washed, centrifuged and supernatants were discarded. Pellets were then resuspended in 160µl of 0.5% BSA/PBS and 40µl of anti-PE microbeads per for 10<sup>7</sup> cells, and incubated for 10 minutes in the refrigerator. Cells were centrifuged and washed using 0.5% BSA/PBS and resuspended in 3ml of 0.5% BSA/PBS. The cells were then filtered into a 50ml conical tube using a 70µm strainer. On the AutoMACS Pro Separator, cells were separated using positive selection and the POSSEL program (6). Using the EasySep Mouse T Cell Isolation Kit, splenocytes were resuspended at 1x10<sup>8</sup> cells/ml in 2% fetal bovine serum (FBS)/PBS in a 5ml round



bottom polystyrene tube (BD Falcon). A maximum of 2ml of cells (2x10<sup>8</sup> cells) were used. 50µl/ml of normal rat serum and 50µl/ml of antibody cocktail were added then incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. The provided Rapidspheres<sup>™</sup> were vortexed for 30 seconds; 75µl/ml of cells were added and incubated for 2.5 minutes at room temperature. The total volume was increased to 2.5 ml using the 2%FBS/PBS buffer. The tube was placed on the EasySep magnet for 5 minutes at room temperature and the enriched CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells (unlabeled) were poured into a new tube and counted for downstream experiments. In both techniques, the percent enrichment was determined by analyzing the CD3<sup>+</sup> T cell percentages, pre- and post-enrichment, using flow cytometry and CD3-PE antibodies (eBioscience). Protein lysates were then prepared as previously described.

#### In vitro Assays

Single-cell suspensions of whole and CD3<sup>+</sup> enriched T cells from splenocytes and from naïve mice were prepared and counted as previously described. 4x10<sup>5</sup> splenocytes were cultured in 6-well plates containing 3ml of complete RPMI growth media. For co-culture assays, Panc02 cells (P<10) were grown to approximately 70% confluency in 6-well plates, at which time the media was removed, and resuspended splenocytes were added to each well. The proteasome inhibitor Cbz-LLL (carbobenzoxyl-L-leucyl-L-leucyl-L-leucine) (MG132; Sigma-Aldrich) and apigenin (Sigma-Aldrich) were resuspended in dimethyl suloxide (DMSO) (Fisher Scientific) at stock solutions of 100mM, and the appropriate working dilutions prepared. Calculated volumes for the indicated concentrations were directly added to the cultures. Control



wells were treated with the vehicle. All treated cells were cultured in an incubator for four hours *in vitro*. Suspension splenocytes were harvested from adherent Panc02 cells. Protein lysates of these *in vitro* treated-splenocytes were prepared and analyzed for Ikaros protein expression using western blot analysis, as previously described.

## In vitro CK2 Kinase Assay

CK2 kinase activity was measured using the CK2 assay kit (Millipore), according to the manufacturer's instructions. 15µg of protein lysates for each sample were diluted in 10µl assay dilution buffer I (ADBI) in microcentrifuge tubes. Three control and TB samples were assayed in triplicates. A control for each sample was included which lacked the CK2 specific substrate to account for background and non-specific binding. Therefore, two sets of triplicates, labeled "with substrate" (+S) and "without substrate" (-S), were prepared for each control and TB sample. 10µl of CK2 specific substrate (RRRDDDSDDD), at a final concentration of 200µM, was added to the tubes with substrate (+S) while 10µl of ADBI was added to the tubes without substrates (-S). 10µl of a PKA inhibitor cocktail was also added to each tube to inhibit the activity of other serine/threonine kinases. 10µl of 100µCi of [y-32P]ATP (3000 Ci/mmol) (Elmer Perkins), diluted 1:10, was added to each tube. Reactions were incubated for 10 minutes at 30 °C with agitation and then stopped by adding 40µl of trichloroacetic acid (TCA) to each tube. 25µl aliquots of each reaction were transferred to numbered P81 phosphocellulose paper. The papers were washed 6 times with 0.75% phosphoric acid, followed by an acetone wash, dried and transferred to scintillation vials containing scintillation fluid. Samples were quantitated using a scintillation counter. CK2 activity



was calculated by subtracting the mean counts per minute (CPM) of samples in the absence of substrate from the mean CPM of samples in the presence of the substrate.

#### Immunofluorescence Microscopy

Single-cell suspensions of control and TB splenocytes were prepared, as previously described, and resuspended at 3.5x10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml in complete RPMI media. Cytospins were prepared using 100µl of the cell suspension, Shandon<sup>™</sup> Single Cytoslides<sup>™</sup> (ThermoScientific), cytology funnels (VWR) and a Shandon CytoSpin<sup>™</sup> 2 Centrifuge (Shandon) at 300rpm for 3 minutes. Cytospin slides were air-dried and fixed at -20°C in methanol: acetone (3:1) for a minimum of 20 minutes and a maximum of 2 months. Slides were washed in Tris plus Triton-X for 3 minutes with shaking. This was followed by a Tris buffer wash with shaking for 10 minutes with buffer changes every 2 minutes. Slides were then stained with a rabbit polyclonal against lkaros (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), diluted 1:200 in 0.1% NP-40 (NP-40; Sigma-Aldrich) in 1% BSA (Sigma-Aldrich) in PBS for 1 hr at room temperature. Slides were washed with Tris buffer with shaking for 10 minutes, with buffer changes every 2 minutes. Slides were stained with a secondary goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluora 594 antibody (Life Technologies), diluted 1:200 in 0.1%, NP-40 in 1% BSA in PBS, for 30 mins at room temperature. Appropriate isotype controls were used to check for non-specific binding which was not detected. Slides were washed with PBS 3 times for two minutes each, followed by dH<sub>2</sub>0 twice for 2 minutes each. Slides were dried and cover slips were applied and mounted using ProLong<sup>®</sup> Gold Antifade Mountant with DAPI (Life Technologies).



Immunofluorescence was imaged using a Zeiss Olympic Microscope, and analyzed using Image J Software (7).

# **Flow Cytometry**

Splenocytes were harvested from control, TB and TrM mice and were processed into single-cell suspension, as previously described. Cells were then suspended at  $2x10^7$  cells/ml in 3%FBS/PBS. 50µl of cells (1x10<sup>6</sup> cells) were transferred to their respective wells of a 96-well V-bottom plate for mixed staining with T-cell antibodies. Cells were also added for single-stain compensations. Cells were blocked with 50µl Mouse Fc block (Purified Rat Anti-Mouse CD16/CD32 - BD Biosciences) diluted in 3%FBS/PBS for 15 minutes at 4°C. The plate was centrifuged and supernatants were removed from each well. A master mix was prepared containing T cell surface markers including: anti-CD3-FITC (eBioscience), anti-CD4-Pe-Cy7 (BD Pharmingen), anti-CD8-APC-H7 (BD Pharmingen), anti-CD25 PE (eBioscience) diluted in 3%FBS/PBS. 50µl of the master mix was added to each well containing cells for mixed staining with T-cell antibodies. Single-stains for each fluorochrome was added to wells for single-stain compensations. The cells were incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C. The cells were then washed twice with 3%FBS/PBS and transferred to labeled 5ml round-bottom polystyrene tubes (BD Biosciences) containing 75ng/ml DAPI (except for compensations). Flow Cytometry was performed using a BD LSRII (BD Biosciences Immunocytometry Systems) and the data was analyzed with FlowJo software (Tree Star Inc.) (2).



# T Cell Activation and Intracellular Staining

Single-cell suspensions of splenocytes from control, TB and TB-Api mice were processed as previously described and resuspended at 2X10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml in complete RPMI media. 1ml of cells (2X10<sup>6</sup> cells) from each mouse was plated into 6-well plates. The desired volume of mouse T-Activator CD3/CD28 Dynabeads® (Life Technologies) was prepared according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, the dynabeads were resuspended by vortexing for 30 seconds and transferred to a 5ml round bottom polystyrene tube (BD Falcon). 1ml of 0.1%BSA/PBS buffer was added to the tube and the dynabeads were vortexed for 5 seconds. The tube was placed on a DynaMag<sup>™</sup>-5 Magnet for 1 minute and the supernatant discarded. The tube was removed from the magnet and the dynabeads were resuspended in the same volume of complete RPMI as the desired volume of beads originally used.  $2x10^6$  beads were then added to each well of the 6-well plate containing splenocytes, for a bead-to-cell ratio of 1:1. Complete RPMI media was added to each well to bring the total volume up to 3ml. The cells were placed in an incubator for 4 days. After four days, the cells from each well of the 6-well plate were removed and transferred to labeled 5ml round bottom polystyrene tubes (BD Falcon). The tubes were placed on the DynaMag<sup>™</sup>-5 Magnet for 1 minute and the supernatants transferred to newly labeled tubes. 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells surface stained with anti-CD8-PerCPCy5.5 (BD Biosciences) as previously described. The cells were then resuspended in 1ml of diluted Foxp3 Fixation/Permeabilization (eBioscience) buffer (1 part Fixation/Permeabilization Concentrate to 3 parts Foxp3 Fixation/Permeabilization Diluent) and vortexed. The tubes were incubated at 4°C for 30 minutes in the dark. The cells were then washed with 1x permeabilization buffer and centrifuged. The



www.manaraa.com

supernatants were discarded and the cells were resuspended in 1x permeabilization buffer, then stained with anti-IFN-γ-PE and incubated at room temperature, in the dark, for 30 minutes. The cells were washed, centrifuged again and resuspended in 3%FBS/PBS. Flow Cytometry was performed using a BD LSRII (BD Biosciences Immunocytometry Systems) and the data was analyzed with FlowJo software (Tree Star Inc.) (2).

# Mixed Leukocyte Reaction (MLR)

Splenoctes from BALB/c mice (responders) were prepared, as previously described, and resuspended at 1x10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml in 0.1%BSA/PBS. 5mM 5-(and 6)-Carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE) stock from the CellTrace™ CFSE Cell Proliferation Kit (Life Technologies) was prepared by adding 18µl DMSO to CFSE vial. 5mM stock CFSE was diluted to 2µM CFSE using 0.1%BSA/PBS. An equal volume of 2µM CFSE was added to resuspend BALB/c splenocytes, while stirring, for a final concentration of 1µM CFSE. The reaction was placed in a 37°C water bath for 10 minutes, with stirring every 2 minutes. The reaction was stopped by adding 3 times the volume of ice-cold complete RPMI media and guenched on ice for 5 minutes. The cells were centrifuged and washed three times with ice-cold complete RPMI media. CFSE labeling was confirmed by flow cytometry analysis of cells pre- and post- CFSE labeling. The cells were counted and resuspended at  $4x10^6$  cells/ml in complete RPMI media.  $50\mu$ I (2x10<sup>5</sup> cells) were added to their respective wells of a 96-well U bottom plate. Whole splenocytes from control, TB and TB-Api mice (stimulators) were irradiated at 2000 rads (one-way allogeneic MLR) and resuspended at 8x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml in complete



www.manaraa.com

RPMI media. 50µl (4x10<sup>5</sup> cells) were added to their respective wells of a 96-well U bottom plate (4). 100µl volume of complete RPMI media was added to each well for a total volume of 200µl. The plate was placed in an incubator at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. On day four, all cells were harvested and the proliferation of CD8<sup>+</sup> responder BALB/c cells was evaluated by flow cytometry and–stained with anti-CD3-PerCP and anti-CD8-APCH7. The CFSE dilution profile of CFSE<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> cells was analyzed by FlowJo software (Tree Star Inc.)

# **Statistical Analysis**

All *in vivo* and *in vitro* results described in this study are representative of the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of at least three independent experiments analyzed with two-tailed Student's test using PRISM 5 software (GraphPad, San Diego, CA). Differences were considered significant at p<0.05.

#### References

1. Corbett TH, Roberts BJ, Leopold WR, Peckham JC, Wilkoff LJ, Griswold DP, Jr., Schabel FM, Jr. Induction and chemotherapeutic response of two transplantable ductal adenocarcinomas of the pancreas in C57BL/6 mice. Cancer Res. 1984;44(2):717-26. Epub 1984/02/01. PubMed PMID: 6692374.

2. Pilon-Thomas S, Nelson N, Vohra N, Jerald M, Pendleton L, Szekeres K, Ghansah T. Murine pancreatic adenocarcinoma dampens SHIP-1 expression and alters MDSC homeostasis and function. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):e27729. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027729. PubMed PMID: 22132131; PMCID: PMC3222660.



 Husain K, Centeno BA, Chen DT, Hingorani SR, Sebti SM, Malafa MP. Vitamin E δ-tocotrienol prolongs survival in the LSL-KrasG12D/+;LSL-Trp53R172H/+;Pdx-1-Cre (KPC) transgenic mouse model of pancreatic cancer. Cancer Prev Res (Phila).
 2013;6(10):1074-83. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-13-0157. PubMed PMID: 23963802.

4. Ghansah T, Paraiso KH, Highfill S, Desponts C, May S, McIntosh JK, Wang JW, Ninos J, Brayer J, Cheng F, Sotomayor E, Kerr WG. Expansion of myeloid suppressor cells in SHIP-deficient mice represses allogeneic T cell responses. J Immunol. 2004;173(12):7324-30. PubMed PMID: 15585856.

5. Cai Q, Dierich A, Oulad-Abdelghani M, Chan S, Kastner P. Helios deficiency has minimal impact on T cell development and function. J Immunol. 2009;183(4):2303-11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901407. PubMed PMID: 19620299.

6. Nelson N, Szekeres K, Cooper D, Ghansah T. Preparation of myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC) from naive and pancreatic tumor-bearing mice using flow cytometry and automated magnetic activated cell sorting (AutoMACS). J Vis Exp. 2012(64):e3875. doi: 10.3791/3875. PubMed PMID: 22733203.

7. Wei S, Gilvary DL, Corliss BC, Sebti S, Sun J, Straus DB, Leibson PJ, Trapani JA, Hamilton AD, Weber MJ, Djeu JY. Direct tumor lysis by NK cells uses a Rasindependent mitogen-activated protein kinase signal pathway. J Immunol. 2000;165(7):3811-9. PubMed PMID: 11034387.



## CHAPTER THREE

# MURINE PANCREATIC ADENOCARCINOMA REDUCES IKAROS EXPRESSION AND DISRUPTS T CELL HOMEOSTASIS

#### Note to Reader

This chapter has been previously published in *PLoS One* 2011, 6(11) and is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License.

# Keywords

Pancreatic Cancer, Ikaros, Transcription Factors, T Cells, Tumor Immunity

# Abstract

Maintenance of T cell immune homeostasis is critical for adequate anti-tumor immunity. The transcription factor Ikaros is essential for lymphocyte development including T cells. Alterations in Ikaros expression occur in blood malignancies in humans and mice. In this study, we investigated the role of Ikaros in regulating T cell immune balance in pancreatic cancer mouse models. Using our Panc02 tumor-bearing (TB) mouse model, western blot analysis revealed a reduction in Ikaros proteins while qRT-PCR showed no differences in Ikaros mRNA levels in TB splenocytes compared to



control. Treatment of naïve splenocytes with the proteasomal inhibitor, MG132, stabilized lkaros expression and prevented lkaros downregulation by Panc02 cells, in vitro. Western blot analyses showed a reduction in protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) and protein kinase CK2 expression in TB splenocytes while CK2 activity was increased. Immunofluorescence microscopy revealed altered punctate staining of Ikaros in TB splenocytes. Flow cytometry revealed a significant decrease in effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell percentages but increased CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells in TB splenocytes. Similar alterations in T cell percentages, as well as reduced lkaros and CK2 but not PP1 expression, were observed in a transgenic, triple mutant (TrM) pancreatic cancer model. Ikaros expression was also reduced in enriched TB CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells. MG132 treatment of naïve CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells stabilized lkaros expression in the presence of Panc02 cells. Western blots showed reduced PP1 and CK2 expression in TB CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells. The results of this study suggest that the pancreatic tumor microenvironment may cause proteasomal degradation of Ikaros, possibly via dysregulation of PP1 and CK2 expression and activity, respectfully. This loss of lkaros expression may contribute to an imbalance in T cell percentages. Ikaros may potentially be a therapeutic target to restore T cell homeostasis in pancreatic cancer hosts, which may be critical for effective anti-tumor immunity.

#### Introduction

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma is currently the fourth leading cause of cancer-related deaths in the United States. Despite recent advances, successful treatment options against pancreatic cancer have had limited success due in part, to



dampened anti-tumor immune responses that promote tumor progression (1, 2). Effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells play important roles in the host's anti-tumor immune responses as they facilitate destruction of tumor cells (3). Regulatory T cells (Tregs) are a population of T cells that maintain peripheral immune tolerance against self-antigens and foreign antigens (1). However, the critical balance between effector T cells and Tregs is lost in pancreatic cancer TB hosts, which may negatively impact anti-tumor immunity (4). In particular, CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Treg percentages are elevated in the peripheral blood of pancreatic cancer patients (5) as well as lymphoid organs in mice (6). These elevated Treg numbers are associated with decreased CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell percentages and lower survival rates (4). Therefore, an imbalance in effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and regulatory T cells is a significant impediment to treating pancreatic cancer.

The Ikaros family of zinc finger transcription factors - Ikaros, Aiolos, Helios, Eos and Pegasus - play critical roles in hematopoiesis and lymphocyte development (7). Ikaros, the founding member, encoded by the gene Izkf1, can activate and repress gene transcription and acts as a tumor suppressor in T cell lineages (8, 9). Mice expressing a non-DNA binding dominant-negative (DN) isoform of Ikaros exhibit severe defects including the absence of T cells after birth (10). Additionally, mice with one disrupted and one functional copy of Ikaros display lymphocyte hyperproliferation and develop Tcell leukemias and lymphomas (8).

Ikaros is alternatively spliced, which produces functional and DN isoforms. The interaction of functional Ikaros isoforms with DN isoforms inhibit its activity (11). Ikaros is also regulated by posttranslational modifications, which include phosphorylation (12, 13). Protein Kinase CK2 (formerly casein kinase 2) phosphorylation of Ikaros impairs its



DNA binding ability, alters its subcellular localization and leads to its ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation via phosphorylation in PEST regions (regions containing proline (P), glutamate (E), serine (S), and threonine (T) bordered by positively charged residues). In contrast, dephosphorylation of Ikaros by protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) maintains Ikaros stability and activity (14).

The necessity of lkaros for normal lymphocyte development makes it a critical target to be examined in regulating immune responses in various diseases. Our study is one of the first to investigate lkaros in pancreatic cancer, especially as it relates to effector and regulatory T cells. In this study, we provide evidence that loss of lkaros expression occurs in pancreatic TB hosts. We show that this occurs, at least in part, by ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation in response to pancreatic cancer factors. This protein degradation of lkaros may be as a result of alterations in known regulators of its stability, PP1 and CK2. Loss of Ikaros expression may contribute to the observed imbalance in effector and regulatory T cell percentages, favoring an immunosuppressive microenvironment. Therefore, Ikaros may be a T-cell specific therapeutic target for maintaining T cell homeostasis in pancreatic cancer patients.

#### Results

# Reduced Ikaros expression in TB mice

Ikaros is a critical regulator of lymphocyte development and is characterized as a tumor suppressor gene (15). More specifically, loss of Ikaros activity due to genetic or functional inactivation leads to the development of leukemias and lymphomas in mice and humans (8, 16, 17). However, investigations into the role of Ikaros in solid cancers,



especially as it relates to immune cell development, have been limited. We therefore wanted to determine whether defects in Ikaros might occur in a pancreatic tumor microenvironment. Ikaros protein expression was detected in the peripheral blood, bone marrow (data not shown) and spleen of our TB mice. However, its expression was most abundant in the spleen, which was used in this study. We first evaluated lkaros protein expression in splenocytes from control and TB mice by using an antibody to the conserved C-terminus to detect all possible isoforms expressed. Western blot analyses revealed the expression of at least 7 lkaros isoforms in control splenocytes which, based on their molecular weight (MW), appear to correspond to full-length isoforms lk-1, and Ik-2/3 (arrows 1 and 2; Figure 3.1A) and five smaller (<46), DN isoforms (18, 19) (arrows 3-7; Figure 3.1A). Expression of these isoforms was downregulated in TB splenocytes and accounted for a significant (two-fold) decrease in total lkaros protein expression in TB splenocytes compared to control (Figure 3.1A). Next, we evaluated mRNA expression of Ikaros in control and TB mice to determine whether differences in Ikaros protein expression were due to changes in its transcript. Using primers that detect lkaros isoforms through conserved regions, we found no significant difference in total lkaros mRNA expression between TB and control splenocytes (Figure 3.1B). Observing reduced lkaros protein expression in TB mice, we then investigated whether this downregulation was in response to Panc02 factors (soluble and non-soluble). We recapitulated the *in vivo* tumor microenvironment by co-culturing splenocytes from naïve C57BL/6 mice with murine Panc02 cells in vitro. This co-culture resulted in reduced Ikaros protein expression in splenocytes as revealed by western blot analysis (Figure



**3.1C**). Thus far, these results suggest that pancreatic cancer factors may downregulate lkaros expression in TB mice.



**Figure 3.1. Reduced Ikaros expression in TB mice**. **A**. Western blot analysis of Ikaros protein expression in control and TB splenocytes. To control for equal protein loading the blot was reprobed with an antibody specific to  $\beta$ -actin. The arrows on the left indicate observed Ikaros isoforms. Representative quantification of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data is shown. **B**. qRT-PCR analysis of Ikaros mRNA expression in control and TB mice. **C**. Western blot analysis of Ikaros protein expression in naïve splenocytes co-cultured with Panc02 cells. To control for equal protein loading the blot was reprobed with an antibody specific to  $\beta$ -actin. The arrows on the left indicate observed Ikaros isoforms. Representative quantification of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data is shown. Representative quantification of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data is shown. Represented is the mean ± S.E.M. of control (n = 3) compared to TB (n = 3) mice.\*\*p<0.005 (by two-tailed Student's t test).

# Murine Panc02 cells cause ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation of

# Ikaros in vitro

Our data proposes that downregulation of Ikaros protein expression in TB

splenocytes may be due to a posttranslational modification affecting its protein stability.

Studies have shown that Ikaros protein undergoes ubiquitin-proteasomal degradation



(14, 20-23). As Ikaros expression is significantly reduced in TB splenocytes, we treated naïve splenocytes with the proteasomal inhibitor, MG132, which was used as a molecular tool to test whether lkaros protein undergoes proteasomal degradation. Results showed that in the presence of MG132, particularly at  $10\mu$ M,  $20\mu$ M and  $40\mu$ M, there was a significant increase in Ikaros protein expression (Figure 3.2A). MG132 inhibition of the proteasome blocks apoptosis and stabilizes p53 expression (24). We therefore evaluated p53 expression to confirm MG132 activity in these experiments (Figure 3.2A). Furthermore, we wanted to determine whether the downregulation of Ikaros in TB mice was as a result of proteasomal degradation of Ikaros in response to Panc02 factors. Results of western blot analyses of splenocytes co-cultured with Panc02 cells showed that 10µM MG132 stabilized lkaros expression (lane 2 vs. lane 1; Figure 3.2B). However, in the presence of Panc02 cells lkaros protein expression was reduced in splenocytes (lane 3 vs. lane 1; Figure 3.2B). Interestingly, the addition of MG132 to the co-culture prevented Panc02-induced downregulation of Ikaros expression (lane 4 vs. lane 3; Figure 3.2B). These data suggest that pancreatic cancer factors may cause downregulation of Ikaros via protein degradation by the ubiquitinproteasome pathway.

# Altered PP1 expression, CK2 activity and Ikaros nuclear staining pattern in TB mice

A balance between CK2 and PP1 is responsible for maintaining Ikaros' protein stability and function. In particular, lack of dephosphorylation by PP1 and hyperphosphorylation by CK2 leads to increased degradation of Ikaros (13, 14, 25).


Since our data suggests that Ikaros downregulation may be as a result of its protein degradation, we investigated the expression of CK2 and PP1 in splenocytes from our control and TB mice. We firstly evaluated PP1 expression by western blot analyses using an antibody that recognizes PP1 catalytic subunits. Western blot analyses detected two catalytic isoforms in control splenocytes.



Figure 3.2. Murine Panc02 cells cause ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation of Ikaros *in vitro*. A. Western blot analysis of Ikaros and p53 expression in naïve splenocytes treated with the proteasomal inhibitor, MG132 for four hours *in vitro*. To control for equal protein loading the blot was reprobed with an antibody specific to  $\beta$ -actin. Representative quantification of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data is shown. **B.** Western blot analysis of Ikaros expression in naïve splenocytes co-cultured in the absence or presence of Panc02 cells and/or MG132. To control for equal protein loading the blot was reprobed with an antibody specific to GAPDH. Representative quantification of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data is shown. Represented is the mean ± S.E.M. of three independent experiments. \**p*<0.05, \*\**p*<0.005; \*\*\**p*<0.0001(by two-tailed Student's t test).



However, the higher MW PP1 catalytic isoform was reduced in TB splenocytes (Figure **3.3A).** Next, we evaluated CK2 by also evaluting the expression of its catalytic subunit. We found a reduction in CK2 $\alpha$  protein expression in TB splencoytes compared to control (Figure 3.3B). We also assayed CK2 activity which revealed a significant increase in CK2 activity in TB splenocytes compared to control (Figure 3.3C). Phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of Ikaros by CK2 and PP1 also affects its DNA binding ability and subcellular localization. The majority of lkaros localizes at pericentromeric heterochromatin (PC-HC) where it functions in regulating gene expression (26). Therefore, having observed defects in PP1 and CK2 pathways, we evaluated lkaros localization using immunofluorescence microscopy. In control splenocytes, we observed the characterisitic nuclear, punctate staining pattern of Ikaros, indicative of its PC-HC localization (Figure 3.3D). However, in TB splenocytes, more diffuse staining of Ikaros was observed (Figure 3.3D). Overall, we observed reduced PP1 expression and increased CK2 activity as well as cytoplasmic subcellular localization of Ikaros in TB splenocytes. Therefore, differential expression of these two critical proteins may contribute to regulating Ikaros expression in our TB mice.

#### Altered T cell percentages in TB and TrM mice

Ikaros has been identified as a regulator of T cell development (8, 27, 28). T cells, specifically CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, are key players in tumor protective immunity (29, 30). Having observed defects in Ikaros expression, we next evaluated whether T cell development is altered in response to murine pancreatic cancer. Flow cytometry results showed that there was a significant decrease in both CD4<sup>+</sup> (**Figure 3.4A**) and





Figure 3.3. Altered PP1 expression, CK2 activity and lkaros nuclear staining pattern in TB mice. Western blot analysis of A. PP1 and B. CK2a protein expression in control and TB splenocytes. To control for equal protein loading the blots were reprobed with an antibody specific to  $\beta$ -actin. Representative quantifications of normalized densitometric ratios of each western blot are shown. **C.** Counts per minute (C.P.M.) of CK2 activity in protein lysates from splenocytes from control and TB mice as assaved by an in vitro CK2 kinase assav. Represented is the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of control (n = 3 compared to TB (n = 3) mice).\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.005; (by two-tailed Student's t test). D. Immunofluorescence microscopy showing Ikaros expression and subcellular localization in control and TB splenocytes (n=25 cells). Nuclear DNA appears as blue (DAPI), lkaros as red (lkaros panel) Ikaros and DAPI combined (Merged and panel). (Magnification, ×240). Representative results from at least three independent immunofluorescence microscopy experiments.



CD8<sup>+</sup> (Figure 3.4B) effector T cell percentages in splenocytes from TB compared to control mice. Given the reduction in effector T cell percentages in splenocytes from TB mice, we investigated the percentages of immunosuppressive regulatory T cells. Flow cytometry results showed that there was a significant increase in CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Tregs in splenocytes from TB compared to control mice (Figure 3.4C). We previously published that CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Tregs from TB mice suppress antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses in a dose dependent manner, at a greater rate as compared to control Tregs (6). Thus far, our results suggest that defects in Ikaros expression may be associated with a loss of T cell equilibrium in our pancreatic TB mice. Our next step was to determine whether this disruption in effector and regulatory T cell balance occurred in another highly translatable, transgenic mouse model of pancreatic cancer. The LSL-Kras<sup>G12D/+;</sup>LSL-Trp53<sup>R172H/+</sup>;Pdx-1-Cre transgenic mouse model (TrM mice) has mutations in Kras and p53, leading to spontaneous development of pancreatic cancer (31), that recapitulates pancreatic cancer in humans (32). Flow cytometry analyses showed a reduction in effector CD4<sup>+</sup> (Figure 3.4D) and CD8<sup>+</sup> T (Figure 3.4E) cells but an increase in regulatory T cells (Figure 3.4F) in splenocytes from TrM mice compared to wild-type (WT) littermates. We then evaluated the expression of Ikaros, CK2 and PP1 in these TrM mice to delineate their possible involvement in regulating T cell immune homeostasis in this model. Western blot analyses revealed a significant reduction in overall lkaros expression in splenocytes of triple mutant mice compared to wild-type (WT) mice (Figure 3.4G). However, in the TrM splenocytes, lkaros DN isoforms were





**Figure 3.4.** Altered T Cell Percentages in TB and TrM mice. Flow cytometry analysis of T cell percentages in TB and TrM mice. **A.**  $CD4^+T$  cell, **B.**  $CD8^+T$  cell and **C.** Treg percentages in splenocytes from control and TB mice. **D.**  $CD4^+T$  cell, **E.**  $CD8^+T$  cell and **F.** Treg percentages in splenocytes from wild-type (WT) and TrM mice. Western blot analysis of **G.** Ikaros **H.** PP1 and **I.**  $CK2\alpha$  protein expression in WT and TrM splenocytes. To control for equal protein loading the blot was reprobed with an antibody specific to  $\beta$ -actin. The arrows on the left indicate observed Ikaros isoforms. Representative quantifications of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data are shown. Represented is the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of control (n = 3 compared to TB (n = 3) mice).\*p<0.05;\*\*p<0.005; \*\*\*p<0.0001(by two-tailed Student's t test).



mainly expressed (**Figure 3.4G**). There was no significant difference in protein expression of PP1 catalytic subunits (**Figure 3.4H**) but  $CK2\alpha$  expression was reduced (**Figure 3.4I**) in TrM compared to WT mice. This implies that Ikaros dysregulation, the possible involvement of PP1 and/or CK2, and the resulting imbalance in T cell profiles, may have clinical relevance in pancreatic cancer.

## Dysregulation of Ikaros, PP1 and CK2 in CD3<sup>+</sup> enriched T cells

Thus far, we have observed a loss of Ikaros expression and T cell homeostasis in whole splenocytes from TB compared to control mice. Reports show that modulation of Ikaros expression in T cells affects their polarization, proliferation and differentiation (27, 33). Next, we investigated whether lkaros expression was specifically altered at the T cell level in our animal model and could account for the loss of T cell homeostasis observed. Correlating with results in whole splenocytes, western blot analysis showed that Ikaros protein expression was also significantly reduced in enriched CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells from TB mice compared to control (Figure 3.5A). The isoforms detected appear to correlate with lk-1 and lk-2/3, which have previously been reported to be predominantly expressed in T lymphocytes (13). We then evaluated whether lkaros expression in T cells is also regulated by ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation. CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells enriched from naïve splenocytes were treated with increasing concentrations of MG132 in vitro as previously described. Western blot analyses of lkaros expression revealed that MG132 did in fact significantly increase Ikaros expression in CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells at 10 and 20µM concentrations with MG132 activity evaluated by p53 expression (Figure 3.5B). Next, we co-cultured these enriched CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells with Panc02 cells in the absence or





Figure 3.5. Dysregulation of Ikaros, PP1 and CK2 in CD3<sup>+</sup> enriched T cells. A. Western blot analysis of Ikaros protein expression in control and TB CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells. To control for equal protein loading the blot was reprobed with an antibody specific to  $\beta$ actin. The arrows on the left indicate observed lkaros isoforms. Representative quantification of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data is shown. B. Western blot analysis of Ikaros and p53 expression in naïve CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells treated with the proteasomal inhibitor, MG132 for four hours in vitro. To control for equal protein loading the blot was reprobed with an antibody specific to  $\beta$ -actin. Representative quantification of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data is shown. C. Western blot analysis of Ikaros expression in naïve CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells co-cultured in the absence or presence of Panc02 cells and/or MG132. To control for equal protein loading the blot was reprobed with an antibody specific to GAPDH. Western blot analysis of **D**. PP1 and **E**. CK2 $\alpha$  protein expression in control and TB CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells. To control for equal protein loading the blots were reprobed with an antibody specific to β-actin. Representative guantifications of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data are shown. Represented is the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of control (n = 3) compared to TB (n = 3) mice).\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.005; (by two-tailed Student's t test).



presence of MG132. MG132 stabilized Ikaros expression in T cells (lane 2 vs. lane 1;**Figure 3.5C**). Panc02 cells caused reduced Ikaros expression in T cells (lane 3 vs. lane 1;**Figure 3.5C**). However, this downregulation was prevented in the presence of 10 $\mu$ M MG132 (lane 4 vs. lane 3;**Figure 3.5C**), suggesting that Panc02 factors contribute to proteasomal degradation of Ikaros in CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells. Our next step was to determine the expression of PP1 and CK2, regulators of Ikaros, in these isolated CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells. Similar to our results in whole splenocytes, there was a reduction in PP1, especially of the higher MW catalytic isoform in TB CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells compared to control (**Figure 3.5D**). There was also a significant reduction in CK2 $\alpha$  expression in TB CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells compared to control (**Figure 3.5E**). These data indicate that dysregulation of Ikaros in CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells, possibly as a result of altered in PP1 and CK2 expression and activity, may contribute to loss of T cell homeostasis in pancreatic TB mice.

#### Discussion

Ikaros is a critical regulator of lymphocyte development, especially T cells. In fact, Ikaros has been proposed to function as a tumor suppressor in hematological malignancies (34-36). However, the role of Ikaros in solid cancers has not been fully investigated. In this study, we identified the possible involvement of Ikaros in T cell homeostasis in pancreatic cancer mouse models. Our results suggest that pancreatic cancer (soluble and non-soluble) factors cause a reduction in Ikaros expression in splenocytes. We provide evidence that suggests these pancreatic cancer factors cause ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation of Ikaros, which may be as a result of dysregulation in PP1 and CK2 pathways. Furthermore, we showed that this loss of



Ikaros coincides with an imbalance in T cell immune responses resulting in decreased percentages of effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and increased regulatory T cell percentages (**Figure 3.6**). Our study therefore proposes a putative and novel role for Ikaros in regulating T cell homeostasis in pancreatic cancer hosts.



*Figure 3.6.* Proposed Model. Murine pancreatic cancer causes Ikaros degradation and alters T Cell Homeostasis. We propose a potential molecular mechanism of Ikaros regulation by which under normal conditions, the balance (represented by the solid, black bar) in the concerted action of PP1 and CK2 stabilizes Ikaros protein expression. This results in maintenance of effector CD4/CD8<sup>+</sup> and regulatory T cell percentages. However, in a pancreatic cancer microenvironment, our findings suggest that there is a decrease in PP1 but an increase in CK2 activity (represented by broken arrow), which leads to ubiquitin-mediated protein degradation of Ikaros. This loss of Ikaros expression results in a loss of T cell homeostasis marked by a reduction of effector CD4/CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell percentages and an increase of regulatory T cells. Ikaros may therefore be important for regulating T cell immune responses in pancreatic cancer.



The Ikaros gene is alternatively spliced to generate multiple full-length DNA binding and DN isoforms (16). We observed at least 7 splice variants of lkaros are expressed in control splenocytes, all of which are downregulated in TB mice. TrM LSL-Kras<sup>G12D/+;</sup>LSL-Trp53<sup>R172H/+</sup>;Pdx-1-Cre transgenic mice have mutations in p53 and Kras that model the genetic diversity of humans with pancreatic cancer, making it a highly translatable model. In WT littermates for TrM mice, at least 6 isoforms were observed. We are in the process of identifying these specific isoforms and comparing them to the currently identified isoforms and their variants (19). Ik-1 and Ik-2/3, are reduced in our TB and TrM models, which both have defects in T cell immune balance. These isoforms are amongst the predominant isoforms generally expressed in T cells (13). Interestingly, these isoforms are also reduced in our CD3<sup>+</sup> TB T cells and are the main isoforms undergoing proteasomal degradation. Therefore, these full-length lkaros isoforms may be critical for maintaining T cell immune balance, while the overexpression of DN isoforms may cause an imbalance and needs to be further investigated. In addition, we are also investing the alternative splicing mechanisms that may govern lkaros isoform expression in our pancreatic cancer models. Defects in Ikaros expression as well as the shift in T cell immune balance in the spontaneous pancreatic cancer mice, provide evidence that Ikaros may indeed have clinical relevance in regulating effector and regulatory T cell immune responses in pancreatic cancer hosts.

The reduction in protein but not mRNA expression of Ikaros in TB mice led us to believe that Ikaros protein may be regulated posttranslationally. Initial studies showed that Ikaros is subject to protein degradation via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (14) and eliminated the involvement of proteolysis by calpains (20). The ability of MG132 to



increase Ikaros expression in both whole and CD3<sup>+</sup> T cell enriched splenocytes provided evidence that the ubiquitin proteasome pathway may regulate Ikaros expression in immune cells in our pancreatic cancer mouse model. A number of recent studies support our findings as they have shown that Ikaros is indeed subject to proteasomal degradation (22, 23), especially as it relates to T cells (21). Our study further suggests that pancreatic cancer factors may trigger this proteasomal degradation of Ikaros. We published that Panc02 cells produce a number of inflammatory factors (37) and are investigating the molecular mechanism(s) by which inflammatory factors may modulate Ikaros' expression in our pancreatic cancer models.

We also aimed to determine the pathway(s) involved in regulating Ikaros degradation in our TB mice. The concerted action of CK2 and PP1, controls Ikaros' stability, DNA binding ability and subcellular localization (14). Hyperphosphorylation by CK2 induces Ikaros' degradation while dephosphorylation of Ikaros by PP1 increases its stability (14). Having observed that downregulation of Ikaros protein may be as a result of ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation, we hypothesized that this mechanism may be due to increased CK2 vs. PP1 activity in TB mice. We observe a reduction in PP1, specifically of a particular catalytic isoform, which is currently being investigated for its possible role in regulating Ikaros expression in TB mice. We also detected a reduction in CK2 $\alpha$  expression but increased CK2 activity in TB splenocytes. In our TrM model, the lower MW catalytic subunit of PP1 was expressed and there was no difference in its expression compared to WT littermate controls. However, CK2 $\alpha$  expression was also downregulated in these TrM mice but its activity has not yet been assayed. We are investigating how CK2 activity is regulated in our models. We have



preliminary evidence that suggest that use of a selective CK2 inhibitor, increases Ikaros expression *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and restores effector and regulatory T cell balance in TB mice compared to control (unpublished data). This data further suggests that CK2 may be regulating Ikaros expression and function in our pancreatic cancer model. Currently, experiments using specific CK2 and PP1 inhibitors are being performed to confirm the roles of these two proteins in regulating Ikaros expression in pancreatic TB mice.

Defects in PP1 and CK2 can also affect Ikaros' function in binding DNA and its subcellular localization (14). In control splenocytes, Ikaros may be functional as its normal nuclear punctate staining was observed, which is characteristic of Ikaros localization to PC-HC which is essential for DNA binding and dimerization abilities (38). The diffuse, nuclear staining pattern suggests that Ikaros may not be localized to PC-HC and may therefore be functionally inactive in TB mice. In fact, this phenotype is similar to that observed in Ikaros mutants unable to interact with PP1 (14). It is also common in leukemic cells from infants with newly diagnosed ALL in which DN isoforms are prevalent (39), further supporting our findings.

We have shown that defects in Ikaros expression appear to limit the normal balance of T lymphocytes in our pancreatic cancer models. However, we have not specifically identified which T cell subsets mentioned (CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD8<sup>+</sup>, regulatory T cells) have intrinsic defects in Ikaros. Other CD3<sup>+</sup> T cell populations such as T helper (Th) cells (Th1, Th2, Th9, Th17), induced regulatory T cells (iTregs), natural regulatory T cells (nTregs), natural killer T (NK/T) cells, and CD8<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells, etc. may also be regulated by Ikaros and could potentially be included in our results. We have observed defects in some of these T cell populations in our TB mice and are attempting



to analyze these populations individually to identify possible defects in Ikaros expression, regulation and function. This will also allow us to identify other possible mechanisms by which Ikaros may be regulating T cell homeostasis in our model. These mechanisms may involve dysregulation of essential transcription factors (40, 41) and cytokines (42, 43) as well as alterations in cellular processes such as polarization, differentiation, proliferation (27, 33), anergy (44) and apoptosis (20) as reported in other studies. Helios, another Ikaros family member, has been reported to complex with Ikaros in T cells and may limit Ikaros function (45). Helios also plays a role in T cell activation and proliferation (46) and is involved in regulatory T cell development and function (47, 48). We have generated preliminary evidence that shows that Helios expression is downregulated in our TB mice (unpublished data) and are currently investigating its involvement along with Ikaros. We are also investigating Eos and Aiolos, other Ikaros family members, due to loss of homeostasis of other lymphocyte populations in this murine pancreatic cancer model (unpublished data).

This study is one of the firsts to investigate the possible involvement of Ikaros in regulating T cell immune homeostasis in pancreatic cancer. Our results show that pancreatic cancer factors cause reduced Ikaros expression in splenocytes, which may be as a result of Ikaros protein degradation by the ubiquitin/proteasome pathway. We also provide evidence that activation of this pathway may involve dysregulation of the balance between PP1 phosphatase and CK2 kinase. Furthermore, we show that this apparent functional inactivation of Ikaros potentially contributes to T cell imbalance and may have clinical relevance as a similar trend was observed in a translatable,



pancreatic cancer mouse model. In conclusion, this study highlights the importance of Ikaros in regulating T cell immune responses in pancreatic cancer hosts.

#### References

1. Morse MA, Hall JR, Plate JM. Countering tumor-induced immunosuppression during immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2009;9(3):331-9. doi: 10.1517/14712590802715756. PubMed PMID: 19216622.

2. Bazhin AV, Bayry J, Umansky V, Werner J, Karakhanova S. Overcoming immunosuppression as a new immunotherapeutic approach against pancreatic cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2(9):e25736. doi: 10.4161/onci.25736. PubMed PMID: 24327934; PMCID: PMC3850017.

3. Kennedy R, Celis E. Multiple roles for CD4+ T cells in anti-tumor immune responses. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:129-44. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00616.x. PubMed PMID: 18363998.

4. Ino Y, Yamazaki-Itoh R, Shimada K, Iwasaki M, Kosuge T, Kanai Y, Hiraoka N. Immune cell infiltration as an indicator of the immune microenvironment of pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer. 2013;108(4):914-23. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.32. PubMed PMID: 23385730; PMCID: PMC3590668.

5. Bazhin AV, Shevchenko I, Umansky V, Werner J, Karakhanova S. Two immune faces of pancreatic adenocarcinoma: possible implication for immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63(1):59-65. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1485-8. PubMed PMID: 24129765.



6. Ghansah T, Vohra N, Kinney K, Weber A, Kodumudi K, Springett G, Sarnaik AA, Pilon-Thomas S. Dendritic cell immunotherapy combined with gemcitabine chemotherapy enhances survival in a murine model of pancreatic carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2013;62(6):1083-91. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1407-9. PubMed PMID: 23604104; PMCID: PMC3666559.

 John LB, Ward AC. The Ikaros gene family: transcriptional regulators of hematopoiesis and immunity. Mol Immunol. 2011;48(9-10):1272-8. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2011.03.006. PubMed PMID: 21477865.

8. Winandy S, Wu P, Georgopoulos K. A dominant mutation in the Ikaros gene leads to rapid development of leukemia and lymphoma. Cell. 1995;83(2):289-99. PubMed PMID: 7585946.

9. Tinsley KW, Hong C, Luckey MA, Park JY, Kim GY, Yoon HW, Keller HR, Sacks AJ, Feigenbaum L, Park JH. Ikaros is required to survive positive selection and to maintain clonal diversity during T-cell development in the thymus. Blood. 2013;122(14):2358-68. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-12-472076. PubMed PMID: 23908463; PMCID: PMC3790506.

10. Georgopoulos K, Bigby M, Wang JH, Molnar A, Wu P, Winandy S, Sharpe A. The Ikaros gene is required for the development of all lymphoid lineages. Cell. 1994;79(1):143-56. PubMed PMID: 7923373.

11. Molnár A, Georgopoulos K. The Ikaros gene encodes a family of functionally diverse zinc finger DNA-binding proteins. Mol Cell Biol. 1994;14(12):8292-303. PubMed PMID: 7969165; PMCID: PMC359368.



12. Gurel Z, Ronni T, Ho S, Kuchar J, Payne KJ, Turk CW, Dovat S. Recruitment of ikaros to pericentromeric heterochromatin is regulated by phosphorylation. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(13):8291-300. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M707906200. PubMed PMID: 18223295; PMCID: PMC2276389.

 Gómez-del Arco P, Maki K, Georgopoulos K. Phosphorylation controls Ikaros's ability to negatively regulate the G(1)-S transition. Mol Cell Biol. 2004;24(7):2797-807.
PubMed PMID: 15024069; PMCID: PMC371126.

14. Popescu M, Gurel Z, Ronni T, Song C, Hung KY, Payne KJ, Dovat S. Ikaros stability and pericentromeric localization are regulated by protein phosphatase 1. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(20):13869-80. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M900209200. PubMed PMID: 19282287; PMCID: PMC2679487.

15. Georgopoulos K, Winandy S, Avitahl N. The role of the Ikaros gene in lymphocyte development and homeostasis. Annu Rev Immunol. 1997;15:155-76. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.15.1.155. PubMed PMID: 9143685.

16. Sun L, Heerema N, Crotty L, Wu X, Navara C, Vassilev A, Sensel M, Reaman GH, Uckun FM. Expression of dominant-negative and mutant isoforms of the antileukemic transcription factor Ikaros in infant acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(2):680-5. PubMed PMID: 9892693; PMCID: PMC15196.

Antica M, Cicin-Sain L, Sain LC, Kapitanovic S, Matulic M, Dzebro S, Dominis M.
Aberrant Ikaros, Aiolos, and Helios expression in Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma.
Blood. 2008;111(6):3296-7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-12-125682. PubMed PMID: 18332232.



18. Payne KJ, Nicolas JH, Zhu JY, Barsky LW, Crooks GM. Cutting edge: predominant expression of a novel lkaros isoform in normal human hemopoiesis. J Immunol. 2001;167(4):1867-70. PubMed PMID: 11489963.

19. Payne KJ, Huang G, Sahakian E, Zhu JY, Barteneva NS, Barsky LW, Payne MA, Crooks GM. Ikaros isoform x is selectively expressed in myeloid differentiation. J Immunol. 2003;170(6):3091-8. PubMed PMID: 12626565.

20. He LC, Xu HZ, Gu ZM, Liu CX, Chen GQ, Wang YF, Wen DH, Wu YL. Ikaros is degraded by proteasome-dependent mechanism in the early phase of apoptosis induction. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2011;406(3):430-4. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.02.062. PubMed PMID: 21329675.

21. Gandhi AK, Kang J, Havens CG, Conklin T, Ning Y, Wu L, Ito T, Ando H, Waldman MF, Thakurta A, Klippel A, Handa H, Daniel TO, Schafer PH, Chopra R. Immunomodulatory agents lenalidomide and pomalidomide co-stimulate T cells by inducing degradation of T cell repressors Ikaros and Aiolos via modulation of the E3 ubiquitin ligase complex CRL4(CRBN.). Br J Haematol. 2014;164(6):811-21. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12708. PubMed PMID: 24328678.

22. Krönke J, Udeshi ND, Narla A, Grauman P, Hurst SN, McConkey M, Svinkina T, Heckl D, Comer E, Li X, Ciarlo C, Hartman E, Munshi N, Schenone M, Schreiber SL, Carr SA, Ebert BL. Lenalidomide causes selective degradation of IKZF1 and IKZF3 in multiple myeloma cells. Science. 2014;343(6168):301-5. doi: 10.1126/science.1244851. PubMed PMID: 24292625.



23. Lu G, Middleton RE, Sun H, Naniong M, Ott CJ, Mitsiades CS, Wong KK, Bradner JE, Kaelin WG. The myeloma drug lenalidomide promotes the cereblondependent destruction of Ikaros proteins. Science. 2014;343(6168):305-9. doi: 10.1126/science.1244917. PubMed PMID: 24292623.

24. Zhang L, Hu JJ, Gong F. MG132 inhibition of proteasome blocks apoptosis induced by severe DNA damage. Cell Cycle. 2011;10(20):3515-8. doi: 10.4161/cc.10.20.17789. PubMed PMID: 22031102; PMCID: PMC3266179.

Dovat S, Song C, Payne KJ, Li Z. Ikaros, CK2 kinase, and the road to leukemia.
Mol Cell Biochem. 2011;356(1-2):201-7. doi: 10.1007/s11010-011-0964-5. PubMed
PMID: 21750978; PMCID: PMC3665334.

26. Brown KE, Guest SS, Smale ST, Hahm K, Merkenschlager M, Fisher AG. Association of transcriptionally silent genes with Ikaros complexes at centromeric heterochromatin. Cell. 1997;91(6):845-54. PubMed PMID: 9413993.

27. Avitahl N, Winandy S, Friedrich C, Jones B, Ge Y, Georgopoulos K. Ikaros sets thresholds for T cell activation and regulates chromosome propagation. Immunity. 1999;10(3):333-43. PubMed PMID: 10204489.

28. Wang JH, Nichogiannopoulou A, Wu L, Sun L, Sharpe AH, Bigby M, Georgopoulos K. Selective defects in the development of the fetal and adult lymphoid system in mice with an Ikaros null mutation. Immunity. 1996;5(6):537-49. PubMed PMID: 8986714.

29. Gerloni M, Zanetti M. CD4 T cells in tumor immunity. Springer Semin Immunopathol. 2005;27(1):37-48. doi: 10.1007/s00281-004-0193-z. PubMed PMID: 15965712.



30. Hadrup S, Donia M, Thor Straten P. Effector CD4 and CD8 T cells and their role in the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Microenviron. 2013;6(2):123-33. doi: 10.1007/s12307-012-0127-6. PubMed PMID: 23242673; PMCID: PMC3717059.

 Husain K, Centeno BA, Chen DT, Hingorani SR, Sebti SM, Malafa MP. Vitamin E δ-tocotrienol prolongs survival in the LSL-KrasG12D/+;LSL-Trp53R172H/+;Pdx-1-Cre (KPC) transgenic mouse model of pancreatic cancer. Cancer Prev Res (Phila).
2013;6(10):1074-83. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-13-0157. PubMed PMID: 23963802.

32. Hingorani SR, Wang L, Multani AS, Combs C, Deramaudt TB, Hruban RH, Rustgi AK, Chang S, Tuveson DA. Trp53R172H and KrasG12D cooperate to promote chromosomal instability and widely metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in mice. Cancer Cell. 2005;7(5):469-83. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2005.04.023. PubMed PMID: 15894267.

33. Kathrein KL, Lorenz R, Innes AM, Griffiths E, Winandy S. Ikaros induces quiescence and T-cell differentiation in a leukemia cell line. Mol Cell Biol. 2005;25(5):1645-54. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.5.1645-1654.2005. PubMed PMID: 15713624; PMCID: PMC549358.

34. Sun L, Crotty ML, Sensel M, Sather H, Navara C, Nachman J, Steinherz PG, Gaynon PS, Seibel N, Mao C, Vassilev A, Reaman GH, Uckun FM. Expression of dominant-negative lkaros isoforms in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Clin Cancer Res. 1999;5(8):2112-20. PubMed PMID: 10473095.



35. Payne KJ, Dovat S. Ikaros and tumor suppression in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Crit Rev Oncog. 2011;16(1-2):3-12. PubMed PMID: 22150303; PMCID: PMC3243972.

Kastner P, Chan S. Role of Ikaros in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. World J Biol Chem. 2011;2(6):108-14. doi: 10.4331/wjbc.v2.i6.108. PubMed PMID: 21765975;
PMCID: PMC3135856.

37. Pilon-Thomas S, Nelson N, Vohra N, Jerald M, Pendleton L, Szekeres K, Ghansah T. Murine pancreatic adenocarcinoma dampens SHIP-1 expression and alters MDSC homeostasis and function. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):e27729. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027729. PubMed PMID: 22132131; PMCID: PMC3222660.

 Koipally J, Heller EJ, Seavitt JR, Georgopoulos K. Unconventional potentiation of gene expression by Ikaros. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(15):13007-15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111371200. PubMed PMID: 11799125.

39. Sun L, Goodman PA, Wood CM, Crotty ML, Sensel M, Sather H, Navara C, Nachman J, Steinherz PG, Gaynon PS, Seibel N, Vassilev A, Juran BD, Reaman GH, Uckun FM. Expression of aberrantly spliced oncogenic ikaros isoforms in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17(12):3753-66. PubMed PMID: 10577847.

40. Yap WH, Yeoh E, Tay A, Brenner S, Venkatesh B. STAT4 is a target of the hematopoietic zinc-finger transcription factor lkaros in T cells. FEBS Lett. 2005;579(20):4470-8. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.07.018. PubMed PMID: 16081070.



41. Kathrein KL, Chari S, Winandy S. Ikaros directly represses the notch target gene Hes1 in a leukemia T cell line: implications for CD4 regulation. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(16):10476-84. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M709643200. PubMed PMID: 18287091; PMCID: PMC2447659.

42. Thomas RM, Chen C, Chunder N, Ma L, Taylor J, Pearce EJ, Wells AD. Ikaros silences T-bet expression and interferon-gamma production during T helper 2 differentiation. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(4):2545-53. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.038794. PubMed PMID: 19923223; PMCID: PMC2807311.

43. Bandyopadhyay S, Duré M, Paroder M, Soto-Nieves N, Puga I, Macián F. Interleukin 2 gene transcription is regulated by Ikaros-induced changes in histone acetylation in anergic T cells. Blood. 2007;109(7):2878-86. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-037754. PubMed PMID: 17148585; PMCID: PMC1852212.

44. Thomas RM, Chunder N, Chen C, Umetsu SE, Winandy S, Wells AD. Ikaros enforces the costimulatory requirement for IL2 gene expression and is required for anergy induction in CD4+ T lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2007;179(11):7305-15. PubMed PMID: 18025173.

45. Hahm K, Cobb BS, McCarty AS, Brown KE, Klug CA, Lee R, Akashi K, Weissman IL, Fisher AG, Smale ST. Helios, a T cell-restricted Ikaros family member that quantitatively associates with Ikaros at centromeric heterochromatin. Genes Dev. 1998;12(6):782-96. PubMed PMID: 9512513; PMCID: PMC316626.

46. Akimova T, Beier UH, Wang L, Levine MH, Hancock WW. Helios expression is a marker of T cell activation and proliferation. PLoS One. 2011;6(8):e24226. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024226. PubMed PMID: 21918685; PMCID: PMC3168881.



47. Himmel ME, MacDonald KG, Garcia RV, Steiner TS, Levings MK. Helios+ and Helios- cells coexist within the natural FOXP3+ T regulatory cell subset in humans. J Immunol. 2013;190(5):2001-8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201379. PubMed PMID: 23359504.

48. Baine I, Basu S, Ames R, Sellers RS, Macian F. Helios induces epigenetic silencing of IL2 gene expression in regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2013;190(3):1008-16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200792. PubMed PMID: 23275607; PMCID: PMC3558938.



#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

# CK2 INHIBITION INCREASES IKAROS EXPRESSION AND RESTORES EFFECTOR AND REGULATORY T CELL IMMUNITY IN MURINE PANCREATIC CANCER

#### Keywords

Pancreatic Cancer, Ikaros, CK2, Apigenin, T Cells

#### Abstract

Pancreatic cancer evades immune destruction by favoring the development of regulatory T cells (Tregs) that inhibit effector T cells. The transcription factor lkaros is critical for lymphocyte development, especially T cells. We have previously shown that downregulation of lkaros occurs as a result of its protein degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome system in our Panc02 tumor-bearing (TB) mouse model. Mechanistically, we observed a deregulation in the balance between CK2 and PP1, which suggested that increased CK2 activity is responsible for the regulating lkaros' stability in our model. We also showed that this loss of lkaros expression is associated with a significant decrease in CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell percentages but increased CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Tregs in TB mice. In this study, we evaluated the effects of the dietary flavonoid apigenin, on lkaros expression and T cell immune responses. Treatment of splenocytes from naïve mice with apigenin, stabilized lkaros expression and prevented lkaros downregulation in the



presence of Panc02 cells, *in vitro*, similar to the proteasome inhibitor, MG132. *In vivo*, treatment of TB mice with apigenin (TB-Api) reduced tumor weights and prevented splenomegaly. Apigenin treatment also restored protein expression of some Ikaros isoforms, which may be attributed to its moderate inhibition of CK2 activity. This partial restoration of Ikaros expression was accompanied by a significant increase in CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell percentages and a reduction in Treg percentages. In addition, apigenin treated TB mice were better able to prime allogeneic BALB/c CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses, compared to TB mice. These results provide further evidence that Ikaros is regulated by CK2 in our pancreatic cancer model. More importantly, our findings suggest that apigenin may be a possible therapeutic agent for stabilizing Ikaros expression and function to maintain T cell homeostasis in murine pancreatic cancer.

#### Introduction

Pancreatic adenocarcinoma is one of the most aggressive and most lethal solid malignancies (1). The pancreatic tumor microenvironment favors the recruitment of immunosuppressive cells that dampen anti-tumor immune responses, allowing tumor cells to evade immune surveillance and leading to tumor progression (2, 3). Understanding the mechanisms by which these anti-tumor immune responses, specifically those mediated by T cells, are regulated in pancreatic cancer is therefore critical to developing new, targeted treatment options.

Effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells both play important roles in the host's immune response to cancer (4). Early studies showed a conventional "helper" role for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells by primarily influencing immune responses by regulating CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T



lymphocytes (CTLs) (5). The percentages and function of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are significantly decreased in the peripheral blood of pancreatic cancer patients, compared to healthy controls (6). One contributing mechanism to this diminished anti-tumor response in pancreatic cancer patients is the induction and recruitment of suppressive cells by tumor-derived factors (2, 3). In particular, immunosuppresive regulatory T cells (Tregs) are a subpopulation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that express the forkhead boxP3 (FoxP3) gene (7) and function by maintaining peripheral immune tolerance against self-antigens and foreign antigens by suppressing CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses (8). The percentages of Tregs are elevated in pancreatic cancer hosts (9-11). Delineating the mechanisms by which this balance in T cells is loss is critical for the generation of effective anti-tumor immune responses in pancreatic cancer hosts.

Alterations in transcription factors that play critical roles in the commitment and maintenance of lymphocyte development often promote malignant transformation (12). One such example is the Ikaros family of zinc finger transcription factors that includes Ikaros, Aiolos, Helios, Eos and Pegasus proteins. These transcription factors regulate cell-fate decisions during hematopoiesis and are thus important players in the development of immune cells (13). In particular, Ikaros, the founding member is particularly important for normal T cell development (14-16). Ikaros is regulated posttranscriptionally by alternative splicing, which produces functional and dominant-negative (DN) isoforms, which can inhibit its activity (17, 18). Ikaros is also regulated by posttranslational modifications, which primarily include phosphorylation (19). Phosphorylation by protein kinase CK2 and dephosphorylation by protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) can negatively affect Ikaros' stability, localization and function (20). More



specifically, CK2 phosphorylation of Ikaros impairs its DNA binding ability, regulation of cell cycle progression, and its function in T cells, alters its subcellular localization and leads to its ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation via phosphorylation in PEST regions (20-22). On the contrary, dephosphorylation of Ikaros by PP1 maintains its stability and function (20, 21, 23). CK2 is a ubiquitously expressed and highly conserved serine/threonine kinase that regulates a number of critical cellular processes, including cell proliferation and apoptosis (24-26). CK2 is widely studied in blood and solid malignancies (27). Overexpression of its tetrameric subunits and deregulation of its activity have been linked to numerous cancers (24). Overexpression of CK2 in mice leads to T cell leukemias and lymphomas (28-30). However, limited studies have focused on CK2's involvement in regulating immune responses.

Apigenin (API) is a natural plant flavonoid and selective CK2 inhibitor that targets CK2-dependent signaling pathways. Apigenin has a number of reported biological effects including anti-proliferative, anti-oxidant anti-inflammatory and anti-carcinogenic properties, which are thought to be integral part of its anti-cancer property (31). Recently, there has been increased exploration of the use of apigenin as a chemopreventive agent in a number of cancer models (32). More specifically, apigenin has been shown to induce cell death and also enhance the anti-proliferative effects of chemotherapy agents in human pancreatic cancer cells (33-35).

We have previously shown that Ikaros undergoes proteasomal degradation, which may contribute to altered effector and regulatory T cell development in murine pancreatic cancer. Our studies suggested that a shift in the balance between CK2 and PP1, favoring CK2 activity may be responsible. Therefore, to further delineate CK2's



involvement in regulating Ikaros expression and thus, T cell responses, we investigated the effects of apigenin in our model. We found that apigenin is able to stabilize Ikaros' expression *in vitro* and *in vivo* while also restoring the balance between effector CD4/CD8<sup>+</sup> and regulatory T cells. This correlated with increased immune function as indicated by increased proliferation of allogeneic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in apigenin treated mice in a one-way allogeneic mixed leukocyte reaction (MLR). This study highlights the importance of CK2 in regulating Ikaros expression and its possible influence on T cell immune responses in murine pancreatic cancer.

#### Results

#### Apigenin prevents lkaros downregulation in vitro

We previously showed that MG132, is able to stabilize Ikaros expression *in vitro*, providing evidence that Ikaros undergoes ubiquitin proteasomal degradation. A balance between CK2 and PP1 regulates Ikaros stability and function (20, 21, 36). In particular, increased CK2 activity is thought to cause Ikaros degradation (21). Therefore, inhibiting CK2 should therefore stabilize Ikaros expression and prevent its degradation, similar to MG132. We treated naïve splenocytes with the CK2 inhibitor, apigenin, as well as MG132, both at 10µM and 20µM, to compare their effects on Ikaros expression. Both apigenin and MG132, stabilized Ikaros expression (**Figure 4.1**; Lanes 2 and 3 vs. Lane 1; Lanes 4 and 5 vs. Lane 1) and also displayed a synergistic effect, which shows accumulation of ubiquitination ladders (**Figure 4.1**; Lane 6). In addition, both treatments appeared to induce ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (**Figure 4.1**; Lanes 2 and 3 vs.



Lane 1; Lanes 4 and 5 vs. Lane 1). Next, we recapitulated the *in vivo* pancreatic environment *in vitro* by adding murine Panc02 cells to the culture of naïve splenocytes. As previously reported, the addition of murine Panc02 cells causes a reduction, although not significant, in Ikaros protein expression (**Figure 4.1**;Lane 7) and MG132 treatment prevented this downregulation at both 10µM and 20µM (Figure 3.1;Lanes 8 and 9 vs. Lane 7) in naïve splenocytes. Interestingly, apigenin treatment also prevented Panc02 reduction of Ikaros protein expression in splenocytes at the same concentration as MG132 (**Figure 4.1**;Lanes 10 and 11 vs. Lane 7). However, the synergistic effect of the two drugs were not as apparent in the presence of Panc02 cells (**Figure 4.1**;Lane 12). Overall, these results suggest that apigenin is able to stabilize Ikaros and prevent its downregulation in a pancreatic tumor microenvironment. Moreover, the similarities to MG132 and their additive effect, also further suggests that apigenin may be preventing Ikaros' proteasomal degradation, possibly via its inhibition of CK2.

#### Apigenin reduces tumor burden *in vivo*

Due to the effects of apigenin *in vitro*, we next determined whether apigenin could have similar effects on Ikaros *in vivo*. Apigenin has been shown to have anti-tumor effects in a number of tumor models including breast cancer and melanoma and (37, 38). We therefore evaluated the effects of apigenin treatment on tumor burden using our pancreatic cancer model. Treatment of TB mice with 25 mg/kg apigenin (TB-Api) caused a significant decrease in tumor weight compared to vehicle-treated TB mice (**Figure 4.2A**).





**Figure 4.1 Apigenin prevents Ikaros downregulation** *in vitro.* Western blot analysis of Ikaros in naïve splenocytes co-cultured in the absence or presence of Panc02 cells, treated with apigenin (API) and/or MG132 for four hours at  $10\mu$ M and  $20\mu$ M, *in vitro*. To control for equal protein loading the blot was reprobed with an antibody specific to GAPDH. Representative quantification of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data is shown. Represented is the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. Lanes 1-6 vs. Lane 1; Lane 7 vs. Lane 1; Lanes 8-12 vs. Lane 7 \**p*<0.05, \*\**p*<0.005; \*\*\**p*<0.0001(by two-tailed Student's t test).

Next, we evaluated whether apigenin treatment may have any toxicity effects in

vivo by weighing all mice at the end of the study. Results showed that there was no



significant difference in the weights of TB-Api mice compared to TB mice at the end of the study (**Figure 4.2B**). We previously published that our TB mice displayed splenomegaly, marked by a significant increased in spleen weights (39). We found that *in vivo* apigenin treatment reversed this pancreatic cancer induced splenomegaly and caused a significant reduction in spleen weights in TB-Api compared to TB mice (**Figure 4.2C**).



**Figure 4.2 Apigenin reduces tumor burden** *in vivo* **A.** Tumor weights of tumorbearing (TB) and TB-apigenin treated (TB-Api) mice on the last day of the study. **B.** Spleen weights of control (ctrl), TB and TB-Api mice on the last day of the study. **C.** Body weights of control (ctrl), TB and TB-Api mice on the last day of the study. . Represented is the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. (n=3) \*p<0.05, (by two-tailed Student's t test).

#### Apigenin partially stabilizes lkaros expression in vivo

Our studies suggest that increased CK2 may be modulating lkaros expression in our TB mice. Furthermore, since our *in vitro* data shows that apigenin can stabilize lkaros expression, especially in the presence of murine Panc02 cells, we evaluated the effect of apigenin treatment on lkaros protein expression in an *in vivo* pancreatic tumor microenvironment. Western blot analyses revealed that apigenin partially restored



Ikaros expression in TB-Api mice compared to TB mice (**Figure 4.3**). More specifically, DN Ikaros isoforms, described as less than 46 kDa) (40), were specifically increased in TB-Api compared to TB mice (**Figure 4.3**).



Figure 4.3 Apigenin partially stabilizes lkaros expression *in vivo*. A. Western blot analysis of lkaros protein expression in splenocytes from control, TB and TB-Api mice. To control for equal protein loading, the blot was reprobed with an antibody specific to  $\beta$ -actin. Lines represent cropped images from the same western blot. Representative quantification of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data is shown. Represented is the mean ± S.E.M. of three independent experiments. (n=3) \*p<0.05, (by two-tailed Student's t test).

### Apigenin inhibits CK2 activity in vivo

We also evaluated apigenin's effect on CK2 expression using an antibody specific to its catalytic alpha subunit by western blot analysis. Splenocytes from TB-Api mice showed a slight decrease in the molecular weight of  $CK2\alpha$  than seen in TB mice, similar to that seen in control splenocytes (**Figure 4.4A**). To further delineate the effect of apigenin on CK2 in our pancreatic TB model, we evaluated CK2 activity and a found that apigenin treatment caused a reduction in CK2 activity in TB-Api mice, compared to



TB. However, this inhibition was not significant (**Figure 4.4B**). We also evaluated PP1 expression and saw no difference in the expression of PP1 isoforms expressed in TB-Api mice compared to TB mice, while a higher MW isoform is also observed in control mice (**Figure 4.4C**). These data strongly suggest that apigenin is able to stabilize Ikaros expression *in vivo*, which may depend on its ability to inhibit CK2 activity.

# Apigenin partially restores T cell homeostasis and immune responses *in vivo*

Next, we evaluated whether apigenin's restoration of Ikaros expression had any effect in the previously observed shift in T cell numbers in TB mice. TB-Api mice had significantly increased CD4<sup>+</sup> (**Figure 4.5A**) and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell percentages (**Figure 4.5B**) but reduced Treg percentages compared to TB mice (**Figure 4.5C**). These results suggest that Ikaros expression may in fact influence T cell development in our pancreatic cancer model, in response to CK2 regulation. Next, we determined whether apigenin could influence immune responses in our TB mice. We performed a one-way allogeneic mixed leukocyte reaction (MLR) in which splenocytes from control, TB and TB-Api mice were used as stimulators to CFSE-labeled BALB/c responders. As expected, TB whole splenocytes were deficient in their ability to prime allogeneic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell immune responses compared to control splenocytes (**Figure 4.5D**). In contrast, TB-Api whole splenocytes restored this ability to prime allogeneic responses compared to TB splenocytes (**Figure 4.5D**). Having observed that TB-Api mice may could elicit enhanced immune responses, we then evaluated IFN-γ production of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from





**Figure 4.4 Apigenin inhibits CK2 activity** *in vivo*. **A.** Western blot analysis of CK2 $\alpha$  protein expression in control, TB and TB-API splenocytes. **B.** Counts per minute (C.P.M.) of CK2 activity in protein lysates from splenocytes from control, TB and TB-API mice as assayed by an *in vitro* CK2 kinase assay. Representative of three independent experiments. Represented is the mean ± S.E.M. of three independent experiments. (n=3) \*p<0.05 (by two-tailed Student's t test). **C.** Western blot analysis of PP1 catalytic protein expression in control, TB and TB-API splenocytes. **A. and C.** Representative quantification of normalized densitometric ratios of western blot data is shown. To control for equal protein loading, the blots were reprobed with an antibody specific to  $\beta$ -actin. Representative of three independent experiments. (n=3) \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.0001 (by two-tailed Student's t test).

these mice. Activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells produce IFN- $\gamma$ , which is critical to their effector function in eliminating tumor cells (41). Intracellular staining and flow cytometry analyses revealed that there were defects in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell IFN- $\gamma$  production in TB mice, which was significantly enhanced with apigenin treatment (**Figure 4.5E**). These findings suggest a correlation between Ikaros expression, T cell development and immune



responses in a pancreatic tumor microenvironment and points to the involvement of CK2 is regulating this mechanism.



Figure 4.5 Apigenin partially restores T cell homeostasis and immune responses *in vivo*. Flow cytometry analysis of **A**.  $CD4^+T$  cell **B**.  $CD8^+T$  cell and **C**.  $CD4^+CD25^+$  Treg percentages in splenocytes from control TB and TB-Api mice. **D**. Allogeneic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation responses of CFSE-labeled BALB/c splenocytes (responders) in response to control, TB and TB-API splenocytes (stimulators) in a one-way mixed-leukocyte reaction (MLR), as analyzed by flow cytometry analysis. **E**. Flow cytometry analysis of IFN- $\gamma$  production of CD8+ T cells in splenocytes from control, TB and TB-Api mice. Represented is the mean ± S.E.M. of two independent experiments. (n=3) \*p<0.05, .\*\*p<0.005; \*\*\*p<0.0001(by two-tailed Student's t test).



#### Discussion

Although widely studied in hematological malignancies (13), the role of Ikaros in solid cancers has not been fully investigated. We have previously identified the possible involvement of lkaros in maintaining effector and regulatory T cell homeostasis in a preclinical pancreatic cancer model. Our data suggested that loss of lkaros was as a result of its ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation in response to increased CK2 activity versus PP1. In the current study, we make use of a selective CK2 inhibitor, apigenin, to further delineate the mechanism by which lkaros is regulated and to provide functional evidence for its involvement in modulating T cell anti tumor immune responses. In vitro, apigenin stabilized lkaros expression in naïve splenocytes and prevented its downregulation in the presence of murine Panc02 cells, similar to MG132 treatment. In vivo, apigenin treatment of TB mice reduced tumor burden, reduced CK2 activity and restored expression of some Ikaros isoforms. This coincided with increased effector CD4/CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers while decreasing Treg numbers in TB-API compared to TB mice. Apigenin treatment of TB mice also increased CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation of allogeneic splenocytes in a one-way MLR. Our study sheds insight into Ikaros' regulation of T cell immunity in pancreatic cancer and defines one possible mechanism by which it is regulated. Overall, these results further suggest that pharmacological CK2 inhibition restores lkaros expression and can influence T cell immune responses in murine pancreatic cancer.

Phosphorylation of Ikaros by CK2 induces Ikaros degradation while dephosphorylation by PP1 maintains its stability (20, 21, 36). *In vitro*, we found that apigenin appeared to mimic the effects of MG132 by stabilizing Ikaros expression,



causing the accumulation of its ubiquitination ladders. These data suggests that apigenin may be similarly preventing ubiquitin-proteasomal degradation of Ikaros via its ability to inhibit CK2 activity. The combined effects of MG132 and apigenin further provide evidence for this mechanism. As a result, our current working hypothesis it that apigenin may be inhibiting the upstream effector of the pathway, CK2 and its ability to hyperphosphorylate Ikaros leading to its ubiquitination and degradation. On the contrary, we propose that MG132 works downstream of this pathway by inhibiting the proteasome. Ultimately, both inhibitors would lead to stability of Ikaros expression, and thus its function in regulating T cell homeostasis (**Figure 4.6**).

Alternatively, apigenin has also been reported to regulate proteasomal degradation. More specifically, apigenin has been shown to potentially inhibit the chymotrypsin-like activity of the proteasome (37), similar to MG132 (42, 43). It is therefore possible that apigenin may stabilize Ikaros expression by inhibiting both CK2 and/or proteasomal activity, which needs to be further investigated. Furthermore, clinically available proteasomal inhibitors exhibit some toxic effects (44), highlighting the need for safer alternatives such as natural, non-toxic compounds like apigenin.

*In vivo*, apigenin treatment significantly reduced tumor weights of TB-API compared to TB mice. These findings suggest that apigenin may have anti-tumor properties in murine pancreatic cancer. However, apigenin treatment could have been more effective in reducing tumor burden and tumor size. This may be attributed to the frequency and dosage of apigenin administered, as although CK2 activity was inhibited by at least half, it was not significant (p=0.053). In depth pharmacokinetics and dose-dependent studies need to be done to determine a more effective dosage of apigenin




**Figure 4.6 Proposed Model. A representation of Ikaros' regulation by CK2 and PP1.** We have not delineated PP1's role but hypothesize that PP1 dephosphorylates Ikaros maintaining its protein stability. However, we propose that CK2 hyperphosphorylates Ikaros, which facilitates its polyubiquitination and eventual protein degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome system. We propose that apigenin inhibits CK2 activity, stabilizing Ikaros expression and resulting in T cell (effector and Treg) homeostasis. We also propose that MG132 acts downstream by directly inhibiting the activity of the ubiquitin-proteasome system, preventing proteasomal degradation of Ikaros and thereby stabilizing its expression and maintaining T ell homeostasis.

treatment for our pancreatic TB mice. Western blot analyses of  $CK2\alpha$  expression showed an increase in expression in splenocytes from TB-API compared to TB mice. However, this was accompanied by a reduction in the MW of the observed band, similar to that of control mice. This suggests that apigenin treatment may be inhibiting a



posttranslational modification event of CK2. Phosphorylation of CK2 by kinases increases its activity (45, 46). Therefore, future experiments will be conducted to evaluate whether kinases such as ERK (45), and Cdk1/cycliB1 (47, 48) may be responsible for modulating CK2 activity in our pancreatic TB model.

Apigenin treatment appeared to primarily increase expression of DN Ikaros isoforms *in vivo*. Typically, the overexpression of DN isoforms is said to inhibit the activity of Ikaros and is associated with T cell malignancies (49). However, since the increase in expression of these isoforms conferred a return to T cell homeostasis and immune function, they may be of importance in regulating immune cells in our pancreatic cancer mice. Confirmation of these isoforms and further experiments to understand their role in immune responses and pancreatic tumor progression are therefore needed. It is possible that an increased dosage of apigenin and/or more frequent treatments, may lead to a significant decrease in tumor growth, CK2 activity and thus stability of more or all Ikaros isoforms as well as T cell percentages and function.

Apigenin treatment significantly increased CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells but decreased Tregs percentages. Our results showed functional evidence that apigenin modulates immune responses in our TB mice since apigenin treatment increased IFN-γ production of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. This is an indication of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activity and cytotoxic function (50, 51). Apigenin also significantly increased the ability of antigen-presenting cells (APCs) to prime allogeneic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell immune responses. In our one-way MLR, allogeneic BALB/c CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses are stimulated by APCs, of control, TB and TB-API mice. Dendritic cells (DC) are the most potent APCs. Their function is often evaluated by their



ability to induce proliferation of allogeneic T cells in MLR assays (52). Therefore, the ability of TB-API splenocytes to effectively stimulate allogeneic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation may be as a result of apigenin's effects on DC function, which has previously been reported (53). Apigenin's effects on DC function may be as a result of its reduction of Treg percentages, which can inhibit DC function and T cell immune responses (8). However, these Treg percentages were not fully restored to those of control mice, which may also explain why allogeneic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation was fully not restored to control levels. In addition, we have previously published that other immunosuppressive cells such as myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC) are expanded in our TB mice (39). MDSC are immature macrophages, dendritic cells and granulocytes (54). Apigenin reduction in MDSC percentages may be as a result of maturation of these immature cells, producing mature dendritic cells and other APCs, which could also account for increased allogeneic immune responses. Our unpublished findings suggest that apigenin reduces MDSC percentages, which may also account for the increased proliferation of allogeneic T cell proliferation in TB-Api mice MLR assay. Overall, our results with apigenin provide evidence that lkaros may be especially involved in regulating T cell immune responses in our TB model.

In conclusion, this study highlights the importance of CK2 in regulating Ikaros expression and T cell immune responses in a solid pancreatic microenvironment. Our results suggest that the natural flavonoid, apigenin, may be therapeutically beneficial in stabilizing Ikaros expression, thus restoring T cell homeostasis and enhancing anti-tumor immune responses, which may lead to better treatment options for pancreatic cancer.



### References

1. Oberstein PE, Olive KP. Pancreatic cancer: why is it so hard to treat? Therap Adv Gastroenterol. 2013;6(4):321-37. doi: 10.1177/1756283X13478680. PubMed PMID: 23814611; PMCID: PMC3667471.

2. Morse MA, Hall JR, Plate JM. Countering tumor-induced immunosuppression during immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2009;9(3):331-9. doi: 10.1517/14712590802715756. PubMed PMID: 19216622.

3. Bazhin AV, Bayry J, Umansky V, Werner J, Karakhanova S. Overcoming immunosuppression as a new immunotherapeutic approach against pancreatic cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2(9):e25736. doi: 10.4161/onci.25736. PubMed PMID: 24327934; PMCID: PMC3850017.

4. Kennedy R, Celis E. Multiple roles for CD4+ T cells in anti-tumor immune responses. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:129-44. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00616.x. PubMed PMID: 18363998.

5. Kim HJ, Cantor H. CD4 T-cell subsets and tumor immunity: the helpful and the not-so-helpful. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(2):91-8. Epub 2014/04/30. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.cir-13-0216. PubMed PMID: 24778273.

Xianjun Y, Shunrong J, Jin X, Wantong Y, Bin Q, Wenyan X, Bo Z, Yongfeng X.
 CD8+ T Cells Are Compromised In Human Pancreatic Cancer. Translational Medicine.
 p. 2161-1025.1000105.

7. Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2003;4(4):330-6. Epub 2003/03/04. doi: 10.1038/ni904. PubMed PMID: 12612578.



Shevach EM. Biological functions of regulatory T cells. Adv Immunol.
 2011;112:137-76. Epub 2011/11/29. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-387827-4.00004-8.
 PubMed PMID: 22118408.

 Hiraoka N, Onozato K, Kosuge T, Hirohashi S. Prevalence of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells increases during the progression of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma and its premalignant lesions. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(18):5423-34. Epub 2006/09/27. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-06-0369. PubMed PMID: 17000676.

10. Ghansah T, Vohra N, Kinney K, Weber A, Kodumudi K, Springett G, Sarnaik AA, Pilon-Thomas S. Dendritic cell immunotherapy combined with gemcitabine chemotherapy enhances survival in a murine model of pancreatic carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2013;62(6):1083-91. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1407-9. PubMed PMID: 23604104; PMCID: PMC3666559.

11. Yamamoto T, Yanagimoto H, Satoi S, Toyokawa H, Hirooka S, Yamaki S, Yui R, Yamao J, Kim S, Kwon AH. Circulating CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with pancreatic cancer. Pancreas. 2012;41(3):409-15. doi: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e3182373a66. PubMed PMID: 22158072.

12. Rebollo A, Schmitt C. Ikaros, Aiolos and Helios: transcription regulators and lymphoid malignancies. Immunol Cell Biol. 2003;81(3):171-5. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1711.2003.01159.x. PubMed PMID: 12752680.

13. John LB, Ward AC. The Ikaros gene family: transcriptional regulators of hematopoiesis and immunity. Mol Immunol. 2011;48(9-10):1272-8. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2011.03.006. PubMed PMID: 21477865.



14. Kathrein KL, Lorenz R, Innes AM, Griffiths E, Winandy S. Ikaros induces quiescence and T-cell differentiation in a leukemia cell line. Mol Cell Biol. 2005;25(5):1645-54. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.5.1645-1654.2005. PubMed PMID: 15713624; PMCID: PMC549358.

15. Urban JA, Brugmann W, Winandy S. Cutting Edge: Ikaros null thymocytes mature into the CD4 lineage with reduced TCR signal: A study using CD3{zeta} immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif transgenic mice. J Immunol. 2009;182(7):3955-9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0802869. PubMed PMID: 19299690; PMCID: PMC2777666.

16. Winandy S, Wu P, Georgopoulos K. A dominant mutation in the Ikaros gene leads to rapid development of leukemia and lymphoma. Cell. 1995;83(2):289-99. PubMed PMID: 7585946.

17. Capece D, Zazzeroni F, Mancarelli MM, Verzella D, Fischietti M, Di Tommaso A, Maccarone R, Plebani S, Di Ianni M, Gulino A, Alesse E. A novel, non-canonical splice variant of the Ikaros gene is aberrantly expressed in B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders. PLoS One. 2013;8(7):e68080. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0068080. PubMed PMID: 23874502; PMCID: PMC3706598.

18. Georgopoulos K, Winandy S, Avitahl N. The role of the Ikaros gene in lymphocyte development and homeostasis. Annu Rev Immunol. 1997;15:155-76. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.15.1.155. PubMed PMID: 9143685.

19. Gómez-del Arco P, Maki K, Georgopoulos K. Phosphorylation controls Ikaros's ability to negatively regulate the G(1)-S transition. Mol Cell Biol. 2004;24(7):2797-807. PubMed PMID: 15024069; PMCID: PMC371126.



20. Popescu M, Gurel Z, Ronni T, Song C, Hung KY, Payne KJ, Dovat S. Ikaros stability and pericentromeric localization are regulated by protein phosphatase 1. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(20):13869-80. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M900209200. PubMed PMID: 19282287; PMCID: PMC2679487.

21. Dovat S, Song C, Payne KJ, Li Z. Ikaros, CK2 kinase, and the road to leukemia. Mol Cell Biochem. 2011;356(1-2):201-7. doi: 10.1007/s11010-011-0964-5. PubMed PMID: 21750978; PMCID: PMC3665334.

22. Gurel Z, Ronni T, Ho S, Kuchar J, Payne KJ, Turk CW, Dovat S. Recruitment of ikaros to pericentromeric heterochromatin is regulated by phosphorylation. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(13):8291-300. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M707906200. PubMed PMID: 18223295; PMCID: PMC2276389.

23. Wang H, Song C, Gurel Z, Song N, Ma J, Ouyang H, Lai L, Payne KJ, Dovat S. Protein Phosphatase 1 (PP1) and Casein Kinase II (CK2) regulate Ikaros-mediated repression of TdT in thymocytes and T-cell leukemia. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2014;61(12):2230-5. doi: 10.1002/pbc.25221. PubMed PMID: 25214003; PMCID: PMC4205270.

24. Ahmad KA, Wang G, Slaton J, Unger G, Ahmed K. Targeting CK2 for cancer therapy. Anticancer Drugs. 2005;16(10):1037-43. PubMed PMID: 16222144.

25. Pinna LA, Allende JE. Protein kinase CK2 in health and disease: Protein kinase CK2: an ugly duckling in the kinome pond. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2009;66(11-12):1795-9. doi: 10.1007/s00018-009-9148-9. PubMed PMID: 19387554.



26. Litchfield DW. Protein kinase CK2: structure, regulation and role in cellular decisions of life and death. Biochem J. 2003;369(Pt 1):1-15. doi: 10.1042/BJ20021469. PubMed PMID: 12396231; PMCID: PMC1223072.

27. Duncan JS, Litchfield DW. Too much of a good thing: the role of protein kinase CK2 in tumorigenesis and prospects for therapeutic inhibition of CK2. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2008;1784(1):33-47. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2007.08.017. PubMed PMID: 17931986.

28. Seldin DC, Lou DY, Toselli P, Landesman-Bollag E, Dominguez I. Gene targeting of CK2 catalytic subunits. Mol Cell Biochem. 2008;316(1-2):141-7. doi: 10.1007/s11010-008-9811-8. PubMed PMID: 18594950; PMCID: PMC3696998.

29. Landesman-Bollag E, Channavajhala PL, Cardiff RD, Seldin DC. p53 deficiency and misexpression of protein kinase CK2alpha collaborate in the development of thymic lymphomas in mice. Oncogene. 1998;16(23):2965-74. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1201854. PubMed PMID: 9662328.

30. Channavajhala P, Seldin DC. Functional interaction of protein kinase CK2 and cMyc in lymphomagenesis. Oncogene. 2002;21(34):5280-8. doi:
10.1038/sj.onc.1205640. PubMed PMID: 12149649.

31. Patel D, Shukla S, Gupta S. Apigenin and cancer chemoprevention: progress, potential and promise (review). Int J Oncol. 2007;30(1):233-45. PubMed PMID: 17143534.

32. Mafuvadze B, Liang Y, Besch-Williford C, Zhang X, Hyder SM. Apigenin induces apoptosis and blocks growth of medroxyprogesterone acetate-dependent BT-474



xenograft tumors. Horm Cancer. 2012;3(4):160-71. doi: 10.1007/s12672-012-0114-x. PubMed PMID: 22569706.

33. Ujiki MB, Ding XZ, Salabat MR, Bentrem DJ, Golkar L, Milam B, Talamonti MS, Bell RH, Iwamura T, Adrian TE. Apigenin inhibits pancreatic cancer cell proliferation through G2/M cell cycle arrest. Mol Cancer. 2006;5:76. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-5-76. PubMed PMID: 17196098; PMCID: PMC1779363.

34. Strouch MJ, Milam BM, Melstrom LG, McGill JJ, Salabat MR, Ujiki MB, Ding XZ, Bentrem DJ. The flavonoid apigenin potentiates the growth inhibitory effects of gemcitabine and abrogates gemcitabine resistance in human pancreatic cancer cells. Pancreas. 2009;38(4):409-15. doi: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e318193a074. PubMed PMID: 19142175.

35. Hamacher R, Saur D, Fritsch R, Reichert M, Schmid RM, Schneider G. Casein kinase II inhibition induces apoptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. Oncol Rep. 2007;18(3):695-701. PubMed PMID: 17671722.

36. Song C, Li Z, Erbe AK, Savic A, Dovat S. Regulation of Ikaros function by casein kinase 2 and protein phosphatase 1. World J Biol Chem. 2011;2(6):126-31. doi: 10.4331/wjbc.v2.i6.126. PubMed PMID: 21765978; PMCID: PMC3135859.

37. Chen D, Landis-Piwowar KR, Chen MS, Dou QP. Inhibition of proteasome activity by the dietary flavonoid apigenin is associated with growth inhibition in cultured breast cancer cells and xenografts. Breast Cancer Res. 2007;9(6):R80. PubMed PMID: 18300387; PMCID: PMC2246179.



38. Caltagirone S, Rossi C, Poggi A, Ranelletti FO, Natali PG, Brunetti M, Aiello FB, Piantelli M. Flavonoids apigenin and quercetin inhibit melanoma growth and metastatic potential. Int J Cancer. 2000;87(4):595-600. PubMed PMID: 10918203.

39. Pilon-Thomas S, Nelson N, Vohra N, Jerald M, Pendleton L, Szekeres K, Ghansah T. Murine pancreatic adenocarcinoma dampens SHIP-1 expression and alters MDSC homeostasis and function. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):e27729. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027729. PubMed PMID: 22132131; PMCID: PMC3222660.

40. Payne KJ, Huang G, Sahakian E, Zhu JY, Barteneva NS, Barsky LW, Payne MA, Crooks GM. Ikaros isoform x is selectively expressed in myeloid differentiation. J Immunol. 2003;170(6):3091-8. PubMed PMID: 12626565.

41. Qin Z, Schwartzkopff J, Pradera F, Kammertoens T, Seliger B, Pircher H, Blankenstein T. A critical requirement of interferon gamma-mediated angiostasis for tumor rejection by CD8+ T cells. Cancer Res. 2003;63(14):4095-100. Epub 2003/07/23. PubMed PMID: 12874012.

42. Powers GL, Ellison-Zelski SJ, Casa AJ, Lee AV, Alarid ET. Proteasome inhibition represses ERalpha gene expression in ER+ cells: a new link between proteasome activity and estrogen signaling in breast cancer. Oncogene. 2010;29(10):1509-18. Epub 2009/12/01. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.434. PubMed PMID: 19946334; PMCID: Pmc2837136.

43. Alexandrova A, Petrov L, Georgieva A, Kirkova M, Kukan M. Effects of proteasome inhibitor, MG132, on proteasome activity and oxidative status of rat liver. Cell Biochem Funct. 2008;26(3):392-8. Epub 2008/02/01. doi: 10.1002/cbf.1459. PubMed PMID: 18236383.



44. Adams J. The development of proteasome inhibitors as anticancer drugs. Cancer Cell. 2004;5(5):417-21. Epub 2004/05/18. PubMed PMID: 15144949.

45. Ji H, Wang J, Nika H, Hawke D, Keezer S, Ge Q, Fang B, Fang X, Fang D, Litchfield DW, Aldape K, Lu Z. EGF-induced ERK activation promotes CK2-mediated disassociation of alpha-Catenin from beta-Catenin and transactivation of beta-Catenin. Mol Cell. 2009;36(4):547-59. Epub 2009/11/28. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2009.09.034. PubMed PMID: 19941816; PMCID: Pmc2784926.

46. Litchfield DW, Lozeman FJ, Cicirelli MF, Harrylock M, Ericsson LH, Piening CJ, Krebs EG. Phosphorylation of the beta subunit of casein kinase II in human A431 cells. Identification of the autophosphorylation site and a site phosphorylated by p34cdc2. J Biol Chem. 1991;266(30):20380-9. PubMed PMID: 1939094.

47. Litchfield DW, Lüscher B, Lozeman FJ, Eisenman RN, Krebs EG. Phosphorylation of casein kinase II by p34cdc2 in vitro and at mitosis. J Biol Chem. 1992;267(20):13943-51. PubMed PMID: 1629192.

48. Bosc DG, Slominski E, Sichler C, Litchfield DW. Phosphorylation of casein kinase II by p34cdc2. Identification of phosphorylation sites using phosphorylation site mutants in vitro. J Biol Chem. 1995;270(43):25872-8. PubMed PMID: 7592773.

49. Sun L, Crotty ML, Sensel M, Sather H, Navara C, Nachman J, Steinherz PG, Gaynon PS, Seibel N, Mao C, Vassilev A, Reaman GH, Uckun FM. Expression of dominant-negative lkaros isoforms in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Clin Cancer Res. 1999;5(8):2112-20. PubMed PMID: 10473095.



50. Hadrup S, Donia M, Thor Straten P. Effector CD4 and CD8 T cells and their role in the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Microenviron. 2013;6(2):123-33. doi: 10.1007/s12307-012-0127-6. PubMed PMID: 23242673; PMCID: PMC3717059.

51. Ghanekar SA, Nomura LE, Suni MA, Picker LJ, Maecker HT, Maino VC. Gamma interferon expression in CD8(+) T cells is a marker for circulating cytotoxic T lymphocytes that recognize an HLA A2-restricted epitope of human cytomegalovirus phosphoprotein pp65. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol. 2001;8(3):628-31. Epub 2001/05/01. doi: 10.1128/cdli.8.3.628-631.2001. PubMed PMID: 11329470; PMCID: Pmc96113.

52. Cao MD, Chen ZD, Xing Y. Gamma irradiation of human dendritic cells influences proliferation and cytokine profile of T cells in autologous mixed lymphocyte reaction. Cell Biol Int. 2004;28(3):223-8. Epub 2004/02/27. doi: 10.1016/j.cellbi.2003.12.006. PubMed PMID: 14984749.

53. Yoon MS, Lee JS, Choi BM, Jeong YI, Lee CM, Park JH, Moon Y, Sung SC, Lee SK, Chang YH, Chung HY, Park YM. Apigenin inhibits immunostimulatory function of dendritic cells: Implication of immunotherapeutic adjuvant. Mol Pharmacol. 2006;70(3):1033-44. doi: 10.1124/mol.106.024547. PubMed PMID: 16782805.

54. Nelson N, Szekeres K, Cooper D, Ghansah T. Preparation of myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC) from naive and pancreatic tumor-bearing mice using flow cytometry and automated magnetic activated cell sorting (AutoMACS). J Vis Exp. 2012(64):e3875. doi: 10.3791/3875. PubMed PMID: 22733203.



# CHAPTER FIVE

#### Overview

Pancreatic cancer is one of the most lethal cancers, which is mainly attributed to its resistance to conventional treatment options and late stage diagnosis (1). Currently, research is focused on developing immunological approaches to treat pancreatic cancer. However, pancreatic cancer's induction of a highly immunosuppressive microenvironment is the main hurdle that is limiting treatment success in patients. It is therefore critical to understand the molecular mechanisms that govern suppression of anti-tumor immunity in pancreatic cancer hosts (1). In particular, the ratio and function of effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and suppressor Tregs is skewed to favor immunosuppression (2, 3). Therefore, it is especially important to understand how these T cells, which are central to the generation of effective anti-tumor immunity, are regulated in pancreatic cancer hosts. As a result, the outcome of this study may lead to the development of T-cell specific therapies to treat pancreatic cancer.

The Ikaros family of transcription factors is regulators of hematopoiesis and is essential for the development of a functional immune system (4). However, these transcription factors have mainly been extensively studied in hematological malignancies (5, 6). Ikaros, the founding and most characterized family member, acts a



tumor suppressor in T cells (7). Ikaros' role in regulating T cells in solid tumors has not been investigated. Ikaros regulates important genes for T cell differentiation and development (8-10), activation and proliferation (8, 11) and cell cycle progression (12). Thus, loss of Ikaros, due to genetic defects or functional inactivation, leads to T-cell leukemogenesis (13, 14). Ikaros' function is regulated by posttranslational modifications, primarily phosphorylation. CK2 is mainly responsible for phosphorylation of lkaros thereby influencing a multitude of its functions, including its DNA binding ability and pericentromeric localization (15-18). These studies suggest that CK2-phosphorylation inactivates lkaros function, especially in T cells (16, 18). Furthermore, CK2 phosphorylation of lkaros in PEST regions, leads to its increased degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, reducing lkaros protein levels in cells (15). On the contrary, PP1 dephosphorylation maintains lkaros function and protein stability (15). Therefore, tight regulation of these two pathways is critical for sustaining lkaros activity and function in T cell differentiation and development (17). In this dissertation, we discuss the involvement of Ikaros in maintaining effector and regulatory T cell homeostasis and immune responses. We also identify a possible mechanism governing Ikaros' regulation by CK2 and PP1 in pancreatic cancer models.

#### **Discussion of Data, Limitations and Future Studies**

Our *in vit*ro results suggest that factors produced by Panc02 cells contribute to the observed downregulation of Ikaros protein expression in splenocytes. Our data also shows that this downregulation is at least due, in part, to Ikaros undergoing ubiquitin-proteasomal degradation. This was deduced by the use of the proteasomal



inhibitor MG132. Increased Ikaros expression, *in vitro* and *in vivo*, using the CK2 inhibitor apigenin and the observed increase in CK2 activity in TB splenocytes, suggest that CK2 may be responsible for this mechanism. Therefore, our results provide evidence that tumor-derived factors (TDF) produced by Panc02 cells may trigger CK2-dependent proteasomal degradation of Ikaros in our pancreatic TB model. We previously published that murine Panc02 cells produce a number of TDF including IL-6, IL-10 and MCP-1 (19). Some of these inflammatory factors, especially IL-6 and IL-10, have been reported to stimulate CK2 activity (20, 21). It is therefore possible that these and other TDF produced by Panc02 cells, may regulate CK2 activity in our pancreatic TB model. Future studies using cytokine and chemokine microarrays and qPCR will be used to further characterize the inflammatory factors produced in TDF. The effects of identified factors on CK2 activity will also be assessed using specific blocking peptides.

Litchfield et al (1991) identified that CK2 phosphorylation regulates its activity. Litchfield et al (1999) also found that changes in CK2 activity may be independent of changes in its amount (22). This may explain the shift in molecular weight observed in our TB splenocytes. This observation suggests that CK2 may be phosphorylated and its activity increased, despite a reduction in its expression. Mass spectrometry techniques will allow us to identify possible CK2 phosphorylation sites. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) (23) and cyclin-dependent kinase (Cdk1/cyclin B1) (24) have both been shown to phosphorylate CK2 and will be investigated amongst other kinases.

As mentioned previously, a balance between CK2 and PP1 is needed to maintain Ikaros expression and function, and thus normal lymphocyte development (17). Our



results provide evidence for the involvement of CK2 in regulating Ikaros expression, based on our data with apigenin. Similar studies using apigenin in the TrM model, which also displayed defects in Ikaros and CK2, are needed to provide further clinical evidence for the involvement of CK2 in regulating Ikaros expression in pancreatic cancer. In addition, apigenin is a selective CK2 inhibitor that can inhibit several other kinases (Table 1.1). Therefore, our observed results could be as a result of apigenin's inhibition of CK2 and/or other potential kinases. Future experiments in both our TB and TrM models using DRB, a very specific and potent CK2 inhibitor (25) (Table 1.1), will allow us to further delineate CK2's involvement in regulating Ikaros expression, and function, in pancreatic cancer. The identification of other potential kinases that can phosphorylate Ikaros in sites located within its PEST regions could also help to highlight other kinases that may regulate Ikaros in our pancreatic cancer models.

On the contrary, analyses of PP1 suggested that its activity might be reduced in TB mice. However, we have not confirmed this by assaying PP1's activity. We did, however, detect two PP1 catalytic (PP1c) isoforms in control mice, one of which was absent in TB and TB-Api mice. Based on previous studies, these isoforms may correspond to PP1 $\alpha$  and PP1 $\beta/\delta$ , isoforms, which are highly expressed in mouse spleens (26). However, use of specific antibodies to each isoform is necessary to confirm their identities. The absence of the higher molecular weight PP1c isoform in whole splenocytes and CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells from TB mice, suggests that this isoform may be important in maintaining lkaros expression and T cell homeostasis. However, our results in the TrM model did not reflect the differential expression of these PP1 isoforms observed in TB mice. Further studies using PP1 specific inhibitors, such as



PP1 inhibitor-2 (15), will help to determine if PP1 is essential in regulating Ikaros expression and function in our pancreatic cancer models. At this point, the mechanisms that regulate PP1 expression in our model are unknown to us. It is possible that alterations in alternative splicing machinery are responsible for the differential expression of PP1c isoforms observed. In addition, degradation of PP1 isoforms, specifically PP1 $\delta$  (27), has been reported and may account for differences in PP1 isoforms observed at the protein level.

The observed pattern of multiple Ikaros products in mouse splenocytes, representing DNA and non-DNA binding isoforms, is consistent with previous studies (28). Downregulation in Ikaros isoform expression was observed in splenocytes of both our heterotopic (TB) and mutation-induced (TrM) models of pancreatic cancer. Pancreatic cancer development in the TrM model is spontaneously induced by mutations in Kras and p53, which occur in humans with pancreatic cancer (29). Therefore, downregulation of Ikaros isoforms in this TrM model may provide clinical relevance for Ikaros' role in pancreatic cancer. We were unable to evaluate Ikaros expression in the bone marrow and peripheral blood of our mice as Ikaros was lowly expressed in these tissues. Methods to increase leukocyte yields from these organs and possibly immunoprecipitating Ikaros, may allow us to evaluate whether Ikaros expression is also altered in these systemic regions. Analyses of Ikaros expression in Iymphoid tissues of pancreatic cancer progression.

Furthermore, in both TB and TrM models, isoforms corresponding to full-length Ikaros were primarily reduced while DN isoforms were primarily expressed. Since full-



length lkaros are generally functional and overexpression of DN isoforms inhibits the function of full-length (30), our data suggests that lkaros may be functionally inactive in these pancreatic cancer models. Immunofluorescence microscopy data showing altered punctate staining of Ikaros in TB splenocytes also suggests that Ikaros function may be disrupted as functional lkaros binds to DNA in pericentromeric heterochromatin (PC-HC), creating this distinct staining pattern. Mutations in Ikaros that prevent its dephosphorylation by PP1, inhibit Ikaros' targeting to PC-HC and its ability to bind to upstream regulatory elements in its target genes (15). This suggests that the observed disruption in punctate staining in TB mice may be due to altered subcellular localization to PC-HC as a result of lack of dephosphorylation by PP1. Testing the DNA binding ability of Ikaros between control and TB mice is necessary to confirm its activity. In addition, future experiments using protein sequencing are needed to confirm the identity of isoforms observed in TB and TrM models and their possible interactions. This may allow for the identification of any potential novel isoforms and may also provide further insight into specific isoforms that may be critical to T cell regulation.

Our results indicate that Ikaros is undergoing ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation, which may be a result of a loss in the balance between CK2 and PP1 activity. We are currently performing *in vivo* time-course experiments to determine how Ikaros expression is regulated in response to pancreatic tumor progression using our TB mice. These experiments will also us to determine whether increased tumor burden can affect Ikaros' phosphorylation, ubiquitination and degradation, over time. We will also be able to determine how CK2 and PP1 activity correlate with these findings. Co-immunoprecipitation assays and immunofluorescence microscopy experiments will



provide insight into Ikaros localization and interactions with CK2/PP1 in these timecourse experiments. Comparative experiments using apigenin or DRB will determine whether CK2 inhibition modulates Ikaros' phosphorylation, ubiquitination, localization and degradation in TB-API mice compared to TB mice. In addition, ongoing experiments are being conducted to evaluate the effects of MG132 on Ikaros expression, T cell responses and tumor regression, *in vivo*.

Expression of some Ikaros isoforms was increased by apigenin treatment of TB mice *in vivo*. This may be attributed to moderate inhibition of CK2 activity. Therefore, dose-dependent studies using apigenin, modifications in the route of administration and increased study time may provide more significant results. Apigenin treatment also showed immunological benefits as it significantly increased effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, while reducing Tregs percentages. Apigenin also increased allogeneic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell immune responses and restored IFN- $\gamma$  production of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from TB-Api mice. These results suggest that apigenin's regulation of CK2, and possibly Ikaros, may result in favorable anti-tumor immune responses in our TB mice. However, both the T cells percentages and allogeneic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferative responses were not restored to those of control mice, which may again be a reflection of the efficacy of the dose of apigenin administered in inhibiting CK2 activity.

We also observed T-cell specific defects in Ikaros expression in our pancreatic TB mice. Ikaros protein expression was significantly reduced in CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from TB mice. More interestingly, two isoforms that may correlate with full-length Ikaros 1 and 2 were predominantly expressed in isolated T cells and correlates with findings in other studies (28, 31, 32). Both of these isoforms were reduced in TB CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells



(all T cells), which indicates that Ikaros downregulation may be T-cell specific. More interestingly, the upper molecular weight band of PP1c was also absent in TB CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells.  $CK2\alpha$  expression was also downregulated in TB CD3<sup>+</sup> T but its activity has not been evaluated as yet. Confirmation of CK2 and PP1 activity as well as microscopy studies to determine whether Ikaros localization and interactions are altered in TB CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells, are needed to further delineate Ikaros' regulation in T cells.

The reduction in Ikaros protein expression in T cells and altered T cell numbers in both TB and TrM mice, suggests that lkaros may be affecting the differentiation and/or development of T cells in these pancreatic cancer models. However, these mechanisms are currently unknown. It is possible that Ikaros may be modulating the development of these T cells via its regulation of critical T cell genes. Ikaros has been shown to positively regulate CD8 $\alpha$  gene expression (9) and lkaros deficient mice display reduced CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers (33). Ikaros has also been shown to upregulate the transcription of the Cd4 gene (34). Ikaros also regulates T cell production of cytokines, including IFN<sub> $\gamma$ </sub> (35), whose production was increased in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from TB-Api mice. Deregulation of these important genes, as a result of reduced lkaros expression, may explain the reduction in effector CD4<sup>+</sup>T and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and their immune responses, observed in our pancreatic cancer models. As is relates to Treqs, Ikaros -/- CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells display increased numbers of CD25<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> T cells (36). These findings suggest that Ikaros deficiency results in increased Treg numbers, which coincide with our results. The FoxP3 transcription factor is essential for Treg development and function (37). We have recently identified potential lkaros binding sites in the FoxP3 promoter using the transcription factor binding site prediction



program PROMO (ALGGEN) (38). It is therefore possible that Ikaros may negatively regulate the transcription of the FoxP3 gene, thereby influencing Treg development and function.

Ikaros also regulates Src homology-2 domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatase 1 (SHIP-1) (39). SHIP-1 is important for lymphocyte development (40, 41), especially T cells (42, 43). We previously published that defects in SHIP-1 expression and its signaling pathways occur in our TB model (19). The relationship between SHIP-1 and Ikaros, and their regulation and involvement in T cell development are currently being investigated in our pancreatic cancer models. Ikaros also regulates the expression of Notch target genes (44-46). Notch signaling is critical for T cell development (47). It is also proposed that Ikaros and Notch play a cooperative role in T-cell malignancies (44). As Notch signaling also plays a role in pancreatic cancer tumorigenesis (48), future studies will also investigate the possible interplay between Notch and Ikaros in regulating T cell responses in murine pancreatic cancer. Helios, another lkaros family member, complexes with Ikaros and is considered important for regulating Ikaros function in T cells (49). However, there are conflicting reports on the importance of Helios in T cell development and function (50-52). It would be interesting to determine whether Helios is involved in Ikaros' regulation of T cells in our study. It would also be of interest to determine whether Helios or other Ikaros family members compensate for defects in Ikaros expression and function in T cells.

Ikaros has also been shown to regulate apoptosis, during which it undergoes proteasomal degradation in the early stages (53). More specifically, Ikaros regulates the expression of BCL-2 family proteins (54, 55). Our previous study showed that anti-



apoptotic pathways were active in our TB mice (19). Regulation of apoptosis induction may be another potential mechanism by which Ikaros is regulating T cell percentages in our pancreatic cancer mice. Ikaros also plays an essential role in cell cycle progression. More so, phosphorylation of Ikaros by CK2 influences its ability to regulate G1/S transition (32). It was also reported that Ikaros phosphorylation increased in response to T cell activation, but its expression decreased over time (32), which could be explained by the fact that hyperphosphorylation of Ikaros by CK2 leads to its ubiquitination and ultimately its degradation (15). This would also explain our results and further implies that the reduction of Ikaros in T cells is a result of CK2-mediatedproteasomal of Ikaros. This reduction in Ikaros expression could therefore influence effector and Treg proliferation via Ikaros' effect on the cell cycle.

We have yet to purify CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD25 (Tregs) T cells from control, TB and TB-Api mice to evaluate lkaros expression in these T cell populations. This would allow us to determine which of these T cells have intrinsic defects in lkaros expression and may further allow us to identify lkaros-specific target genes and/or cellular processes, that may contribute to their altered percentages and function in a pancreatic tumor microenvironment. We also need to test the function of these T cells to understand how lkaros influences their immune responses. We are currently evaluating granzyme B and perforin production of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and Tregs (56, 57). We also plan to evaluate CD4<sup>+</sup> T activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, Treg suppression of antigen-specific immune responses and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activity from pancreatic cancer models.



## **Considering CK2 Inhibitors as Therapeutic Agents for Pancreatic Cancer**

This study highlights the possible therapeutic benefit of targeting upstream regulators of Ikaros, such as CK2, to contribute to the generation of effective anti-tumor immune responses in pancreatic cancer. The elucidation of the molecular mechanism(s) by which lkaros is regulated highlights the involvement of CK2 in maintaining lkaros expression, and possibly function, in T cell immunity, in our pancreatic TB mice. Compared to Ikaros, CK2 has been well-investigated as an attractive target for cancer drug discovery (58). CK2 regulates a vast number of cellular processes, playing a critical role in several physiological and pathological outcomes (59). More importantly, due to its tetrameric structure and ATP-binding site, CK2 is considerable a druggable target (60). More recently, CK2 inhibitors have been reported to enhance lkaros' tumor suppressor activity in hematological malignancies (61). In addition, CK2 inhibitors, especially natural compounds such as apigenin, have therapeutic benefits in inducing apoptosis of pancreatic cancer cells (62, 63). CK2 inhibition also enhances chemosensitivity to gemcitabine in human pancreatic cancer cells (64). Our study focuses on the role of CK2 inhibition on Ikaros expression and function in murine immune cells, specifically T cells. Therefore, the combined effects of CK2 inhibition, possibly causing both tumor destruction and enhancing T cell function by targeting lkaros, suggests that CK2 may indeed be an attractive target for treating pancreatic cancer.



# Significance of this Study

Pancreatic cancer is resistant to a number of therapeutic treatments and there is dire need for the development of new treatment options. Immunotherapy is a promising approach to treating pancreatic cancer (65). However, defects in generating effective anti-tumor immune responses to treatment options are a substantial hurdle in successfully combating pancreatic cancer (1, 66). This is attributed to decreased T cell immunity, mainly due to the persistent immunosuppressive environment. This immunosuppression is characterized by the presence of immunoregulatory cells such as Tregs (2), which inhibit effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation and function (67). Therefore, understanding the mechanisms that can regulate T cell balance to favor the induction of anti-tumor immunity may prove beneficial in developing novel therapeutic targets to treat pancreatic cancer. This study is especially significant because it highlights the novel and potential role of Ikaros in regulating immune T cell balance in pancreatic cancer. It also proposes proteasomal degradation as one molecular mechanism by which lkaros is regulated in murine pancreatic cancer. More importantly, this study provides evidence that CK2 inhibition may be therapeutically beneficial in maintaining lkaros expression and function, and restoring T cell immune homeostasis in pancreatic cancer.

## References

1. Morse MA, Hall JR, Plate JM. Countering tumor-induced immunosuppression during immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2009;9(3):331-9. doi: 10.1517/14712590802715756. PubMed PMID: 19216622.



 Yamamoto T, Yanagimoto H, Satoi S, Toyokawa H, Hirooka S, Yamaki S, Yui R, Yamao J, Kim S, Kwon AH. Circulating CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with pancreatic cancer. Pancreas. 2012;41(3):409-15. doi: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e3182373a66. PubMed PMID: 22158072.

Liyanage UK, Goedegebuure PS, Moore TT, Viehl CT, Moo-Young TA, Larson JW, Frey DM, Ehlers JP, Eberlein TJ, Linehan DC. Increased prevalence of regulatory T cells (Treg) is induced by pancreas adenocarcinoma. J Immunother. 2006;29(4):416-24.
 Epub 2006/06/27. doi: 10.1097/01.cji.0000205644.43735.4e. PubMed PMID: 16799337.
 John LB, Ward AC. The Ikaros gene family: transcriptional regulators of hematopoiesis and immunity. Mol Immunol. 2011;48(9-10):1272-8. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2011.03.006. PubMed PMID: 21477865.

5. Copland M. Ikaros deletions are associated with poor prognosis in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Future Oncol. 2009;5(4):455-8. doi: 10.2217/fon.09.16. PubMed PMID: 19450174.

Antica M, Cicin-Sain L, Sain LC, Kapitanovic S, Matulic M, Dzebro S, Dominis M.
 Aberrant Ikaros, Aiolos, and Helios expression in Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma.
 Blood. 2008;111(6):3296-7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-12-125682. PubMed PMID: 18332232.

7. Georgopoulos K, Winandy S, Avitahl N. The role of the Ikaros gene in lymphocyte development and homeostasis. Annu Rev Immunol. 1997;15:155-76. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.15.1.155. PubMed PMID: 9143685.



8. Winandy S, Wu L, Wang JH, Georgopoulos K. Pre-T cell receptor (TCR) and TCR-controlled checkpoints in T cell differentiation are set by Ikaros. J Exp Med. 1999;190(8):1039-48. PubMed PMID: 10523602; PMCID: PMC2195663.

9. Harker N, Naito T, Cortes M, Hostert A, Hirschberg S, Tolaini M, Roderick K, Georgopoulos K, Kioussis D. The CD8alpha gene locus is regulated by the Ikaros family of proteins. Mol Cell. 2002;10(6):1403-15. PubMed PMID: 12504015.

10. Thomas RM, Chunder N, Chen C, Umetsu SE, Winandy S, Wells AD. Ikaros enforces the costimulatory requirement for IL2 gene expression and is required for anergy induction in CD4+ T lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2007;179(11):7305-15. PubMed PMID: 18025173.

11. Avitahl N, Winandy S, Friedrich C, Jones B, Ge Y, Georgopoulos K. Ikaros sets thresholds for T cell activation and regulates chromosome propagation. Immunity. 1999;10(3):333-43. PubMed PMID: 10204489.

12. Kathrein KL, Lorenz R, Innes AM, Griffiths E, Winandy S. Ikaros induces quiescence and T-cell differentiation in a leukemia cell line. Mol Cell Biol. 2005;25(5):1645-54. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.5.1645-1654.2005. PubMed PMID: 15713624; PMCID: PMC549358.

13. Winandy S, Wu P, Georgopoulos K. A dominant mutation in the Ikaros gene leads to rapid development of leukemia and lymphoma. Cell. 1995;83(2):289-99. PubMed PMID: 7585946.

14. Song C, Li Z, Erbe AK, Savic A, Dovat S. Regulation of Ikaros function by casein kinase 2 and protein phosphatase 1. World J Biol Chem. 2011;2(6):126-31. doi: 10.4331/wjbc.v2.i6.126. PubMed PMID: 21765978; PMCID: PMC3135859.



15. Popescu M, Gurel Z, Ronni T, Song C, Hung KY, Payne KJ, Dovat S. Ikaros stability and pericentromeric localization are regulated by protein phosphatase 1. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(20):13869-80. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M900209200. PubMed PMID: 19282287; PMCID: PMC2679487.

16. Wang H, Song C, Gurel Z, Song N, Ma J, Ouyang H, Lai L, Payne KJ, Dovat S. Protein Phosphatase 1 (PP1) and Casein Kinase II (CK2) regulate Ikaros-mediated repression of TdT in thymocytes and T-cell leukemia. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2014;61(12):2230-5. doi: 10.1002/pbc.25221. PubMed PMID: 25214003; PMCID: PMC4205270.

17. Dovat S, Song C, Payne KJ, Li Z. Ikaros, CK2 kinase, and the road to leukemia. Mol Cell Biochem. 2011;356(1-2):201-7. doi: 10.1007/s11010-011-0964-5. PubMed PMID: 21750978; PMCID: PMC3665334.

18. Gurel Z, Ronni T, Ho S, Kuchar J, Payne KJ, Turk CW, Dovat S. Recruitment of ikaros to pericentromeric heterochromatin is regulated by phosphorylation. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(13):8291-300. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M707906200. PubMed PMID: 18223295; PMCID: PMC2276389.

19. Pilon-Thomas S, Nelson N, Vohra N, Jerald M, Pendleton L, Szekeres K, Ghansah T. Murine pancreatic adenocarcinoma dampens SHIP-1 expression and alters MDSC homeostasis and function. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):e27729. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027729. PubMed PMID: 22132131; PMCID: PMC3222660.

20. Su YW, Xie TX, Sano D, Myers JN. IL-6 stabilizes Twist and enhances tumor cell motility in head and neck cancer cells through activation of casein kinase 2. PLoS One.



2011;6(4):e19412. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019412. PubMed PMID: 21559372; PMCID: PMC3084854.

21. Koch S, Capaldo CT, Hilgarth RS, Fournier B, Parkos CA, Nusrat A. Protein kinase CK2 is a critical regulator of epithelial homeostasis in chronic intestinal inflammation. Mucosal Immunol. 2013;6(1):136-45. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.57. PubMed PMID: 22763408; PMCID: PMC3517934.

22. Litchfield DW, Lozeman FJ, Cicirelli MF, Harrylock M, Ericsson LH, Piening CJ, Krebs EG. Phosphorylation of the beta subunit of casein kinase II in human A431 cells. Identification of the autophosphorylation site and a site phosphorylated by p34cdc2. J Biol Chem. 1991;266(30):20380-9. Epub 1991/10/25. PubMed PMID: 1939094.

23. Ji H, Wang J, Nika H, Hawke D, Keezer S, Ge Q, Fang B, Fang X, Fang D, Litchfield DW, Aldape K, Lu Z. EGF-induced ERK activation promotes CK2-mediated disassociation of alpha-Catenin from beta-Catenin and transactivation of beta-Catenin. Mol Cell. 2009;36(4):547-59. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2009.09.034. PubMed PMID: 19941816; PMCID: PMC2784926.

24. Litchfield DW, Lüscher B, Lozeman FJ, Eisenman RN, Krebs EG. Phosphorylation of casein kinase II by p34cdc2 in vitro and at mitosis. J Biol Chem. 1992;267(20):13943-51. PubMed PMID: 1629192.

25. Pagano MA, Bain J, Kazimierczuk Z, Sarno S, Ruzzene M, Di Maira G, Elliott M, Orzeszko A, Cozza G, Meggio F, Pinna LA. The selectivity of inhibitors of protein kinase CK2: an update. Biochem J. 2008;415(3):353-65. doi: 10.1042/BJ20080309. PubMed PMID: 18588507.



26. Takizawa N, Mizuno Y, Ito Y, Kikuchi K. Tissue distribution of isoforms of type-1 protein phosphatase PP1 in mouse tissues and its diabetic alterations. J Biochem. 1994;116(2):411-5. Epub 1994/08/01. PubMed PMID: 7822262.

27. Villa-Moruzzi E, Puntoni F, Marin O. Activation of protein phosphatase-1 isoforms and glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta in muscle from mdx mice. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 1996;28(1):13-22. PubMed PMID: 8624841.

28. Payne KJ, Huang G, Sahakian E, Zhu JY, Barteneva NS, Barsky LW, Payne MA, Crooks GM. Ikaros isoform x is selectively expressed in myeloid differentiation. J Immunol. 2003;170(6):3091-8. PubMed PMID: 12626565.

29. Husain K, Centeno BA, Chen DT, Hingorani SR, Sebti SM, Malafa MP. Vitamin E δ-tocotrienol prolongs survival in the LSL-KrasG12D/+;LSL-Trp53R172H/+;Pdx-1-Cre (KPC) transgenic mouse model of pancreatic cancer. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2013;6(10):1074-83. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-13-0157. PubMed PMID: 23963802.

30. Yagi T, Hibi S, Takanashi M, Kano G, Tabata Y, Imamura T, Inaba T, Morimoto A, Todo S, Imashuku S. High frequency of Ikaros isoform 6 expression in acute myelomonocytic and monocytic leukemias: implications for up-regulation of the antiapoptotic protein Bcl-XL in leukemogenesis. Blood. 2002;99(4):1350-5. PubMed PMID: 11830486.

31. Ronni T, Payne KJ, Ho S, Bradley MN, Dorsam G, Dovat S. Human Ikaros function in activated T cells is regulated by coordinated expression of its largest isoforms. J Biol Chem. 2007;282(4):2538-47. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M605627200. PubMed PMID: 17135265.



32. Gómez-del Arco P, Maki K, Georgopoulos K. Phosphorylation controls Ikaros's ability to negatively regulate the G(1)-S transition. Mol Cell Biol. 2004;24(7):2797-807. PubMed PMID: 15024069; PMCID: PMC371126.

33. Urban JA, Winandy S. Ikaros null mice display defects in T cell selection and CD4 versus CD8 lineage decisions. J Immunol. 2004;173(7):4470-8. PubMed PMID: 15383578.

34. Naito T, Gómez-Del Arco P, Williams CJ, Georgopoulos K. Antagonistic interactions between Ikaros and the chromatin remodeler Mi-2beta determine silencer activity and Cd4 gene expression. Immunity. 2007;27(5):723-34. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.09.008. PubMed PMID: 17980631.

35. Thomas RM, Chen C, Chunder N, Ma L, Taylor J, Pearce EJ, Wells AD. Ikaros silences T-bet expression and interferon-gamma production during T helper 2 differentiation. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(4):2545-53. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.038794. PubMed PMID: 19923223; PMCID: PMC2807311.

Wong LY, Hatfield JK, Brown MA. Ikaros sets the potential for Th17 lineage gene expression through effects on chromatin state in early T cell development. J Biol Chem. 2013;288(49):35170-9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.481440. PubMed PMID: 24145030; PMCID: PMC3853268.

37. Wu Y, Borde M, Heissmeyer V, Feuerer M, Lapan AD, Stroud JC, Bates DL, Guo L, Han A, Ziegler SF, Mathis D, Benoist C, Chen L, Rao A. FOXP3 controls regulatory T cell function through cooperation with NFAT. Cell. 2006;126(2):375-87. Epub 2006/07/29. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.042. PubMed PMID: 16873067.



38. Messeguer X, Escudero R, Farre D, Nunez O, Martinez J, Alba MM. PROMO: detection of known transcription regulatory elements using species-tailored searches. Bioinformatics. 2002;18(2):333-4. Epub 2002/02/16. PubMed PMID: 11847087.

39. Alinikula J, Kohonen P, Nera KP, Lassila O. Concerted action of Helios and Ikaros controls the expression of the inositol 5-phosphatase SHIP. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(9):2599-607. doi: 10.1002/eji.200940002. PubMed PMID: 20602434.

40. Ghansah T, Paraiso KH, Highfill S, Desponts C, May S, McIntosh JK, Wang JW, Ninos J, Brayer J, Cheng F, Sotomayor E, Kerr WG. Expansion of myeloid suppressor cells in SHIP-deficient mice represses allogeneic T cell responses. J Immunol. 2004;173(12):7324-30. PubMed PMID: 15585856.

41. Paraiso KH, Ghansah T, Costello A, Engelman RW, Kerr WG. Induced SHIP deficiency expands myeloid regulatory cells and abrogates graft-versus-host disease. J Immunol. 2007;178(5):2893-900. PubMed PMID: 17312133.

42. Charlier E, Condé C, Zhang J, Deneubourg L, Di Valentin E, Rahmouni S, Charlot A, Agostinis P, Pang PC, Haslam SM, Dell A, Penninger J, Erneux C, Piette J, Gloire G. SHIP-1 inhibits CD95/APO-1/Fas-induced apoptosis in primary T lymphocytes and T leukemic cells by promoting CD95 glycosylation independently of its phosphatase activity. Leukemia. 2010;24(4):821-32. doi: 10.1038/leu.2010.9. PubMed PMID: 20147977.

43. Collazo MM, Wood D, Paraiso KH, Lund E, Engelman RW, Le CT, Stauch D, Kotsch K, Kerr WG. SHIP limits immunoregulatory capacity in the T-cell compartment. Blood. 2009;113(13):2934-44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-09-181164. PubMed PMID: 19136659; PMCID: PMC2662640.



44. Bellavia D, Mecarozzi M, Campese AF, Grazioli P, Gulino A, Screpanti I. Notch and Ikaros: not only converging players in T cell leukemia. Cell Cycle. 2007;6(22):27304. PubMed PMID: 18032925.

45. Chari S, Winandy S. Ikaros regulates Notch target gene expression in developing thymocytes. J Immunol. 2008;181(9):6265-74. PubMed PMID: 18941217; PMCID: PMC2778602.

46. Geimer Le Lay AS, Oravecz A, Mastio J, Jung C, Marchal P, Ebel C, Dembélé D, Jost B, Le Gras S, Thibault C, Borggrefe T, Kastner P, Chan S. The tumor suppressor ikaros shapes the repertoire of notch target genes in T cells. Sci Signal. 2014;7(317):ra28. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004545. PubMed PMID: 24643801.

47. Demarest RM, Ratti F, Capobianco AJ. It's T-ALL about Notch. Oncogene. 2008;27(38):5082-91. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.222. PubMed PMID: 18758476.

48. Avila JL, Kissil JL. Notch signaling in pancreatic cancer: oncogene or tumor suppressor? Trends Mol Med. 2013;19(5):320-7. Epub 2013/04/03. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2013.03.003. PubMed PMID: 23545339; PMCID: Pmc3648591.

49. Hahm K, Cobb BS, McCarty AS, Brown KE, Klug CA, Lee R, Akashi K, Weissman IL, Fisher AG, Smale ST. Helios, a T cell-restricted Ikaros family member that quantitatively associates with Ikaros at centromeric heterochromatin. Genes Dev. 1998;12(6):782-96. PubMed PMID: 9512513; PMCID: PMC316626.

50. Cai Q, Dierich A, Oulad-Abdelghani M, Chan S, Kastner P. Helios deficiency has minimal impact on T cell development and function. J Immunol. 2009;183(4):2303-11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901407. PubMed PMID: 19620299.



51. Nakase K, Ishimaru F, Fujii K, Tabayashi T, Kozuka T, Sezaki N, Matsuo Y, Harada M. Overexpression of novel short isoforms of Helios in a patient with T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Exp Hematol. 2002;30(4):313-7. PubMed PMID: 11937265.

52. Gottschalk RA, Corse E, Allison JP. Expression of Helios in peripherally induced
Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2012;188(3):976-80. doi:
10.4049/jimmunol.1102964. PubMed PMID: 22198953.

53. He LC, Xu HZ, Gu ZM, Liu CX, Chen GQ, Wang YF, Wen DH, Wu YL. Ikaros is degraded by proteasome-dependent mechanism in the early phase of apoptosis induction. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2011;406(3):430-4. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.02.062. PubMed PMID: 21329675.

54. Ezzat S, Zhu X, Loeper S, Fischer S, Asa SL. Tumor-derived Ikaros 6 acetylates the BcI-XL promoter to up-regulate a survival signal in pituitary cells. Mol Endocrinol. 2006;20(11):2976-86. doi: 10.1210/me.2006-0265. PubMed PMID: 16873443.

55. Kano G, Morimoto A, Takanashi M, Hibi S, Sugimoto T, Inaba T, Yagi T, Imashuku S. Ikaros dominant negative isoform (Ik6) induces IL-3-independent survival of murine pro-B lymphocytes by activating JAK-STAT and up-regulating Bcl-xl levels. Leuk Lymphoma. 2008;49(5):965-73. doi: 10.1080/10428190801993462. PubMed PMID: 18464116.

56. Lai YP, Lin CC, Liao WJ, Tang CY, Chen SC. CD4+ T cell-derived IL-2 signals during early priming advances primary CD8+ T cell responses. PLoS One. 2009;4(11):e7766. Epub 2009/11/11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007766. PubMed PMID: 19901991; PMCID: Pmc2770320.



57. Cao X, Cai SF, Fehniger TA, Song J, Collins LI, Piwnica-Worms DR, Ley TJ. Granzyme B and perforin are important for regulatory T cell-mediated suppression of tumor clearance. Immunity. 2007;27(4):635-46. Epub 2007/10/09. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.08.014. PubMed PMID: 17919943.

58. Cozza G, Bortolato A, Moro S. How druggable is protein kinase CK2? Med Res Rev. 2010;30(3):419-62. doi: 10.1002/med.20164. PubMed PMID: 19526464.

59. Ahmed K, Gerber DA, Cochet C. Joining the cell survival squad: an emerging role for protein kinase CK2. Trends Cell Biol. 2002;12(5):226-30. PubMed PMID: 12062170.

60. Cozza G, Meggio F, Moro S. The dark side of protein kinase CK2 inhibition. Curr Med Chem. 2011;18(19):2867-84. PubMed PMID: 21651492.

61. Dovat S, Song C, Gowda C, Petrovic-Dovat L, Payne J. Inhibition Of Casein Kinase Ii (Ck2) Enhances Ikaros Tumor Suppressor Activity And Shows Therapeutic Efficacy In A Preclinical Leukemia Model. 2013.

62. Hamacher R, Saur D, Fritsch R, Reichert M, Schmid RM, Schneider G. Casein kinase II inhibition induces apoptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. Oncol Rep. 2007;18(3):695-701. PubMed PMID: 17671722.

63. King JC, Lu QY, Li G, Moro A, Takahashi H, Chen M, Go VL, Reber HA, Eibl G,
Hines OJ. Evidence for activation of mutated p53 by apigenin in human pancreatic
cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012;1823(2):593-604. doi:
10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.12.008. PubMed PMID: 22227579; PMCID: PMC3277744.



64. Strouch MJ, Milam BM, Melstrom LG, McGill JJ, Salabat MR, Ujiki MB, Ding XZ, Bentrem DJ. The flavonoid apigenin potentiates the growth inhibitory effects of gemcitabine and abrogates gemcitabine resistance in human pancreatic cancer cells. Pancreas. 2009;38(4):409-15. doi: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e318193a074. PubMed PMID: 19142175.

65. Bazhin AV, Shevchenko I, Umansky V, Werner J, Karakhanova S. Two immune faces of pancreatic adenocarcinoma: possible implication for immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63(1):59-65. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1485-8. PubMed PMID: 24129765.

66. Dodson LF, Hawkins WG, Goedegebuure P. Potential targets for pancreatic cancer immunotherapeutics. Immunotherapy. 2011;3(4):517-37. doi: 10.2217/imt.11.10. PubMed PMID: 21463193; PMCID: PMC3148788.

67. Shevach EM. Biological functions of regulatory T cells. Adv Immunol.
2011;112:137-76. Epub 2011/11/29. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-387827-4.00004-8.
PubMed PMID: 22118408.



#### **APPENDIX**

IACUC Protocol	RESEARCH INTEGRITY AND COMPLIANCE INSTITUTIONAL ANIMAL CARE & USE COMMITTEE
MEMORANDUM	
TO:	Tomar Ghansah, PhD
FROM:	Farah Moulvi, MSPH, IACUC Coordinator Institutional Animal Care & Use Committee Division of Research Integrity & Compliance
DATE:	11/18/2014
PROJECT TITLE:	Chemotherapy Treatment of Pancreatic Cancer Murine Model
FUNDING SOURCE:	USF department, institute, center, etc.
IACUC PROTOCOL #: PROTOCOL STATUS:	T IS00000447 APPROVED

Your request for continuation of this study was received and will be reported to the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). The IACUC acknowledges that this study is currently on going as previously approved. Please be advised that **continuation of this study is in effect for a one-year period beginning 2/13/2015:** 

Please take note of the following:

• IACUC approval is granted for a one-year period at the end of which, an annual renewal form must be submitted for years two (2) and three (3) of the protocol through the eIACUC system. After three years all continuing studies must be completely re-described in a new electronic application and submitted to IACUC for review.

• All modifications to the IACUC-Approved Protocol must be approved by the IACUC prior to initiating the modification. Modifications can be submitted to the IACUC for review and approval as an Amendment or Procedural Change through the eIACUC system. These changes must be within the scope of the original research hypothesis, involve the original species and justified in writing. Any change in the IACUC-approved protocol that does not meet the latter definition is considered a major protocol change and requires the submission of a new application.

RESEARCH & INNOVATION • DIVISION OF RESEARCH INTEGRITY AND COMPLIANCE INSTITUTIONAL ANIMAL CARE AND USE COMMITTEE PHS No. A4100-01, AAALAC No.58-15, USDA No. 58-15 University of South Florida • 12901 Bruce B. Downs Blvd., MDC35 • Tampa, FL 33612-4799 (813) 974-7106 • FAX (813) 974-7091
### **Copyright Permissions**

Reply Reply All Forward

## RE: reuse of chart: 2014 Five-Year Relative Survival Rates...

## Anne Milo [amilo@pancan.org]

To: Schmidt, LeEtta M.

Wednesday, February 04, 2015 1:24 PM

Hi LeEtta,

You may use the charts for your dissertation. It's all public information that we've compiled. The chart is currently in the process of being updated. Please let me know if you have any other questions.

Thank you,

#### **ANNE MILO**

PUBLIC RELATIONS MANAGER 1500 Rosecrans Ave. Suite 200 Manhattan Beach, CA 90266 310.706.3357 office 562.810.3016 cell



From: Schmidt, LeEtta M. [mailto:lmschmidt@usf.edu]
Sent: Wednesday, February 04, 2015 10:04 AM
To: Anne Milo
Subject: reuse of chart: 2014 Five-Year Relative Survival Rates...

Dear Ms. Milo,

I am working with a researcher at my university who is interested in using the chart: 2014 Five-Year Relative Survival Rates Top Five Causes of Cancer Death (found here: <u>http://www.pancan.org/wp-content/uploads</u>/2014/06/Funding-Survival-Charts-June-2014.pdf) in her dissertation. Do you have a policy regarding re-use of materials and permissions, or can you refer me to someone who can grant permissions for use of this chart?

Regards,

LeEtta Schmidt, MLS Manager, Interlibrary Loan, Document Delivery



2/6/15, 10:11 AM

#### Do Not Reply Directly to This Email

To ensure that you continue to receive our emails, please add rightslink@marketing.copyright.com to your address book.





**Thank You For Your Order!** 

Dear Ms. Nadine Nelson,

Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's RightsLink service. Nature Publishing Group has partnered with RightsLink to license its content. This notice is a confirmation that your order was successful.

Your order details and publisher terms and conditions are available by clicking the link below:

<u>http://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin</u> /PLF.isp?ref=86c58798-efff-4ddd-8537-efd4c3615b6I

## **Order Details**

Licensee: Nadine Nelson License Date: Nov 24, 2014 License Number: 3515140449901 Publication: Nature Reviews Immunology Title: Antigen-induced regulatory T cells in autoimmunity Type Of Use: reuse in a dissertation / thesis Total: 0.00 USD

To access your account, please visit https://myaccount.copyright.com.

Please note: Online payments are charged immediately after order confirmation; invoices are issued daily and are payable immediately upon receipt.



survey.

B.1:v4.2

+1-855-239-3415 / Tel: +1-978-646-2777 customercare@copyright.com http://www.copyright.com



## This email was sent to: nnelson@health.usf.edu

Please visit <u>Copyright Clearance Center</u> for more information.

This email was sent by Copyright Clearance Center 222 Rosewood Drive Danvers, MA 01923 USA



#### Do Not Reply Directly to This Email

To ensure that you continue to receive our emails, please add rightslink@marketing.copyright.com to your address book.





**Thank You For Your Order!** 

Dear Ms. Nadine Nelson,

Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's RightsLink service. John Wiley and Sons has partnered with RightsLink to license its content. This notice is a confirmation that your order was successful.

Your order details and publisher terms and conditions are available by clicking the link below:

http://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=5fd7940f-

## **Order Details**

Licensee: Nadine Nelson License Date: Nov 15, 2014 License Number: 3510471364936 Publication: Medicinal Research Reviews Title: How druggable is protein kinase CK2? Type Of Use: Dissertation/Thesis Total: 0.00 USD

To access your account, please visit

Please note: Online payments are charged immediately after order confirmation; invoices are issued daily and are payable immediately upon receipt.



<u>survey</u>.

B.1:v4.2

+1-855-239-3415 / Tel: +1-978-646-2777 customercare@copyright.com http://www.copyright.com



## This email was sent to: nnelson@health.usf.edu

Please visit <u>Copyright Clearance Center</u> for more information.

This email was sent by Copyright Clearance Center 222 Rosewood Drive Danvers, MA 01923 USA



#### Do Not Reply Directly to This Email

To ensure that you continue to receive our emails, please add rightslink@marketing.copyright.com to your address book.





**Thank You For Your Order!** 

Dear Ms. Nadine Nelson,

Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's RightsLink service. Springer has partnered with RightsLink to license its content. This notice is a confirmation that your order was successful.

Your order details and publisher terms and conditions are available by clicking the link below:

http://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin /PLF.jsp?ref=34043dbd-ac24-47ab-abad-c936540023f4

## **Order Details**

Licensee: Nadine Nelson License Date: Nov 13, 2014 License Number: 3507361293194 Publication: Springer eBook Title: Casein Kinase II Type Of Use: Thesis/Dissertation Total: 0.00 USD

To access your account, please visit

Please note: Online payments are charged immediately after order confirmation; invoices are issued daily and are payable immediately upon receipt.



<u>survey</u>.

B.1:v4.2

+1-855-239-3415 / Tel: +1-978-646-2777 customercare@copyright.com http://www.copyright.com



## This email was sent to: nnelson@health.usf.edu

Please visit <u>Copyright Clearance Center</u> for more information.

This email was sent by Copyright Clearance Center 222 Rosewood Drive Danvers, MA 01923 USA



Copyright Clearance Center					
Confirmation Numbo Order Date: 11/23/	er: 11279717 2014				
Customer Informati	on				
Customer: Nadine N Account Number: 3 Organization: Nadin Email: nnelson@heal Phone: +1 (301)801 Payment Method: In	elson 000856545 e Nelson th.usf.edu 2221 nvoice				
	This is not	an invoice			
Order Details					
JOURNAL OF CLIN	NICAL INVESTIGATION. ONLINE				Billing Status: N/A
Order detail ID:	65949283	Permission Status: 🧭 Granted			
ISSN: Publication Type: Volume: Issue:	1558-8238 e-Journal	Permission type: Type of use:	Republish Republish Order Lice	or display conte in a thesis/disse ense Id: 3515	nt rtation 131364862
Start page:		<b>Requestor type</b>		Academic instit	ution
Publisher:	AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR CLINICAL INVESTIGATION	Format		Print, Electronic	
		Portion		image/photo	
		Number of images/photos requested		1	
		Title or numeric reference of the portion(s)		Figure 3	
		Title of the article chapter the porti from	e or on is	N/A	
		Editor of portion	(s)	N/A	
		Author of portion	ı(s)	N/A	
		Volume of serial monograph	or	N/A	
		Page range of po	rtion	847	
		Publication date portion	of	April 2015	
		Rights for		Main product	
		Duration of use		Life of current a future editions	and all
		Creation of copie the disabled	s for	no	
		With minor editin privileges	ng	yes	
Note: This item was inv	oiced separately through our RightsLink	For distribution t service. More info	0	Worldwide	\$ 0.00



#### Total order items: 1

### Order Total: \$0.00

Get Permission | License Your Content | Products And Solutions | Partners | Education | About Us Privacy Policy | Terms & Conditions

Copyright 2014 Copyright Clearance Center



11/24/14, 12:14 AM

#### Do Not Reply Directly to This Email

To ensure that you continue to receive our emails, please add rightslink@marketing.copyright.com to your address book.





**Thank You For Your Order!** 

Dear Ms. Nadine Nelson,

Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's RightsLink service. John Wiley and Sons has partnered with RightsLink to license its content. This notice is a confirmation that your order was successful.

Your order details and publisher terms and conditions are available by clicking the link below:

http://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin /PLF.jsp?ref=5b214496-8560-4be1-a585-14edc0212b5c

## **Order Details**

Licensee: Nadine Nelson License Date: Nov 13, 2014 License Number: 3507430825448 Publication: FEBS Journal Title: Structural basis for protein phosphatase 1 regulation and specificity Type Of Use: Dissertation/Thesis Total: 0.00 USD

To access your account, please visit https://myaccount.copyright.com.

Please note: Online payments are charged immediately after order confirmation; invoices are issued daily and are payable immediately upon receipt.



11/24/14, 12:15 AM

To ensure that we are continuously improving our services, please take a moment to complete our <u>customer satisfaction</u>

B.1:v4.2

+1-855-239-3415 / Tel: +1-978-646-2777 customercare@copyright.com http://www.copyright.com



### This email was sent to: nnelson@health.usf.edu

Please visit <u>Copyright Clearance Center</u> for more information.

This email was sent by Copyright Clearance Center 222 Rosewood Drive Danvers, MA 01923 USA



#### Do Not Reply Directly to This Email

To ensure that you continue to receive our emails, please add rightslink@marketing.copyright.com to your address book.





**Thank You For Your Order!** 

Dear Ms. Nadine Nelson,

Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's RightsLink service. Elsevier has partnered with RightsLink to license its content. This notice is a confirmation that your order was successful.

Your order details and publisher terms and conditions are available by clicking the link below:

http://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin /PLF.isp?ref=87503c6a-89c7-4cc0-b6a2-54e38832bde8

## **Order Details**

Licensee: Nadine Nelson License Date: Nov 8, 2014 License Number: 3504550030763 Publication: Cancer Letters Title: Immunosurveillance of pancreatic adenocarcinoma: Insights from genetically engineered mouse models of cancer Type Of Use: reuse in a thesis/dissertation Total: 0.00 USD

To access your account, please visit https://myaccount.copyright.com.

Please note: Online payments are charged immediately after order confirmation; invoices are issued daily and are payable immediately upon receipt.



To ensure that we are continuously improving our services, please take a moment to complete our <u>customer satisfaction</u> survey.

B.1:v4.2

+1-855-239-3415 / Tel: +1-978-646-2777 customercare@copyright.com http://www.copyright.com



### This email was sent to: nnelson@health.usf.edu

Please visit <u>Copyright Clearance Center</u> for more information.

This email was sent by Copyright Clearance Center 222 Rosewood Drive Danvers, MA 01923 USA

To view the privacy policy, please <u>ao here</u>.



11/24/14, 12:17 AM

#### Do Not Reply Directly to This Email

To ensure that you continue to receive our emails, please add rightslink@marketing.copyright.com to your address book.





**Thank You For Your Order!** 

Dear Ms. Nadine Nelson,

Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's RightsLink service. Elsevier has partnered with RightsLink to license its content. This notice is a confirmation that your order was successful.

Your order details and publisher terms and conditions are available by clicking the link below:

http://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=1e86f18b-118f-4a0c-8b51-41021b8e0ccb

## **Order Details**

Licensee: Nadine Nelson License Date: Nov 8, 2014 License Number: 3504541218512 Publication: Trends in Biochemical Sciences Title: KRAS: feeding pancreatic cancer proliferation Type Of Use: reuse in a thesis/dissertation Total: 0.00 USD

To access your account, please visit

Please note: Online payments are charged immediately after order confirmation; invoices are issued daily and are payable immediately upon receipt.



<u>survey.</u>

B.1:v4.2

+1-855-239-3415 / Tel: +1-978-646-2777 customercare@copyright.com http://www.copyright.com



### This email was sent to: nnelson@health.usf.edu

Please visit <u>Copyright Clearance Center</u> for more information.

This email was sent by Copyright Clearance Center 222 Rosewood Drive Danvers, MA 01923 USA



#### Do Not Reply Directly to This Email

To ensure that you continue to receive our emails, please add rightslink@marketing.copyright.com to your address book.





**Thank You For Your Order!** 

Dear Ms. Nadine Nelson,

Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's RightsLink service. John Wiley and Sons has partnered with RightsLink to license its content. This notice is a confirmation that your order was successful.

Your order details and publisher terms and conditions are available by clicking the link below:

http://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin /PLF.isp?ref=358ca628-8e83-46fd-a1a6-67fab8b5453b

## **Order Details**

Licensee: Nadine Nelson License Date: Nov 13, 2014 License Number: 3507400944214 Publication: Molecular Nutrition & Food Research Title: Apigenin and its impact on gastrointestinal cancers Type Of Use: Dissertation/Thesis Total: 0.00 USD

To access your account, please visit

Please note: Online payments are charged immediately after order confirmation; invoices are issued daily and are payable immediately upon receipt.



<u>survey.</u>

B.1:v4.2

+1-855-239-3415 / Tel: +1-978-646-2777 customercare@copyright.com http://www.copyright.com



### This email was sent to: nnelson@health.usf.edu

Please visit <u>Copyright Clearance Center</u> for more information.

This email was sent by Copyright Clearance Center 222 Rosewood Drive Danvers, MA 01923 USA





11200 Rockville Pike Suite 302 Rockville, Maryland 20852

August 19, 2011

American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

To whom it may concern,

It is the policy of the American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology to allow reuse of any material published in its journals (the Journal of Biological Chemistry, Molecular & Cellular Proteomics and the Journal of Lipid Research) in a thesis or dissertation at no cost and with no explicit permission needed. Please see our copyright permissions page on the journal site for more information.

Best wishes,

Sarah Crespi

11200 Rockville Pike, Rockville, MD Suite 302 240-283-6616



Tel: 240-283-6600 • Fax: 240-881-2080 • E-mail: asbmb@asbmb.org

## RE: permissions to reuse figure one from "Protein Phosphatase 1 (PP1) and Casein Kinase II (CK2) regulate Ikaros-mediated repression of TdT in thymocytes and T-cell leukemia"

Wiley Global Permissions [permissions@wiley.com] Sent:Wednesday, November 19, 2014 11:59 AM To: Schmidt, LeEtta M.

Dear Student via LeEtta Schmidt

Thank you for your request.

Permission is granted for you to use the material requested for your thesis/dissertation subject to the usual acknowledgements (author, title of material, title of book/journal, ourselves as publisher) and on the understanding that you will reapply for permission if you wish to distribute or publish your thesis/dissertation commercially.

You should also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Material. Permission is granted solely for use in conjunction with the thesis, and the material may not be posted online separately.

Any third party material is expressly excluded from this permission. If any material appears within the article with credit to another source, authorisation from that source must be obtained.

Kind Regards

Brian Collins Permissions Assistant

Wiley The Atrium, Southern Gate Chichester PO19 8SQ UK



John Wiley & Sons Limited is a private limited company registered in England with registered number 641132 Registered office address: The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, United Kingdom. PO19 8SQ.

From: Schmidt, LeEtta M. [mailto:lmschmidt@usf.edu] Sent: 18 November 2014 19:05 To: RightsLink



11/24/14, 12:19 AM

www.manaraa.com

**Subject:** permissions to reuse figure one from "Protein Phosphatase 1 (PP1) and Casein Kinase II (CK2) regulate Ikaros-mediated repression of TdT in thymocytes and T-cell leukemia"

To Whom It May Concern,

I am working with a researcher at my university who is interested in using figure 1 from:

Wang, H., Song, C., Gurel, Z., Song, N., Ma, J., Ouyang, H., Lai, L., Payne, K. J. and Dovat, S. (2014), Protein Phosphatase 1 (PP1) and Casein Kinase II (CK2) regulate Ikaros-mediated repression of *TdT* in thymocytes and T-cell leukemia. Pediatr. Blood Cancer, 61: 2230–2235. doi: 10.1002/pbc.25221

in her dissertation. The Request Permissions link for this article referred me to this contact email. Could you please advise?

Regards,

### LeEtta Schmidt, MLS

Manager, Interlibrary Loan, Document Delivery University of South Florida, Tampa Library LIB102, 4202 E Fowler Ave, Tampa, FL 33620 Imschmidt@usf.edu (813)974-1627 voice (813)974-3016 fax

Innovation starts with sharing knowledge. Share what you know by writing for the <u>Journal of Interlibrary Joan, Document</u> Delivery & Electronic Reserve.



#### **ABOUT THE AUTHOR**

Nadine Nelson was raised in Guyana, South America, until the age of seventeen, when she migrated to the United States to attend college. She attended the University of Maryland, College Park and graduated with a B.Sc. in Cell Biology and Molecular Genetics in 2007. She then matriculated into the Ph.D. Program in Biomedical Sciences at the University of South Florida in 2009.

In 2010, Nadine joined Dr. Ghansah's lab in the department of Molecular Medicine. Over the past five years, Nadine has been productive as a graduate student, having published a number of papers. During her time at USF, Nadine has served as secretary of the Association of Medical Science Graduate Students (AMSGS). Nadine has also been awarded the best poster presentation award (Cancer Biology) at the USF Health Research Day in both 2013 and 2014. Nadine has also received the National Science Foundation Bridge to the Doctorate and the Florida Education Fund McKnight Doctoral Completion Fellowships during her Ph.D. studies.

